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CITY OF CUYAHOGA FALLS
DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE

2310 SECOND STREET
CUYAHOGA FALLS, OHIO 44221-2583

Bryan J. Hoffman
Finance Director

Tetephone (330) 971-8230 Scott'K. Fltzs[mmons
FAX (330) 971-8168 Deputy Finance Director

June 26, 2019

Honorable Mayor Don Walters,
Members of City Council and the
Citizens of the City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR)tiar City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio (the “City”) for
the year ended December 31, 2018, is hereby suanihe responsibility for both the accuracy &f ttata and the
completeness and fairness of presentation, inajudihdisclosures, rests with the City’s manageméi the best
of our knowledge, the enclosed data is accuratdlimaterial respects and is reported in a manmkich fairly
presents the financial position and results of af@ns of the various funds of the City. All disslmes necessary to
gain an understanding of the City's financial at&g have been included.

The financial statements, schedules, and statiséibkes included herein pertain to those functjavisich are under
the jurisdiction of the City Council and adminigdrby the Mayor. These functions encompass allvitiet
considered by the City to be a part of (controlled or dependent on) the financial reporting entithis is
determined on the basis of the City's financialoaotability for such operations. Financial accaliltty includes
budget adoption, taxing authority, the existenceustanding debt secured by the City, or the aliligp of the City
to finance any deficits that might occur and sébecbf governing authority and influence of opeva. The City
does have financial accountability for the Commumihprovement Corporation of Cuyahoga Falls (CIG)l das
chosen to incorporate its data into these finarat@tements using the discrete method of presenthtcause CIC
provides services to the primary government ancitirens of the City as opposed to only the priyrgovernment.

Based on the criteria for determining financial aaatability, the financial statements do not inéutie financial
activities of the Cuyahoga Falls City School Didtror Woodridge Local School District (or any oth&rhool

districts, which fall within the boundaries of tl@ty). In addition, they do not contain financiaformation

pertaining to the Cuyahoga Falls Public LibraryWdestern Reserve Hospital. The City does not hanen€ial

accountability for the aforementioned entities. eTQity is responsible for establishing and maintgjran internal
control system designed to protect its assets foms theft or misuse. Furthermore, the accourgyggem must be
adequate to allow for the preparation of finang&ltements in conformity with generally acceptedoaating

principles. The internal control structure is desig to provide reasonable, but not absolute, asserthat these
objectives are met. The concept of reasonable asseirecognizes that (1) the cost of a control Ishoot exceed
the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the wailons of costs and benefits require estimatesjathginents by
management. Management believes the internalamystem is effective.

In accordance with Ohio law, each public officeréguired to have an independent audit at least exeey two
years unless an annual audit is required pursugatitet Single Audit Act of 1984. These audits avaducted by
either the Auditor of State of Ohio, or if the Atali permits, an independent public accounting firm.

The current year audit has been completed by agpintent public accounting firm, James G. Zupka},GRc.
The goal of the independent audit was to providgesaaable assurance that the financial statemertgedtity for
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the year ended December 31, 2018, are free of imlateisstatement. The independent audit involweath@ning on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts eetbsures in the financial statements; asses$i@gatcounting
principles used and significant estimates made lapagement; and evaluating the overall financialestant
presentation. The Independent Auditor's Repogréesented as the first component of the finan@atisn of this
report.

The independent audit of the financial statemehth® City was part of the broader, federally maadd'Single
Audit” designed to meet the special needs of graagencies. The standards governing Single Audjagements
require the independent auditor to report not amthe fair presentation of the financial statersghtit also on the
audited government’s internal controls and comgkanvith legal requirements, with an emphasis oerial
controls and legal requirements involving the adstiation of federal awards. These reports ardélabla in the
City’s separately issued Single Audit Report.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles requirat thanagement provide a narrative introductionpogw, and
analysis to accompany the basic financial statesnémtthe form of Management's Discussion and Arialys
(MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed ¢omplement the MD&A and should be read in conjwrctivith

it. The City's Management’'s Discussion and Analysen be found immediately following the Independent
Auditor’'s Report in the financial section of thiport.

PROFILE OF THE GOVERNMENT

The City was incorporated as a village in 1868 arghnized as a city after the 1920 census. Thei€lbcated in
Summit County in northeastern Ohio, approximatélyndles south of the City of Cleveland and lieslo& northern
border of the City of Akron. The City currentlyaupies a land area of 27.8 square miles and sarpepulation of
49,247 based on the 2017 U.S. Census Bureau esfithatmost current estimate available.

The City operates under and is governed by its {€hdfirst adopted by the voters in 1959). The i@ramay be
and has been amended by the voters. Every fives y@&harter Review Commission is appointed toewgvihe
City’s Charter and make any recommendations to bdv upon by its residents. The last Charter Review
Commission took place in 2015. The City is alsbjsct to certain general laws applicable to alesit Under the
Ohio Constitution, the City may exercise all powefsocal self-government, and police powers teeatent that is
not in conflict with applicable general laws. T@barter provides for a Mayor-Council form of goverent. The
City's chief executive and administrative officeithe Mayor, who is elected by the voters spediji¢a that office

for a four-year term. The Mayor also serves asRtblic Safety Director. All elected officials, extehe Mayor
serve on a part-time basis. The Mayor may veto lagislation passed by the Council. However, a wvaty be
overridden by a two-thirds vote of all membershaf Council.

Legislative authority is vested in an eleven-memBeuncil. Three members are elected at-large far-year
terms, and eight members are elected from wardsMmtyear terms. The presiding officer is the Rtest, who is
elected by the Council for a one-year term. Thertéhastablishes certain administrative departmantsCouncil
may establish divisions of those departments anlitiadal departments. Subject to the approval otu@il, the
Mayor appoints the Directors of Finance, Publicviéer, Law, and Community Development. The Supenidéant
of Parks and Recreation is appointed by the PamkisRecreation Board. This Board consists of Cégidents,
three appointed by the Mayor and one appointedthéyuyahoga Falls City School District Board of Eation and
one appointed by the Woodridge School District Boaf Education. The Mayor also appoints membera to
number of other boards and commissions and appaimtgemoves, in accordance with Civil Service egoents,
all appointed officers and employees, except Cdwfficers and employees.

The City provides an extensive range of servicekiding police and fire protection, emergency meabgervice,
administration of justice by the way of a mayortaud, community planning and development, recreatiand
cultural activities, street maintenance and envirental services. Outside of the normal governnieetavices, the
City also provides entrepreneurial activities sashsewage disposal, water distribution, electnivicge, sanitation,
storm drainage administration and leisure timevas, including a wellness center, golf coursatdoor water
park and a sports center which includes miniatoté batting cages and golf driving range.
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The objective of budgetary controls is to ensunmgicance with both the annual appropriated budget@aved by
City Council and the legal restrictions imposeddbgte and federal statutes as well. City Councistnadopt an
annual appropriations ordinance and budget resoidty December 31, of the preceding year. Appatipns may
not exceed amounts certified by the County Budgeh@ission. The initial level of budgetary contidpassed by
City Council at the fund level, department and objevel (Personal Services, Other Operations, t8agiutlay,
Debt Service and Transfers) with further restricsiqorohibiting the transfer of funds between deparis of a
particular fund and limiting transfers of sums bedw line items of a department, at any time withinfiscal year
which exceed in the aggregate seven percent ddrtieunt originally appropriated in the line itemrfravhich the
transfer is made, but not to exceed $10,000. TibheRnance Director is authorized by Charter @nsfer funds
already appropriated between funds and departmédmisiever, any revisions that change the total fund
appropriations or exceed the limits restrictingngfers of sums between line items must be appriyeity
Council. As a management tool, budgetary controm@intained in all funds at the department levelthy
encumbrance of estimated purchase amounts befnmeldase of purchase orders to vendors. ThecGittinually
evaluates its accounting and reporting system iefeomt to improve internal accounting controls.

LOCAL ECONOMY

The Cleveland-Akron-Canton Combined StatisticaladA¢(€SA) is the 15th most populous combined statikrea
in the United States with a population of 3,630,166

The City is currently the second largest city intBoit County and the sixteenth largest in the Stdt®©hio. In

January 1986, the City merged with Northampton T&hvim This merger between Northampton Townshiptaed
City was the first merger of its type in the Stat€he merger increased the City’s population by enitian 16
percent and tripled the City’s total land area.

Transportation services are provided by diversiffedues through the City. Immediate access idablaito one
state highway (State Route 8), which also offecesas to the Ohio Turnpike (Interstate 80) and &itt¢e Highways
76 and 77. The City is adjacent to areas serve@dayail and Amtrak, and is served by passengesaiices at
three airports, Cleveland Hopkins International pait, Akron-Canton Regional Airport and Akron Fulto
International Airport. Public mass transit for theea is provided by the METRO Regional Transithiwity (a

separate political subdivision) and long distangs travel can be obtained from Greyhound bus lines.

The City is not subject to swift or erratic econordbwnturns because of its diversified income tageh in which
no single employer dominates the local economy.ifgu018, ten major employers in the City colleetr
accounted for approximately 28.03 percent of th& &19,917.63 withholding taxes remitted to the City

2017 U.S. Census estimate reports, the most cuakeilable, indicate that median household incoomeCluyahoga
Falls is slightly higher than the State of Ohiot lass than Summit County and the United Statdse féllowing is
a comparative breakout of those medians.

Median Income

City of Cuyahoga Falls $52,936
Summit County $53,291
State of Ohio $52,407
USA $57,652

The 1986 merger between the City and NorthamptomnBhip (now Ward 8) opened the door for growth.e Da

increased land availability, the City has realireginy new opportunities for industrial, commercaaid residential
development. This growth continues to be stimadldtg the expansion of water and sewer lines intod/8a At the

same time, the residents of Ward 8 are benefitingebeiving city-based services, which should utiety have had
a positive impact on current property values.

The City is experiencing an accelerated pace oftirand development throughout the community. Itmest in
Commercial and Residential development continudsetstrong, adding value and jobs to the community.
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Portage Crossing development is 241,000 squareofeimmercial space. Located at the crossroadwaimajor
arteries in the City, its major anchor tenants@iant Eagle Market District, LA Fitness, and a @aek NextGen
Theater. The City entered into a tax incrementrfaiag agreement (TIF) with the Cuyahoga Falls Stistrict.

The agreement calls for a 30 year TIF of whichdgbkools will receive 22 percent of the TIF while tBity will

receive 78 percent of the TIF until the City isgpbhack from their investment.

Two new additions to the Portage Crossing Develogiraecurred in 2017. Both are located in the wesp@rtion
of the development, and will be home to retailjogffand fast casual dining. At approximately 4,8g0are feet,
the first building, Panda Express, is a fast casaalie offering American Chinese cuisine. The sddmrilding is
approximately 9,728 square feet. Three separatnte share this building: a dental office, Mat$ré&irm and
Piada, a fast casual Italian street food concept.

Private development has occurred in the Riverwablaancluding residential and commercial retail jpcts.

Watermark, a residential housing and commercidl éstate venture boasts 40 units of senior houdifignarket
rate condos and retail stores and restaurants.\ildssa total project investment of $9.2 million amals completed
in 2014. The Riverwalk building broke ground in lga2015 as a mixed use, high-end residential andngercial

redevelopment with 36 loft apartments and 21,0Qsg feet of space for restaurants and retail Tisis. project is
also a $9.2 million investment that will employ f0i-time and 10 part-time employees with an anrpeyjroll of

roughly $433,000. Finally, Triad/Next Level invedt§1.3 million in the redevelopment of a designatéstoric

structure that was completed in 2015.

A deal was reached in 2014 to bring Menards toGie. The home improvement superstore will util®perty
that was vacated by a Giant Eagle grocery storetlwhioved to the Portage Crossing development. Mnar
opened in 2018 and has exceeded expectations. Thé #illion facility has produced payroll of ovére $2.5
million that was anticipated.

Construction began in 2017 to open Front Streeetucular traffic. The once vibrant street was etbén the late
1970’s for a pedestrian mall. Over the years mbsh® businesses have left and the mall has fagéadies have
shown that redevelopment of this area would supporédditional 215,350 square feet of retail arstargant
development, generating $60.4 million in new revene have seen considerable interest in thisardaxpect it
to continue to be an epicenter of commercial ancthemic activity. Front Street was reopened tofitradn
February 3, 2018. Downtown Cuyahoga Falls contirtoese a hotbed of economic activity. New boutigteres
and gift shops, restaurants and entertainment alomd-ront Street Corridor attract people Downtomterest in
our downtown continues to grow and is a very bript for the future of Cuyahoga Falls.

FUTURE ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

The City’s vision is to keep Cuyahoga Falls a wuitrehealthy, attractive and continually growing yCit City
officials continue in their visions of infrastruceuimprovements and new tax revenues for the @gywell as, its
school systems, jobs, shopping, housing and resnedtopportunities for residents and visitors @lik

Interest in Downtown Cuyahoga Falls is strong. Dimee struggling corridor has seen a rebirth andetigty
storefronts are filling up. Space that was oncetfld in past years is now at a premium and rugront. A prime
example is the Falls Theater, which was once anfenkl. It has fallen into disrepair and at one tinas slated to be
demolished because it was too costly to revitalizgs landmark will soon be refurbished.

If housing starts are an indication of people wagto live in Cuyahoga Falls, then the future ight. The City is
currently working with developers for residentiabgith. Two new residential developments, Enclav#iitPond
and The Preserve at Salt Creek are approachingletamp Tfhree additional developments are underimajuding
Woodland Preserves, Redwood and a development whilthbe built on a former golf course. These fimew
developments combined encompass 178 acres of ntisidédevelopment and an estimated average of $690er
property. These added residents will be a catédydtiture economic activity.

An income tax rate of 2 percent passed by the satet 996 continues to have positive effects fer @ity’s capital
infrastructure program since the City earmarke®2®ercent of the net proceeds solely for capitgrovements.
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The Mayor, his administration, and the City Couracit aware of national and local economic condstioWeekly
meetings are held with senior cabinet to discusthalways the City can continue to provide valoi¢he residents
and businesses of the community without generatidgficit for the community to handle. All persehmacancies
are discussed and in many cases job functions tadjue eliminate any current need to immediateplaee the
leaving personnel.

The City’s General Fund is in a better positiordéal with future loss of revenue due to the varichisnges made
over the last several years giving the economyngdo period of time to turn around with minimal iagp to city
services. The City continuously updates a fiver yeeecast for its General Fund. This allows tHenaistration to
anticipate future financial pitfalls and adjustrent operations mitigating future issues.

The Mayor and his staff spend considerable amoohtime maintaining the financial strength of thayC As

businesses look to relocate or expand, City officisork overtime with these companies to accomnedaeir
needs. These types of investments only strengtieCity’s financial position. The City is also nefiant on one
particular business for its main source of incommes or property taxes. Only one business repie§est over
than five percent of the City’s two main sourcesmmome. The City’s administration also places ghhemphasis
on keeping Cuyahoga Falls a positive place to dind work. This can best be seen in the unemploynag¢es for
the City consistently being lower than the Summiu@ty rate coupled with local home sales and tla estate
market, which are generally ahead of the natiameaids. Employment within an area is expected ritaie positive
with wage increases slightly higher than cost whlj trends. The City monitors the economic slowddeing
experienced by cities across the nation. The Dgweént Department is in contact with homeownersioua

property owners, and developers. This is perfortoeleep a pulse beat within the community, as wsll to
provide businesses and homeowners with a varietytidns when purchasing a property.

MAJOR INITIATIVES

The City of Cuyahoga Falls elected a new mayor tihak office on January 1, 2014. Since that timaumber of
new initiatives have been instituted to bring vaiu¢he citizens.

Improving communication to current residents anditesses as well as communicating to potentiatieess and
businesses will continue to strengthen the commuAl such, the Mayor created the Department ofjhMsdrhood
Excellence, Communications, and Community Outreathis Department is responsible for overseeing the
Neighborhood Excellence Initiative and Neighborh@dadbassadors to ensure that our neighborhoodsmento
grow and thrive, that relationships continue tosbbengthened, and that our neighbors are well inéal about the
programs and services that are offered to all esggd This department is also a one stop shopuestipns about
city services. Potential businesses have a plateatm about all the reasons they should open sh@uyahoga
Falls.

A priority of the City is to be energy efficienth& Mayor started an energy efficiency program tiravides the
citizens of Cuyahoga Falls with tools they needettuce power consumption which results in lower gohills and
a smaller carbon footprint. Having an energy edficiy program that works for the residents and tgness of
community lowers power bills through both lessenting amount of electricity being used as well asdaing the
required capacity of the city.

The Mayor recognizes that a safe city will attiawsiness and residents and promote growth. A#iiruggle with
some level of crime and Cuyahoga Falls is beinggiee in the fight. The Mayor started a crime fegls program
that promotes citizen participation through an gmoous tip procedure. The program includes cash ndsvan
which the size is determined by the type and ueefd of the tip. The cash rewards are funded 10€epeby
private donations and are dispersed by a locahéizinstitution.

The Mayor has teamed up with local businesses, éifeRReserve Hospital, and Woodridge and Cuyahogja Fa
school districts to address drug use in the comtpuhe “NOT ME, I'm Drug Free” campaign is an iadtug
initiative that is designed to educate fifth gratiedents at Cuyahoga Falls and Woodridge elemeatingols about
the dangers of using methamphetamines and herbm.pfogram offers positive reinforcements for stusievho
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pledge to stay drug free, and keeps them connedt@dracebook. Local businesses offer “Free-wards” t
participants for free food, video rentals, T-shiegsd many other incentives.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The single largest cost to the City is personnbk Tity has six bargaining units. The City recemthynpleted the
process of negotiating multi-year employee bargairsigreements with the various unions which expirdune 30,
2021. The outcome of these negotiations providedanable cost of living increases while cappimgdgiowth of
health care costs. The City’s plan is to be ablfotecast far enough into the future to have théta and time to
handle any financial situation that may occur.

The City’s Capital Project Fund has issued variootes for numerous infrastructure projects overlase several
years. The administration, along with the assstanf City Council, created a plan to pay down les hotes each
year to save the cost of long-term interest bomgwi The current administration has continued the o rapidly

pay down debt.

LONG TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING

The City currently prepares a five-year capital ioygment plan. This plan helps the City prepare adjust for
major infrastructure projects and maximize potén8tate and Federal grant assistance. Variousr atiagor
operations within the City are also being vieweérotwo, three, and five-year views. Preparingtfa future is a
key ingredient to financial stability while maiméig important public services. This five-year eggxh is being
expanded to all major funds within the City.

AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Government Finance Officers Association of theted States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Cetéfich
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reportingthe City of Cuyahoga Falls for its comprehensiveual
financial report for the fiscal year ended Decen®fr2017. In order to be awarded a Certificatdafievement, a
government must publish an easily readable andiefily organized comprehensive annual financipbre The
report must satisfy both generally accepted ac@ogmtrinciples and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a periad one year only. The City has received a CedtBcof
Achievement for the last 34 consecutive years dfisears ended 1984-2017). We believe our cumeport
continues to meet the Certificate of AchievememtgPam’s requirements and we are therefore submittito the
GFOA to determine its eligibility for another céidate. Receipt of these awards is an outstansiigg of the City's
active effort to anticipate and provide for the aeef its citizens.

The preparation of this report could not have basromplished without the efficient and dedicatedises of the
entire staff of the Finance Department. A spediahks goes out to Deputy Finance Director, ScagsFimons,
for all of his hard work and dedication. The pregimn of the CAFR requires a major effort from ecounting
staff and we express our appreciation to all wheisésd and contributed to the presentation ofytbes’s report. We
also thank the Mayor, his cabinet and the membk@itg Council for their thoughtful support and euragement
throughout the year.

Respectfully submitted,

Kl g

Bryan Hoffman,
Finance Director
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JAMES G. ZUPKA, C.P.A., INC.
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5240 Easi 98" Sireet
Garfield His., Chio 441215
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INDEPENDENT AUDTOR'S REPORT

To the Members of City Council The Honorable Keith Faber
City of Cuyahoga Falls Auditor of State
Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio State of Ohio

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the povernmental activities, the
business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Cuyahoga Falls, Summit County, Ohio, (the
City) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table
of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of Amenica; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from matenal misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error,

Auwditor's Responsibility

Ohur responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits comtained in Governmens
Auditing Standards, 1ssued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit mvolves performing procedures to obtain awdit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the aunditor's
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of matenal misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or emor. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the City’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control.
Accordingly, we express no such opmion, An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

12



City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the finaneial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the respective financial position of the govemmental activities, the business-type activities, the
discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the agpregate remaining fund
information of the City of Cuyahoga Falls as of December 31, 2018, and the respective changes
in financial position, and. where applicable, cash flows thereof and the budgetary companison for
the General Fund for the year then ended in accordance with accounting pnnciples generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 22 to the basic financial statements, during 2018, the City adopted new
accounting guidance in Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 75,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. QOur
opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Othrer Matters
Required Supplementary Informarion

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
Manapement’s Discussion and Analysiz and Schedules of Net Pension and Postemployment
Benefit Liabilities and Pension and Postemployment Benefit Contributions, as listed in the table
of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements, Such information,
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
inguiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inguiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statemenis.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining
and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules, and statistical section are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the hasic financial
statements.
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The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules are the
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and
schedules are fairly stated in all material respects m relation to the basic financial statements as a
whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June
26, 2019, on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on ocur
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report 15 to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not
to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report
is an integral part of an gudit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Siandards in
considering the City's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

W%‘,ﬂh,cmﬁm.

James G. Zupka, CPA, Inc,
Certified Public Accountants

June 26, 2019
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

As management of the City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ottie (City”), we offer readers of the City’s finaatistatements
this narrative overview and analysis of the finaheictivities of the City for the fiscal year endBdcember 31,
2018. We encourage readers to consider the infamaresented here in conjunction with additioimibrmation
that we have furnished in our letter of transmittahich begins on page 2 of this report, and thy'€financial
statements, which follow this section.

Financial Highlights

» This is the City of Cuyahoga Falls sixteenth pudtiien of a Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
(CAFR) under the GASB 34 reporting model. Compaarss to prior financials are offered for this
discussion and analysis.

» Total assets and deferred outflows of resourcesested total liabilities and deferred inflows ofaeses
at the close of 2018 by $157,853,169. Of this amhoa negative $44,720,107 is considered unresttict
The unrestricted net position of the City’s goveemtal activities has a balance of negative $6541982,
due to the implementation of GASB 68 and 75, describelow. The unrestricted net position of thig'€i
business-type activities was $20,432,384 and maysbd to meet the ongoing obligations of busingss-t
activities, including the sewage and disposal, watkectric, sanitation, leisure time activitiesdastorm
drainage utility enterprises.

» The City’s net position increased $3,268,591 orpzficent in 2018, in comparison to restated neitipos
as of December 31, 2017. Net position of goverrteleactivities decreased $481,608, which represents
1.1 percent decrease from the restated amount Beadmber 31, 2017. Net position of business-type
activities increased $3,750,199 or 3.4 percent filoerrestated amount as of December 31, 2017.

» As of the close of the current year, the City's ggowmental funds reported combined ending fund locaksn
of $24,205,462, in comparison to $15,844,142 in ghier year. On a combined basis $1,128,415 is

considered nonspendable, $9,345,168 is restricteddecific purposes, $98,328 has been committed by

City Council and $6,537,327 has been assignedeoifsp purposes by management.

» At the end of the current year, unassigned fundrizad for the general fund was $7,148,694 or 22depe
of revenues, and 26.5 percent of expenditures.

The City’'s total general obligation bonds increabgd$9,255,807 or 49.6 percent in 2018, while notes
payable decreased $9,940,000 or 84.7 percent. eTdtesges were due to the City’s issuance of variou
purpose improvement bonds in the amount of $110010,the payoff of $9,940,000 in notes, scheduled

debt payments on existing debt and the annual @&atian of discounts and premiums.

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statementilo. 68 and 75

In recent years the City adopted Governmental Asting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 68, “Acciognt
and Financial Reporting for Pensions-an Amendmér@ASB Statement 27 and GASB Statement 71, “Pension
Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent toNfeasurement Date — An Amendment of GASB StaterNent
68,” and in the current year adopted GASB Statemeat 75 “Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions,” wisigiificantly revises accounting for pension arttieo
postemployment benefits (OPEB) costs and liabditany end users of this financial statement galh a clearer
understanding of the City’s actual financial coiwditby adding deferred inflows related to pensiod ®&PEB and
the net pension and OPEB liability to the reported position and subtracting deferred outflows #ma net
pension/asset related to pension and OPEB. GowsrtamAccounting Standards Board standards arenstand
apply to all government financial reports preparedccordance with generally accepted accountimgiples.
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Prior accounting for pensions (GASB 27) and posplesment benefits (GASB 45) focused on a fundingrapch.
This approach limited pension and OPEB costs tdrittions annually required by law, which may oaymot be
sufficient to fully fund each plan’s net pensioahlility or net OPEB liability. GASB 68 and GASB Take an
earnings approach to pension and OPEB accountmgeVer, the nature of Ohio’s statewide pension/OREBS
and state law governing those systems requirestiadali explanation in order to properly understathe
information presented in these statements.

GASB 68 and GASB 75 require the net pension ligbdind the net OPEB liability to equal the Cityl®portionate
share of each plan’s collective:

1. Present value of estimated future pension/OPEBRefits attributable to active and inactive empémsyepast
service,
2. Minus plan assets available to pay these benefit

GASB notes that pension and OPEB obligations, wdrefonded or unfunded, are part of the “employment
exchange” - that is, the employee is trading hig@rlabor in exchange for wages, benefits, andtbenise of a
future pension and other postemployment benefi&SE noted that the unfunded portion of this promisea
present obligation of the government, part of aghered for benefit to the employee, and should atiegly be
reported by the government as a liability sinceythereived the benefit of the exchange. Howevex,Glty is not
responsible for certain key factors affecting théahce of this liability. In Ohio, the employeeasbs the obligation
of funding pension benefits with the employer. Bemployer and employee contribution rates are edyyy State
statute. A change in these caps requires actiohoti Houses of the General Assembly and approvahef
Governor. Benefit provisions are also determinedSkate statute. The Ohio revised Code permits,dbaes not
require the retirement systems to provide healthdareligible benefit recipients. The retiremensteyns may
allocate a portion of the employer contributionptovide for these OPEB benefits.

The employee enters the employment exchange wétklowledge that the employer’s promise is limited by
contract but by law. The employer enters the exgbaalso knowing that there is a specific, legalitlito its
contribution to the retirement systein. Ohio, there is no legal means to enforce the unfded liability of the
pension OPEB plan as against the public employe6tate law operates to mitigate/lessen the morijation of
the public employer to the employee, because atlgzaenter the employment exchange with noticeodhe law.
The pension system is responsible for the admatistr of the pension and OPEB plans.

Most long-term liabilities have set repayment sehesl or, in the case of compensated absencessigle.and
vacation leave), are satisfied through paid timfesoftermination payments. There is no repaymehéduale for the
net pension liability or the net OPEB liability. Axplained above, changes in pension benefitsyibatibn rates,
and return on investments affect the balance afettiabilities, but are outside the control of theal government.
In the event that contributions, investment retumrsd other changes are insufficient to keep u wéiquired
payments, State statute does not assign or idehgfyesponsible party for the unfunded portione Buthe unique
nature of how the net pension liability and the @REB liability are satisfied, these liabilitieseaseparately
identified within the long-term liability sectiorf the statement of net position.

In accordance with GASB 68 and GASB 75, the Citstatements prepared on an accrual basis of acogunti
include an annual pension expense and an annuaB @Rense for their proportionate share of each’'glehange
in net pension liability and net OPEB liability,spectively, not accounted for as deferred inflowsdeferred
outflows.

In addition to the other postemployment benefitedlyh the pension systems, the City provides pogti@yment
health care and life insurance benefits (OPEB)dtired employees through a single-employer deflvekfit plan.
The benefits, benefit levels, employee contribigiand employer contributions are governed by tltg &id can be
amended by the City through council-approved omiiea The activity of the plan is reported in theéyGi Self-

Insurance Internal Service Fund, and governmeuntalities on the entity-wide financial statements.

17



City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
|

As a result of implementing GASB 75, the City ipagiing a net OPEB liability and deferred inflowstflows of

resources related to OPEB on the accrual basisamfuaiting. This implementation also had the eftdatestating
net position at December 31, 2017, from $201,419,28 $154,584,578. Of the $46,825,711 total effefict
restatement of net position, $10,445,403 was relatehe City’s single-employer defined benefitmpla

Overview of the Financial Statements

The discussion and analysis is intended to servenasitroduction to the City’s basic financial staents. The
City’s basic financial statements comprise thremponents: 1) government-wide financial statemefsiund
financial statements, and 3) notes to the finanstatements. This report also contains other supphtary
information in addition to the basic financial staents themselves.

Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are desigio provide
readers with a broad overview of the City’s finagyda a manner similar to a private-sector business

The Statement of Net Position presents informatiorall of the City’s assets and deferred outfloWsesources,

liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, witte difference reported as net position. Oveetiincreases or
decreases in net position may serve as a usefightiod of whether the financial position of theyOi# improving or

deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities presents informatiolwimg how the government’'s net position changednguthe

most recent fiscal year. All changes in net posii@ire reported as soon as the underlying eveiriggiise to the
change occurs, regardless of the timing of relatesh flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are edpiorithis

statement for some items that will only result asle flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncokettaxes and
earned but unused vacation leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statemensdidguish functions of the City that are princigadupported by
taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmaatidities) from other functions that are intendedecover all
or a significant portion of their costs through mfees and charges (business-type activities). ghernmental
activities of the City include security of persarsd property, leisure time activities, communityiesnment, street
maintenance and general government. The busigpesattivities of the City include sanitary sewagel disposal,
water treatment and distribution, electric disttibn, refuse and recycling collection service, stairainage repair
and improvements, and leisure time activities idiclg an outdoor family aquatic center, an indodatmium, a
municipal golf course, a civic cultural center andports center facility which offers batting cageslriving range,
skate park and a miniature golf course.

The government wide financial statements includeamby the City itself (known as the primary goverent) but
also a legally separate community improvement a@tgan for which the City is financially accountabl Financial
information for this component unit is reported @egely from the financial information presented tloe primary
government itself. The government-wide financtatements can be found on pages 35-37 of thistrepor

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that isdu® maintain control over resources
that have been segregated for specific activitiesbectives. The City, like other state and logavernments, uses
fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate com@iait finance-related legal requirements. Alltloé funds of
the City can be divided into three categories: gowental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciargds.

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for es#lgntiee same functions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide ficial statements. However, unlike the governmedew
financial statements, governmental fund finandiatesnents focus on near-term inflows and outflofvspendable
resources, as well as on balances of spendablarcesoavailable at the end of the fiscal year. hSotormation
may be useful in evaluating a government’s neant#mancing requirements.
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Because the focus of governmental funds is narrdlagn that of the government-wide financial statetseit is
useful to compare the information presented foregomental funds with similar information presentfedt
governmental activities in the government-wide ficial statements. By doing so, readers may batiderstand

the long-term impact of the government’s near-témancing decision. Both the governmental fundabak sheet
and the governmental fund statement of revenueperahtures, and changes in fund balances provide a
reconciliation to facilitate this comparison betwaepvernmental funds and governmental activities.

The City maintains twenty individual governmentahds. Information is presented separately in theeghmental
fund balance sheet and in the governmental furtdrant of revenues, expenditures, and changesithbalances
for the General Fund and Capital Projects Fundchviaire considered to be major funds. Data fromother
eighteen funds are combined into a single aggrdgaesentation. Individual fund data for eachhefse non-major
governmental funds is provided in the form of comnfg statements elsewhere in this report. The ®pal
Income Tax Special Revenue Fund has been consaldidédth the General Fund for statement purposes.

The City adopts an annual appropriated budgett$oGeneral Fund and all Special Revenue, Debt Serdapital
Projects, Enterprise and Internal Service Fundgyp& budgetary comparison statement has beendedvor the
General Fund to demonstrate compliance with thdgkbti The basic governmental fund financial steteisican be
found on pages 38-42 of this report.

Proprietary funds. The City maintains two different types of proprigtdunds — enterprise and internal service.
Enterprise Funds are used to report the same funsciresented as business-type activities in thergment-wide
financial statements. The City uses enterprised§uto account for its sewage and disposal, waltegtre,
sanitation, leisure time operations and storm dgenutility. Internal Service Funds are an acdogndevice used

to accumulate and allocate costs internally toGhg's various functions. The City uses Internar8ce Funds to
account for its vehicle maintenance, medical sefirance, worker's compensation coverage and cosapeth
absences payments to terminated and retired engdoye Because these services predominantly benefit
governmental rather than business-type functidmsy have been included within governmental acésitin the
government-wide financial statements. While thaitytBilling Fund is considered an Internal Semi€und, it is

not reported separately. It has been consolidatdte applicable Enterprise Funds for statemenpqses.

Proprietary funds provide the same type of infoiomatis the government-wide financial statements; smmore

detail. The proprietary fund financial statememtsvide separate information for the Sewage angd3ial Fund,
Water Fund, Electric Fund, Sanitation Fund, Leistiimme Fund, and Storm Drainage Utility Fund, whiate

considered to be major funds. Conversely, therraleservice funds are combined into a single aggfes

presentation in the proprietary fund financial esta¢nts. The basic proprietary fund financial steets can be
found on pages 43-50 of this report.

Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resouradd for the benefit of parties outside the
government. The City uses fiduciary funds to aotdar agency funds. Fiduciary funds are not éd in the
government-wide financial statements because thaurees of those funds are not available to sugherCity’s
own programs. The accounting used for fiducianydiis much like that used for proprietary fundhe basic
fiduciary fund financial statements can be foundage 51 of this report.

Notes to the financial statementsThe notes provide additional information that iseggial to a full understanding
of the data provided in the government-wide andiftinancial statements. The notes to the finarsialements
can be found on pages 53-116 of this report.

Other information. In addition to the basic financial statements atmbapanying notes, this report also presents
certain required supplementary information concegrihe City’'s proportionate share of the net pem§imbility for

and contributions to OPERS and OP&F. Required lsmpgntary information can be found on pages 1112® of
this report.

The combining statements referred to earlier inneation with nonmajor governmental funds and iraéservice

funds are presented immediately following the ndtedinancial statements. Combining and individfahd
statements and schedules can be found on pagek783df-this report.
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Government-wide Financial Analysis

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio - Net Position
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
201¢ 2017 201¢ 2017* 201¢ 2017
Asset
Current and other assets $ 47505107 $ 48,377,345 $ 45,668,732 $ 43,636,359 $ 93,173,839 $ 92,013,70.
Net pension asset 96,632 40,697 94,378 39,747 191,010 80,44
Capital assets, net 115,358,561 110,923,814 109,454,575 112,019,864 224,813,136 222,943,67
Total Assets 162,960,300 159,341,856 155,217,685 155,695,970 318,177,985 315,037,82
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension 7,212,761 11,624,955 2,497,862 5,717,596 9,710,623 17,342,55
Other postemployment benefits (OPEB) 3,495,187 148,763 500,854 91,645 3,996,041 240,40
Advance refunding of debt - - 193,430, 203,611 193,430 203,61
10,707,948 11,773,718 3,192,146 6,012,852 13,900,094 17,786,57
Liabilities
Current and other liabilities 5,713,483 14,039,030 12,013,238 14,940,729 17,726,721 28,979,75
Long-term liabilities:
Net pension liability 41,229,592 46,617,671 9,953,199 14,439,013 51,182,791 61,056,68:
Net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liability 44,107,007 40,759,526 6,740,756 6,306,593 50,847,763 47,066,11!
Other long-term liabilities outstanding 23,255,279 15,830,249 11,993,743 14,856,246 35,249,022 30,686,49!
Total Liabilities 114,305,361 117,246,476 40,700,936 50,542,581 155,006,297 167,789,05
Deferred Inflows of Resource
Revenues levied for the next year 10,034,796 9,831,106 - - 10,034,796 9,831,10
Pension 3,790,875 483,938 2,396,939 135,717 6,187,814 619,65
Other post employment benefits (OPEB) 2,464,770 - 531,233 - 2,996,003 -
16,290,441 10,315,044 2,928,172 135,717 19,218,613 10,450,76.
Net Positior
Net investment in capital assets 98,770,561 97,475,296 94,348,339 90,978,939 193,118,900 188,454,23
Restricted (temporarily restricted) 9,209,057 7,331,217 - - 9,209,057 7,331,21
Permanent fund purpose - Cemetery Perpetual Carmgmently restricted) 245,319 244,782 - - 245,319 244,78
Unrestricted 65,152,491 (61,497,241) 20,432,384 20,051,585 (44,720,107). (41,445 65¢)
Total Net Position $ 43072446 $ 43,554,054 $ 114,780,723 $ 111,030,524 $ 157,853,169 $ 154,584,57
* Restated.

As noted earlier, net position may serve over tasea useful indicator of a government’s financiasipon. The
City’'s assets and deferred outflows of resourceseedsed liabilities and deferred inflows of resosrdsy
$157,853,169 at the close of the most recent figeat.

The largest portion of the City’s total net pogiti(i22.3 percent) reflects its net investmentsapital assets (e.qg.
land, construction in progress, buildings, improeets other than buildings, machinery and equipmant]
infrastructure), less any related debt used to isedhiose assets that is still outstanding. Tlessets are used to
provide services to citizens; therefore, thesetasm® not available for future spending. Althodbhl City's net
investment in capital assets is reported net aftedl debt, it should be noted that the resourcedatkto repay debt
must be provided from other sources, since cap#isbts themselves cannot be used to liquidate liabsities.

Additionally, 5.8 percent of the City’s net positioepresents resources that have been restrictbdwrihey may
be used. Another portion of the City's net posit{tess than one percent) represents the Cemegepgetal Care
Permanent Fund. The remaining balance of unréstricet position is a negative $44,720,169, whsctue to the
implementation of GASB 68 in recent years and theption of GASB 75 in this reporting period.

At the end of the current fiscal year, the CityGafyahoga Falls is able to report positive balanoesree of the
four categories of net position, for the governmana whole and as well as for its separated gowemtal activities
net investments in capital assets, restricted ardhgnent fund purpose and business-type activitielse only
exception being governmental activities unrestdcteet position which was negative $65,152,491 duehte
recording of GASB 68 and GASB 75 as previously aised.

Overall, net position of the City increased by $®2million in 2018, after taking into account priperiod

restatement of adjustments for 2017. Net posifmmgovernmental activities decreased by $481,608 ket
position for business-type activities increased$3.million.
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The net position decrease for governmental aciwitvas primarily due to the following:

The effect of recording the City’s proportionateah of GASB 75 net OPEB liability and deferred omik. The
City’s proportionate share of OPERS and OP&F naeiopostemployment benefits (OPEB) liability recmidn
governmental activities in 2018 increased $444,88d $4,796,913, respectively, from the restatebiliip of
$6,457,206 and $23,856,817, respectively at 2014 fiotal net increase of $5,241,444. Converdbly,net other
postemployment benefits (OPEB) liability from thdty& single-employer defined benefit plan decrehse
$1,893,963 from the restated liability of $10,448%t 2017 for a total net increase of $3,347,48mfthe restated
total net other postemployment benefits (OPEB))iliigtof $40,759,526 at 2017. Deferred inflowsresources for
other post employment benefits increased $2.46komildue to the City’s proportionate share relgtio OPERS,
OP&F and the City’s single-employer defined benpfin in the amounts of $543,919, $333,129 and&¥1 /22,
respectively.

Deferred inflows of resources for pension increa®@@07 million, due to the City’s proportionateash relating to
pension for OPERS and OP&F in the amount of $221B5and $991,716, respectively.

Long-term liabilities outstanding increased $7.4@8ion. As discussed in the financial highliglgtbove, the City
paid off bond anticipation notes, of which $7.158lion (current and other liabilities) related t@wernmental
activities, with a bond issuance of which $10,668,(other long-term liabilities) related to goveremtal activities.

Capital assets increased $4.435 million, mostlytdwedditions of depreciable capital asset itemsh $uilding and
roads additions of $4.060 million and $9.106 milliocrespectively, outweighing the increase in acdated
depreciation for these categories in the amouf78#,495 and $1.797 million, respectively.

Significant changes in business-types activitiesear follows:

Total liabilities decreased $9.842 million, of whithe significant categories of decrease were assipn liability
$4.486 million, current and other liabilities $2@2nillion, and other long-term liabilities outstang $2.863
million.

The decrease in net pension liability was due &r#tording of contributions during the measurenpeniod and
the effect of the proportionate share of new pladevdeferred outflow and inflows.

The decrease in current and other liabilities i@ #mount of $2.927 million was primarily due to ey off of
notes payable outstanding at December 31, 201B,thét exception of the Graham Road Water ImproveimNetes
in the amount of $1,800,000 which was rolled ovbr.addition, the current portion of bonds payaisl&471,000
less than 2017 mostly due to the retirement oR0@9 Various Purpose Refunding Bonds.

Other long-term liabilities outstanding decreas2d$3 million due to the change in the long-termtipa of capital
leases. The remaining payments due in 2019 akadied in the current portion of capital leases.

In order to further understand what makes up trengés in net position for the current year, théofahg table

gives readers further details regarding the refltactivities for the current year. This tablentains the 2017
fiscal year figures for comparison purposes.
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio - Changes in Net Posiin
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Revenues
Program revenues:

Charges for services 3,887,628 $ 3,771,651 $ 75,987,554 $ 74445949 $ 79,875,182 $ 78,217,60

Operating grants and contributions 3,236,003 2,869,549 62,561 61,155 3,298,564 2,930,70

Capital grants and contributions 1,175,902 2,784,018 135,555 908,140 1,311,457 3,692,15
General revenues:

Property and other local taxes 13,414,658 12,757,664 - - 13,414,658 12,757,66

Income taxes 22,600,501 23,512,064 - - 22,600,501 23,512,06
Grants and entitlements not

restricted to specific programs 2,673,128 2,617,007 - - 2,673,128 2,617,00

Other 527,228 584,060 - - 527,228 584,06
Total Revenues 47,515,048 48,896,013 76,185,670 75,415,244 123,700,718 124,311,25
Expenses

Security of persons and property 24,114,641 23,275,147 - - 24,114,641 23,275,14

Leisure time activities 3,078,332 4,339,549 - - 3,078,332 4,339,54

Community environment 2,139,383 2,271,132 2,139,383 2,271,13

Street maintenance 8,549,215 8,762,258 - - 8,549,215 8,762,25

General government 7,422,900 6,958,634 - - 7,422,900 6,958,63

Interest and fiscal charges 415,082 303,622 - - 415,082 303,62

Sewage and disposal - - 8,187,532 7,934,156 8,187,532 7,934,15

Water - - 4,222,943 4,427,961 4,222,943 4,427,96

Electric - - 51,099,787 48,275,772 51,099,787 48,275,77

Sanitation - - 3,604,209 3,886,703 3,604,209 3,886,70

Leisure time activities - - 6,233,165 6,381,113 6,233,165 6,381,11

Storm Drainage Utility - - 1,364,938 1,413,989 1,364,938 1,413,98
Total Expenses 45,719,553 45,910,342 74,712,574 72,319,694 120,432,127 118,230,03
Increase in net position before transfers 1,795,495 2,985,671 1,473,096 3,095,550 3,268,591 6,081,22
Transfers (2,277,103) (2,382,672) 2,277,103 2,382,672 -
Changes in net position (481,608) 602,999 3,750,199 5,478,222 3,268,591 6,081,22
Net position-beginning, as restated 43,554,054 42,951,055 111,030,524 105,552,302 154,584,578 148,503,35
Net position-ending 43,072,446 $ 43,554,054 $ 114,780,723 $ 111,030,524 $ 157,853,169 $ 154,584,57
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Governmental activities. Governmental activities decreased the City’s neditpm by $481,608. Key
elements of the changes in net position are asvisl|

% Revenues exceeded expenses by $1,795,495, buesgathhn the $2,277,103 transferred to business-typ
activities.

Capital grants and contributions decreased $1,868,1

Income taxes decreased $911,563.

Security of persons and property expense increh388,494.

General government expense increased $464,266.

o,
°n

o,
o

o,
°n

o,
o

Capital grants and contributions decreased $1,8680t 57.8 percent from 2017 to 2018. This de&ésslue in

part to cash basis revenue being $519,862 les31i8, Zoupled with contributions in the form of dapassets being
$1,054,399 less in 2018. A few items attributabl¢his difference was a 2017 grant from the Ohible Works

Commission in the amount of $1,089,283 for the pase of Dickerson Run Nature Preserve, and cotitiiai

from the land owner for the difference in the vabfghe property and the grant amount of $459,0B0addition,

four less streets were donated by private devetope2018, which was resulted in a difference ci%399.

Income tax revenue decreased $911,563 or 3.9 geacehwas mostly due to a decrease in cash callectdf
$676,258, of which $1,016,119 relates to the dimmme tax category (net profit and individualuress), offset by
an increase of $339,862 in withholding. In genedakct payments fluctuate each year based orcksg forward
and particular taxpayer circumstances relatinguginess expenses and investments.

Security of persons and property expense incred88€,494 or 3.6 percent, which is primarily dué¢hte effects of
cash basis expenditures being $468,434 higheri8 20d GASB 75 recording of the City’s proporti@nahare of
OPERS and OP&F OPEB expense relating to employeeshé Police, Fire, Technical Services and
Communications departments in the amount of $233¥2, This was offset partially by a decrease dubé effects

of GASB 68 recording of the City's proportionateash of OPERS and OP&F pension, in which these esqzen
were $441,750 less than 2017.

General government expense increased $464,26& qrecent, which is primarily due to the effectscagh basis
expenditures being $566,757 higher in 2018 andtaltiee effects of GASB 75 recording of the Citytl®portionate
share of OPERS and OP&F OPEB expense relating fogees in the general purpose City departmentien
amount of $251,293. This was offset partially bgezrease due to the effects of GASB 68 recordirtenCity’s
proportionate share of OPERS and OP&F pensionhiociwthese expenses were $444,720 less than 2017.

This space is intentionally left blank.
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2018 Revenues by Source — Governmental Activities

O Charges for services - 8%

B Operating grants and contributions - 7%

06% B1% ggoy

O Capital grants and contributions - 2%

O Property and other local taxes - 28%

B ncome taxes - 48%

O Grant and entitlements not restricted to specifig@ms - 6%

B Other - 1%

2017 Revenues by Source — Governmental Activities

BCharges for services - 8%

B Operating grants and contributions - 6%

0 5%m 1%D 8%

OCapital grants and contributions - 6%

OProperty and other local taxes - 26%

H|ncome taxes - 48%

B 48%

OGrant and entitlements not restricted to specifigmms - 5%

BOther - 1%
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2018 Expenses and Program Revenues — Governmentaitikities

DExpenses

mProgram revenues

25,000,000+

20,000,000+

15,000,000~

10,000,000~

5,000,000 -

Security of persons and  Leisure time activiles ~ Community environment Strestintenance General gove mment Interest and fiscal
property charges

2017 Expenses and Program Revenues — Governmentaltikities

BExpenses

mProgram revenues

25,000,000+

20,000,000~

15,000,000~

10,000,000~

5,000,000 -|

Security of persons and  Leisure time activiles ~ Community environment Streetintenance General gove rnment Interest and fiscal
property charges
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Business-type activities.Business-type activity net position increased by$8 million. Key elements of changes
in net position are as follows:
% Revenues exceeded expenses by $1,473,096. Inoaddi2,277,103 was transferred to business-type
activities from governmental activities.
Electric charges for services increased by $2,8861¢6 5.0 percent.
Leisure Time Activities charges for services deseebby $834,980 or 11.2 percent.
Capital grants and contributions decreased $772685.1 percent.
Electric expenses increased by $2.824 million 6rpgercent.

5

%

5

%

5

%

o,
°

Electric charges for services increase is a rafultash transactions being $4,506,324 higher ir820ffset by a
decrease in net accruals from 2017 to 2018 in theuat of $1,858,059. The increase in cash basisgels for
services is due to an approximate 1.5 percent kit increase, and an increase in consumption ajsil@&v,000
kWh, or 5.75 percent. One of the factors in therei@se in net accruals was related to the utildgiag schedule
being $407,725 less at the end of 2018 in comparis®?017 for the Electric Fund. Of the decreasthée aging
schedule, $230,140 is attributable to residentiabants.

Leisure Time Activities charges for services desee a result of reimbursements made in previ@agsyfrom
debt contributions from governmental activities ¢Rmtion Levy Special Revenue Fund) to the LeisLirae
Enterprise Fund in the amount of $750,000, no logéng made. The notes payable relating to thear@onity
Recreation Center were retired November 30, 20@addition, cash basis charges for services wevends70,596
from 2017 to 2018, which are mostly related to Bitedge Golf Course and Downview Sports Center inagtmount
of $78,936 and $16,540, respectively, from thesiwiies being weather dependent.

Capital Grants and Contributions were less in 2048 to contributions in the form of capital asfetsn private
developers being significantly higher in 2017.

Electric expenses increase is mostly due to puethpewer cash transactions being $3,213,664 higt218.

This space is intentionally left blank.
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2018 Revenue by Source — Business-type Activities

O >1%

OCharges for services - 99%

B Operating grants and confributions - < 1%

O Capital grants and contributions - < 1%

O Other - 0%

2017 Revenue by Source — Business-type Activities

0>1%

] <l%\

0 0% BCharges for services - 99%

B QOperating grants and confributions - < 1%

O Capital grants and contributions - > 1%

O Other - 0%
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2018 Expenses and Program Revenues — Business-tyadivities
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Financial Analysis of Government’'s Funds

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accountingetsure and demonstrate compliance with financeectla
requirements.

Governmental Funds. The focus of the City’'s governmental fundsto provide information on the near-term
inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable ressur Such information is useful in assessing tlhgsdinancing
requirements. In particular, unassigned fund lmEanay serve as a useful measure of a governnresiti®sources
available for spending at the end of the fiscaryea

As of December 31, 2018, the City’s governmentaidfireported combined ending fund balances of $84.2
million, which represents an increase of $8.361ionilin comparison with the prior year. This inase is primarily
due to the proceeds from the issuance of variougose improvement bonds in the Capital ProjectsdRarthe
amount of $10,665,000 for improving Front Stree¢c@d Street, Oakwood Drive, Stow Avenue and Broad
Boulevard between certain termini, including thepiovement, construction, and installation of sidésabike
lanes, curbs, pavements, signalization, streetifighturn lanes, and all related improvements amgurtenances.

Capital Projects Fund expenditures were $11.37fiomiin 2018, which was less than that of the pyear by
$5.427 million, or 32.3 percent. Expenditureshe Capital Projects Fund are tracked using pr@ecbunting.
The significant decrease in spending was due toestarge project spending in 2017, mostly relatingthe
Downtown Circulation Project, in which the govermta portion includes street improvements to a iporof
Front Street, which had been closed to vehiculHfitras a pedestrian mall for over 40 years, aakipg deck
upgrades, which includes structural improvementshothree downtown parking decks (Red, Blue, ange®)
which are free of charge to the public.

Security of persons and property expenditures \B&i6,750 more in 2018 than 2017, $489,773 of whietiains
to cash basis transactions being higher in the @émaind, Police Pension Fund and Fire Pension $unéin
amount of $517,402 was attributable to salary aswkfits for Police, Firefighters, therefore opemaéil costs were
$27,629 less in 2018 than 2017 for these deparmdntaddition to the increases on the cash bastsued payroll
for security of persons and property was $364,4g@hdr in 2018, which is mostly due to the accrualetroactive
increases associated with the new union bargagngements which were effective July 1, 2018 arndl ipa2019.

General government expenditures were $781,925 md&@18 than 2017, $701,871 of which pertains &hdaasis
transactions being higher in the General Fund. afount of $298,760 was attributable to salary aemkbts for

administrative and general purpose employees. dtlitian to the increases on the cash basis, acquagmbll for

general government was $93,737 higher in 2018, whias primarily related to the accrual of retroazincreases
associated with the new union bargaining agreernsemdsnon bargaining wage scales which were effectity 1,

2018 and paid in 2019.

Income tax revenue decreased $1,131,616 or 4.2meand was mostly due to a decrease in cash tollecof
$676,258, of which $1,016,119 relates to the dimmme tax category (net profit and individualuress), offset by
an increase of $339,862 in withholding. In genedakct payments fluctuate each year based onckusg forward
and particular taxpayer circumstances relatingusiriess expenses and investments. Additionalbruad income
tax revenue was $378,207 less in 2018, due to ¢imifierences in processing by the Regional Incdiae Agency
(RITA), which the City began using in 2019, comhte processing previously done by the City.

In regard to the current combined ending fund bagan $7.149 million is unassigned fund balance clwhs
available for spending at the City's discretion. heTnext largest fund balance classification conmuyisof
approximately $9.345 million constitutes restrictohd balance, which is legally restricted for usased on
constraints externally imposed, typically throughrg agreements, State statute and debt covenants.
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The General Fund is the chief operating fund ofGlity. At December 31, 2018, unassigned fund lmdaof the
General Fund was $7.148 million, while total funaldmce was $10.838 million. As a measure of thaeGd
Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare bathassigned fund balance and total fund balancettd fund
expenditures, including transfers out. Unassighed! balance represents 22.0 percent of total gérfend
expenditures, including transfers out, while tdtaid balance represents 33.4 percent of the sarnaram

The fund balance of the City’s General Fund incedasy $842,354 during 2018. Revenues, includiagstiers in
were $834,228 less than expenditures, includingsfess out. This fund balance decrease was dwseveral
factors:

The General Fund revenues were $4.502 million grahin expenditures in 2018.
The General Fund portion of income taxes decrebgefir95,647 or 5.2 percent, based on circumstances
similar to what was stated above for overall gowezntal funds.

o,
°n
o,
°n

The fund balance of the City’s Capital Projectsdrintreased by $8.879 million during 2018. As dssed above,
one big factor was the proceeds from the issuahea@nious purpose improvement bonds in the Capitajects
Fund in the amount of $10,665,000 for improvingrirStreet.

Proprietary Funds. The City’s proprietary funds provide the same infation found in the government-wide
financial statements business-type activities,buatore detail.

Unrestricted net position at the end of the yeapuamted to $1.736 million, $3.291 million, $16.746llion,
$529,121, negative $1.148 million, and negative4$1d7 for the Sewage and Disposal, Water, Eleciamitation,
Leisure Time, and Storm Drainage Utility Funds pedively.

The Sewer, Water, Electric, Sanitation, Leisure &immd Storm Drainage Utility Funds total net positincreased
$95,589, or .5 percent, $767.459, or 3.9 percen878 million or 3.3 percent, $47,016, or 1.4 petc$419,133, or
2.4 percent, and $27,321, or .2 percent, respégtirem 2017 to 2018.

Many of the changes to the proprietary funds palrdhat of business-type activities, with the exiep of the
elimination of some charges between business-typiitees functions. The changes were discussedhat
analysis.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The final amended General Fund budget had totalompiations of $408,624 less than the original ketdgThe
total original appropriations, including those faansfers out, were $36,745,013, while the fingdrapriations were
$36,336,389. This is due in part to prior yearuenbrances of $226,088 in the General Fund and $20r2the
Municipal Income Tax Fund, which is blended witle tBeneral Fund for financial reporting purposehis Rctivity

is added to the Original Budget in the StatemeR@fenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund BalaBudget
and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - General dri8tatement. In addition, Ordinance 32-2018 amended
appropriations in the General Fund and the blerdedicipal Income Tax Fund to lower appropriatiomsthe
amounts of $123,832 and $111,126. The reductidghenGeneral Fund was due to the net effect fragrcteation

of the Neighborhood Excellence, Communications, @wmmunity Outreach Department, dissolving of the
Riverfront Center District Department, and the sitian of the City’s tax collection process to fRegional Income
Tax Agency (RITA). The final revenue budget was$@72 less than the original primarily due to ncipal
income taxes being $1,181,377 less than anticipaféskt by admissions tax and investment earnibggsg higher
than anticipated in the amounts of $165,956 and 0®, respectively.
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|
Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets. The City’s investment in capital assets for goveental and business-type activities as of
December 31, 2018, amounts to $224.813 million ffeaccumulated depreciation). This investment apit@l
assets include land, construction in progress,dimgk, improvements, machinery and equipment, aé age
infrastructure (from 1980 to current), includingads, sidewalks, bridges, curbs and gutters. Ttaé itacrease in
the City’s investment in capital assets for 2018 %&,869,457, which amounts to a little under Tget:

City of Cuyahoga Falls Capital Asset
(Net of Depreciation)
Total

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Land $ 12,121,374 $ 12,029,687 $ 3,689,128 $ 3,689,128 $ 15,710,502 $ 15,618,81
Construction in Progress 4,039,855 10,293,070 854,716 72,551 $ 4,894,571 10,365,62
Buildings 18,738,780 15,415,589 26,049,341 26,744,508 $ 44,788,122 42,160,09
Improvements 7,419,859 7,739,096 72,488,101 75,229,026 $ 79,907,960 82,968,12
Machinery and Equipment 10,122,102 9,692,989 6,473,288 6,384,651 $ 16,595,390 16,077,64
Infrastructure 62,916,590 55,753,383 s - $ 62,916,590 55,753,38
Total $ 115,358,561 $ 110,923,814 $ 109,454,574 $ 112,019,864 $ 224,813,135 $ 222,943,67

Major capital asset events during 2018 were as follvs:

In 2018, the City purchased additional vehicles Safety Forces out of the Capital Projects Fundvé&mmental
Activities) which includes four new patrol vehiclésr $165k in Police and a new ambulance for Fataling
$250k. In addition, the City started constructiontbe state of the art Police Training Facilityden) $513k for a
new Construction In Progress (CIP) total of $528ls0, work is underway for the Fire Station #3 rigdu$293k
was added to CIP in 2018.

Two large projects were capitalized out of CIP @12 regarding the Downtown Revitalization Projddte Parking
Plan Circulation project was capitalized for $3k#hd the Front Street Infrastructure project waitalized for
$8,628k.

The Recreation Levy Fund purchased four mowers 42k between Brookledge Golf Course and Park
Maintenance. The fund also purchased additiongigotaund equipment for the new Woodridge Elemeng&gigool
for $91k. In addition, the Kelsey Creek ShelteW&terworks Park was capitalized out of CIP for $91k

Lastly, the Electric Fund began installation of Beaking Generation project at the Water TreatRéan to handle
peak electric usage more economically. The tot#éhefproject thus far is $766k.

For more detailed information on capital assetvigtirefer to Note 6-Capital Assets in the Noteghe Financial
Statements section.

Assets held for resale. As of December 31, 2018, the City currently does hrave any interest in development
projects held for resale.

Long-term debt. At December 31, 2018, the City had $30.078 millmhlong-term bonds and capital leases
outstanding.
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General Obligation Bonds and Capital Leases Outstating

City of Cuyahoga Falls

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Tota

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
G. O. bonds $ 16,464,565 $ 6,062,137 $ 11,446,655 $ 12,593,276 $ 27,911,220 $ 18,655,41
Capital leases 113,912 218,685 2,053,011 4,066,260 2,166,923 4,284,944
Total $ 16,578,477 $ 6,280,822 $ 13,499,666 $ 16,659,536 $ 30,078,143 $ 22,940,35

On August 7, 2018, the City issued various purpoggrovement bonds in the amount of $11,170,000tler
following purposes: Improving Front Street, Sec@tdeet, Oakwood Drive, Stow Avenue and Broad Baaiév
between certain termini, including the improvememnstruction, and installation of sidewalks, bi&ees, curbs,
pavements, signalization, street lighting, turregrand all related improvements and appurtenaimopsoving the
City’s storm and sanitary sewer systems by consStrgand replacing storm and sanitary sewer limesnholes,
service connections and laterals off' B3reet between Ohio Avenue and Phelps Avenuetttegwith all necessary
appurtenances thereto; constructing, reconstruciingroving and rehabilitating the City’s Green ltag Garage,
Blue Parking Garage and Red Parking Garage by dhstrction, improvement and installation of coterand
masonry, the waterproofing of existing structurtg construction of drainage upgrades, the acipnsiand
installation of new elevators and the modernizatafnexisting elevators, and all related improverseanhd

appurtenances. The bonds mature on August 1, 208Bave a stated interest rate of 2.92 percent.

More detailed information regarding the City’s dapleases and long-term debt activity is availabldlote 11 and

Note 13 on page 95, and pages 97-99, respectively.

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget

The City of Cuyahoga Falls’ elected and appointidials consider many factors through a lengthydpet process.
The economic state of the State and Nation obwolial/e a direct impact on municipalities. The Gitjoritizes

each department’'s basic mission.

The City receatimpleted the process of negotiating multi-yeapleyee

bargaining agreements with the various unions whkigbire on June 30, 2021. The outcome of thesetiagigns
provided reasonable cost of living increases wtdlpping the growth of health care costs. The €ipjan is to be
able to forecast far enough into the future to héneeability and time to handle any financial sitol that may

occur.

The administration realizes the only meaningful wagrow revenue will be through development, betsidential
and commercial, job creation and expansion, anchtaiaing our housing stock and municipal infrastooe. The
City is currently working with developers for resittial growth. Two new residential developments;l&ve at Mill
Pond and The Preserve at Salt Creek are approacbimgletion and three additional developments; Weaatl
Preserves, Redwood, and a development yet to becham a former golf course. These five new devebkm
combined encompass 178 acres of residential dewelopand an estimated average of $190,065 per pyop&he
City continues to work with companies looking tdocate or expand within its borders. The Portages€ing
project is a valuable asset and will provide annectic boost to the City for years to come. Attragtinew
businesses, such as Menards, which opened in 20818romoting expansion, such as what has occinregtent
years with Kyocera-SGS Precision Tools and Harbasti@gs continue to be a focus of the Mayor and the
administration. The City completed the Downtowmc@lation Project in 2018, which included constigtand
reopening a portion of Front Street, which had bdesed to vehicular traffic as a pedestrian nalldver 40 years,
and parking deck upgrades, which includes struciurprovements to the three downtown parking degksd,
Blue, and Green) which are free of charge to th@ipuFront Street was reopened to traffic on Faby8, 2018.
Downtown Cuyahoga Falls continues to be a hotbedcohomic activity. New boutique stores and gifbsh
restaurants, and entertainment along the FroneS@erridor attract people Downtown. As new bussiesscontinue
to open Downtown will continue to be a place foomamic prosperity. The Community Development Daparit
has a diligent housing division along with the stsgice of Community Development Block Grant furtlagsist the
needy to maintain the City’s housing stock. Tontain City infrastructure, the City transfers 2933 cent of net
income tax dollars into the Capital Projects Fumdhiintain our infrastructure.
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

In conclusion, the recording of GASB Statement M8. and 75 requires the reader to perform additional
calculations to determine the City’s total net fiosi at December 31, 2018 without the recordingGASB
Statement No. 68 and 75, regarding the State Peisistems. This is an important exercise, as thte Pension
Systems (OPERS & OP&F) collect, hold and distrisupeensions and other postemployment benefits to our
employees, not the City of Cuyahoga Falls. Thedeutations are as follows and adjusts for the '€itlefined
benefit single employer OPEB plan:

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio - Implementation of GAB 68 and 75 effect on Net Position
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
Total net position at December 31, 20¥8ith GASB 68 and 79 $ 43,072,446 $ 114,780,723 $  157,853,16p
GASB 68 and 75 calculations:
Add:
Deferred Inflows related to pension 3,790,875 2,396,939 6,187,811
Deferred Inflows related to other post employmesnddits (OPEB) 2,464,770 531,233 2,996,008
Less: City defined single employer OPEB Plan (1,587,722) - (1,587,7%2)
Net pension liability 41,229,592 9,953,199 51,182,79L
Net other post employment benefits (OPEB) 44,107,007 6,740,756 50,847,76B
Less: City defined single employer OPEB Plan (8,551,540) - (8,551,540)
Less:
Deferred outflows related to pensions (7,212,761) (2,497,862) (9,710,62B)
Deferred outflows related to other post employnizettefits (OPEB) (3,495,187) (500,854) (3,996,04}L)
Net pension asset (96,632) (94,378) (191,01p)
Total net position at December 31, 20¥8ithout GASB 68 and 75 - State Pension Systens 113,720,848 131,309,756 245,030,60h

Request for Information

This financial report is designed to provide odizeins, taxpayers, customers, investors and csditiith a general
overview of the City’s finances and to show accabiiity for the money it receives. This reporaiso available on
the City’s website atvww.cityofcf.com Questions concerning any of the information mied in this report or
requests for additional financial information shibbe addressed to the City of Cuyahoga Falls Fm&epartment,
2310 Second Street, Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio, 44221.
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2018

Primary Government Component Unit
Governmental Business-type CIC of
Activities Activities Total Cuyahoga Falls
Asset:
Equity in pooled cash and cash equival $ 13,315,20 $ 13,766,25 $ 27,081,445 16,80¢
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted acc - - - 35,54¢
Investment 12,308,15 13,109,60 25,417,75 -
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for uncoildes’ 937,68 10,943,78 11,881,46 -
Loans receivab 2,757,27 - 2,757,27. 2,91¢
Taxes receivab 13,084,06 - 13,084,06 -
Special assessments receiv 75,327 201,008 276,33( -
Accrued interest receival 66,68: - 66,68 41
Due from other governmet 3,094,10: 50,71¢ 3,144,81 -
Inventory of supplie 940,29! 4,230,641 5,170,93! -
Prepaid item 183,34: 117,59 300,93t 382
Internal balance 742,98¢ (742,988 - -
Investment in joint ventur - 2,207,71! 2,207,71! -
Regulated ass - 1,784,411 1,784,411 -
Net pension ass 96,63: 94,37¢ 191,01( -
Nondepreciable capital ass 16,161,22 4,443,84. 20,605,07 163,89(
Depreciable capital ass 99,197,33 105,010,73 204,208,06 209,15(
Total asset 162,960,30 155,217,68 318,177,98 428,72¢
Deferred Outflows of Resource
Pensiol 7,212,76 2,497,86: 9,710,62: -
Other postemployment benefits (OPI 3,495,18 500,85: 3,996,04 -
Advance refunding of de - 193,43( 193,43( -
Total deferred outflows of resource 10,707,94 3,192,14 13,900,09 -
Liabilities
Accounts payab 1,102,691 4,131,58! 5,234,27! 6,841
Accrued salaries, wages and bene 912,08 323,37: 1,235,45 -
Accrued interest payat 144,75 36,07« 180,82¢ -
Due to other governmet 266,25¢ 1,093,67 1,359,93: -
Unearned Reven - 84,70: 84,701 -
Deposit held and due to oth - 1,253,49. 1,253,49. -
Notes payab - 1,800,00¢ 1,800,001 -
Current portion o
Accrued compensated abser 2,141,92 - 2,141,92 -
Claims and judgments paya 362,45! - 362,45! -
Capital lease 63,32¢ 2,053,01 2,116,33 -
Payable to AMI - 167,32: 167,32: -
Bonds payab 720,00( 1,070,001 1,790,001 -
Long-term portion o
Net pension liabilit 41,229,59 9,953,19! 51,182,79 -
Net other postemployment benefits (OP 44,107,00 6,740,75! 50,847,76 -
Accrued compensated abser 7,438,76 - 7,438,76 -
Claims and judgments paya 21,367 - 21,367 -
Capital lease 50,58¢ - 50,58¢ -
Payable to AMI - 1,617,08! 1,617,08i -
Bonds payab 15,744,56 10,376,65 26,121,22 -
Total liabilities 114,305,36 40,700,93 155,006,29 6,841
Deferred Inflows of Resource
Revenues levied for the next y 10,034,79 - 10,034,79 -
Pensiol 3,790,87! 2,396,93 6,187,81- -
Other postemployment benefits (OPI 246477 531,23: 2,996,00: -
Total deferred inflows of resource 16,290,44 2,928.17. 19,218.61 -
Net Positior
Net investment in capital ass 98,770,56 94,348,33 193,118,90 -
Restricted fol
Capital projects (temporarily restricts 6,267,97. - 6,267,97: -
Debt service (temporarily restricte (109,676 - (109,676 -
Special revenue - Community Development Block Gréemporarily restricte 3,050,75! - 3,050,75! -
CIC - Community Development (temporarily restrét - - - 408,58t
Permanent fund purpose - Cemetery Perpetual Carmgmently restricte 245,31¢ - 245,31¢ -
Unrestricte (65,152,491 20,432,38 (44,720,107 13,307
Total net position $ 4307244 $ 114.780.72 $ 15785316 $ 421,88

See accompanying notes to the basic financialretate
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Program Revenues

Charges for

Operating
Grants and

Capital
Grants and

Functions / Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Primary government:
Governmental activities:
Security of persons and property $ 24,114,641 $ 614,054 128,359 13,738
Leisure time activities 3,078,332 236,311 - 59,114
Community environment 2,139,383 92,344 768,692 29,680
Street maintenance 8,549,215 750,500 2,186,107 1,027,891
General government 7,422,900 2,194,419 152,845 45,479
Interest and fiscal charges 415,082 - - -
Total governmental activities 45,719,553 3,887,628 3,236,003 1,175,902
Business-type activities:
Sewage and disposal 8,187,532 8,291,227 - 16,225
Water 4,222,943 5,651,564 - 24,735
Electric 51,099,787 50,500,902 4,263 -
Sanitation 3,604,209 3,721,057 58,298 -
Leisure time activities 6,233,165 6,630,504 - -
Storm drainage utility 1,364,938 1,192,300 - 94,595
Total business-type activities 74,712,574 75,987,554 62,561 135,555
Total primary government $ 120,432,127 $ 79,875,182 3,298,564 1,311,457
Component Unit - CIC of Cuyahoga Falls $ 12,717 - - -

General revenues:

Property and other local taxes levied for:

General purposes
Special revenue
Income tax levied for:
General purposes

Special revenue
Capital projects

Grants and entitlements not restricted to spepifigrams
Gain on sale of capital assets

Investment earnings
Transfers

Total general revenue and transfers

Change in net position

Net position - beginning, as restated

Net position - ending

See accompanying notes to the basic financialretatts
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

(Continued)

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

Component Unit

Governmental Business-type CIC of
Activities Activities Total Cuyahoga Falls

$ (23,358,490) $ $ (23,358,490) $ -
(2,782,907) (2,782,907) -
(1,248,667) - (1,248,667) -
(4,584,717) - (4,584,717) -
(5,030,157) - (5,030,157) -

(415,082) - (415,082) -
(37,420,020) - (37,420,020) -

- 119,920 119,920 -
- 1,453,356 1,453,356 -

- (594,622) (594,622) .

- 175,146 175,146 -

- 397,339 397,339 -

- (78,043) (78,043) -
- 1,473,096 1,473,096 -
(37,420,020) 1,473,096 (35,946,924) -

- - - (12,717)

11,916,154 - 11,916,154 -
1,498,504 - 1,498,504 -
14,163,734 - 14,163,734 -
1,808,040 - 1,808,040 -
6,628,727 - 6,628,727 -
2,673,128 - 2,673,128 -

24,582 - 24,582 -

502,646 - 502,646 59

(2,277,103) 2,277,103 - -
36,938,412 2,277,103 39,215,515 59

(481,608) 3,750,199 3,268,591 (12,658)
43,554,054 111,030,524 154,584,578 434,545
43,072,446 $ 114,780,723  $ 157,853,169 $ 421,887

37



City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds

December 31, 2018

Assets

Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents

Investments

Receivables
Taxes
Accounts

(net of allowance for uncollectibles)

Loans
Special assessments
Accrued interest

Due from other funds

Due from other governments

Inventory of supplies

Prepaid items

Total asse

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Fund Balances
Liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued salaries, wages and benefits

Due to other funds

Due to other governments

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Revenues levied for the next year and unavailasenu:

Fund Balances
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows and fund balas

See accompanying notes to the basic financialrtaits

Other Total
Capital Governmental Governmental
General Projects Funds Funds

4,940,17% 3,302,843 $ 1,914,029 $ 10,157,043
4,348,888 3,145,299 1,820,913 9,315,100
12,196,260 - 887,806 13,084,066
117,245 474,653 233,836 825,734
36,458 - 2,720,813 2,757,271
- 75,327 - 75,327
66,682 - - 66,682
165,724 - 145,000 310,724
1,573,304 197,679 1,183,846 2,954,829
129,423 - 571,580 701,003
164,030 - 18,063 182,093
23,738,18 $ 7,195,80: $ 9,495,88! $ 40,429,87
112,054 $ 922,113 $ 14,849 $ 1,049,016
823,863 - 66,841 890,704
127,635 5,714 14,519 147,868
52,854 - 198,899 251,753
1,116,406 927,827 295,108 2,339,341
11,783,40 389,21 1,712,44 13,885,06
293,453 - 834,962 1,128,415
36,458 2,604,599 6,704,111 9,345,168

- 96,600 1,728 98,328
3,359,765 3,177,562 - 6,537,327
7,148,694 - (52,470) 7,096,224
10,838,370 5,878,761 7,488,331 24,205,462

$ 7,195,80: $ 9,495,88 $ 40,429,87

23,738,18
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balance$o Net Position of

Governmental Activities

December 31, 2018

Total Governmental Fund Balances $ 24,205,462
Amounts reported for governmental activities in sketement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activitiesleig internal service fund capital assets) atefinancial
resources and therefore are not reported in thdsfuithose assets consist of:

Nondepreciable capital assets $16,139,269
Depreciable capital assets 99,135,192
115,274,461
Other long-term assets are not available to pagdaent-period expenditures and, therefore areaiteble
revenue in the funds:
Investment earnings 25,066
Delinquent property taxes 136,746
Grants and entitlements 2,062,183
Municipal income tax 1,164,564
Special assessments 75,327
Charges for services 386,387
3,850,273
Internal service funds are used by the City to antfor the financing of goods or services provitigcne
department to other City departments or agenc@serglly on a cost reimbursement basis. The aardts
liabilities of the internal service funds are imdbddl in governmental activities in the statementegfposition.
Internal service fund net position is: (13,782,653)

The net pension liability/asset (excluding interservice fund net pension liability/asset) is noé dnd
payable in the current period; therefore, the ligliasset and related deferred inflows/outflows aot
reported in governmental funds:

Deferred outflows - pension 7,077,275
Deferred inflows - pension (3,660,864)
Net pension liability (40,689,730)
Net pension asset 91,513

(37,181,806)

The net other post employment benefits liabiliyc{eding internal service fund net other post emplent
benefits liability) is not due and payable in therent period; therefore, the liability and relatizferred
inflows/outflows are not reported in governmentaids:

Deferred outflows - other post employment benefits 3,468,020
Deferred inflows - other post employment benefits (848,234)
Net other post employment benefits liability (35,189,848)
(32,570,062)
Long-term liabilities are not due and payable ia ¢hirrent period and therefore are not reportetiérfunds:
Accrued interest payable (144,752)
Unamortized bond discount 15,435
Capital leases (113,912)
Bonds Payable (16,480,000)
(16,723,229)
Total Governmental Activities Net Position $ 43,072,446

See accompanying notes to the basic financialretates
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changeskund Balances -

Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Revenues

Property taxes
Municipal income taxes
Other local taxes
State levied shared taxes
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fees, licenses and permits
Interest earnings
Fines and forfeitures
Special assessments
Other

Total revenues

Expenditures
Current
Security of persons and property
Leisure time activities
Community environment
Street maintenance
General government
Capital outlay
Debt Service
Principal
Interest
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
Over (under) expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Proceeds from the issuance of

Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing sources
(uses)

Net change in fund balances
Fund balance at beginning of year

Change in nonspendable inventory

Change in nonspendable prepaid items

Fund balance at end of y

See accompanying notes to the basic financialretates

Other Total
Capital Governmental ~ Governmental
General Projects Funds Funds

$ 9429164 $ - 3 543,990 $ 9,973,154
14,647,157 6,481,930 1,768,000 22,897,087
2,601,964 - 961,234 3,563,198
2,606,037 - 2,350,242 4,956,279
248,978 844,712 858,301 1,951,991
990,408 1,425,882 2,535 2,418,825
161,844 - 665,680 827,524
478,868 49,389 1,234 529,491
186,226 - 39,597 225,823
- 69,888 - 69,888
294,323 149,295 31,636 475,254
31,644,969 9,021,096 7,222,449 47,888,514
18,236,605 - 2,540,019 20,776,624
1,854,434 - 1,327,409 3,181,843
1,153,566 - 794,950 1,948,516
- - 3,542,925 3,542,925
5,898,295 - 2,761 5,901,056
- 11,371,223 400,000 11,771,223

- 104,774 219,000 323,774

- 130,861 253,560 384,421
27,142,900 11,606,858 9,080,624 47,830,382
4,502,069 (2,585,762) (1,858,175) 58,132
- 10,665,00 - 10,665,00!

- 800,000 2,410,000 3,210,000
(5,336,297) - - (5,336,297)
(5,336,297) 11,465,000 2,410,000 8,538,703
(834,228) 8,879,238 551,825 8,596,835
11,680,724  (3,000,477) 7,163,895 15,844,142
(32,444) - (222,023) (254,467)
24,318 - (5,366) 18,952

$ 10,838,377 $ 5878,76. $ 7,488,33 $ 24,205,46
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
|

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expeitdres and Changes in

Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statemenf Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Fds $ 8,596,835
Amounts reported for governmental activities in sketement of activities are different because:
Governmental funds report capital outlays as exjperes. However, in the statement of activitibg cost
of those assets is allocated over their estimaseflulives as depreciation expense. This is theumt by
which capital additions exceeded depreciation endiwrent period.
Capital additions $ 9,605,020
Current year depreciation (4,965,749)
4,639,271
In the statement of activities, only the loss om disposal of assets is reported, whereas, indhergmental
funds, the proceeds from the disposal increasedinhresources. Thus, the change in net posititfers from
the change in fund balance by the cost of the isset (275,929)
Governmental funds report expenditures for invegntdrsupplies and prepaid items when purchased.
However, in the statement of activities, they amorted as an expense when consumed. (235,515)
Revenues in the statement of activities that dgonotide current financial resources are not regubas
revenues in the funds.
Investment earnings 6,652
Delinquent property taxes (123,172)
Grants and entitlements 112,751
Municipal income tax (296,586)
Special assessments (3,617)
Charges for services (15,061)
(319,033)
Contractually required pension contributions aporeed as expenditures in governmental funds; hewev
the statement of net position reports these amaméeferred inflows/outflows. (7,421,844)
Contractually required other post employment bés¢®PEB) contributions are reported as expenditure
governmental funds; however, the statement of asitipn reports these amounts as deferred inflawéovs. 2,475,994
Except for amounts reported as deferred inflow$ltmus, changes in the net pension liability areorégd as
pension expense in the statement of activities. 5,197,740
Except for amounts reported as deferred inflowsltmus, changes in the net other post employmenéfitsn
(OPEB) liability are reported as pension expengbénstatement of activities. (5,217,895)
Repayment of bond principal and capital lease paysn@re expenditures in the governmental funds,
but the repayment reduces long-term liabilitiethia statement of net position. 323,774

Issuance of long-term debt in governmental fundssased long-term liabilities in the statement of
net position.

In the statement of activities, interest is accraeautstanding debt, whereas in the governmemntals an

(10,665,000)

interest expenditure is reported when due. (123,621)
Premiums and discounts on bonds issued are re@pag&revenues and expenses, respectively in teergoental

funds, however, they are amortized over the lifthefissuance in the statement of activities. 43,572
Internal service funds are used by the City to antéor the financing of goods or services provithgcbne

department to other City departments or agencarserglly on a cost reimbursement basis. The r@senu

(expenses) of the internal service funds are amcamong the governmental activities. 2,500,043
Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $  (481,608)

See accompanying notes to the basic financialretates
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changeskand Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Gemal Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Property taxes $ 9,347,782 % 9,419,107 $ 9,429,164 $ 10,057
Municipal income taxes 15,913,995 14,731,618 15,025,364 293,746
Other local taxes 2,449,950 2,615,906 2,607,449 (8,457)
State levied shared taxes 2,527,204 2,595,682 2,596,675 993
Intergovernmental 203,799 236,701 234,063 (2,638)
Charges for services 3,816,366 3,770,545 3,787,361 16,816
Fees, licenses, and permits 113,960 159,198 165,394 6,196
Interest earnings 650,000 800,000 813,725 13,725
Fines and forfeitures 224,500 224,500 186,886 (37,614)
Othel 234,88: 257,71( 325,37! 67,66t
Total revenues 35,482,439 34,810,967 35,171,456 360,489
Expenditures
Current
Security of persons and property 18,729,815 18,595,815 18,113,167 482,648
Leisure time activities 2,253,886 2,318,927 2,152,710 166,217
Community environment 1,533,876 1,268,165 1,146,351 121,814
General government 8,801,008 8,816,418 8,507,438 308,980
Total expenditures 31,318,585 30,999,325 29,919,666 1,079,659
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 4,163,854 3,811,642 5,251,790 1,440,148
Other Financing (Uses)
Transfers out (5,426,428) (5,337,064) (5,336,297) 767
Total other financing (uses) (5,426,428) (5,337,064) (5,336,297) 767
Net change in fund balances (1,262,574) (1,525,422) (84,507) 1,440,915
Fund balance at beginning of year 9,136,089 9,136,089 9,136,089 -
Prior year encumbrances appropriated 226,088 226,088 226,088 -
Fund balance at end of y $ 8,099,60. $ 7,836,75! $ 9,277,67! $ 1,440,91!

See accompanying notes to the basic financialretatts
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds
December 31, 2018

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Storm
Sewage Leisure Drainage
and Disposal Water Electric Sanitation Time Utility Total
Assets
Current Assets
Equity in pooled cash and cash equival $ 1,621,860 $ 2,553,69° $ 6,231,570 $ 1,119,86. $ 2,032,020 $ 207,21t $ 13,766,25
Investment 1,544,50! 2,431,88! 5,934,33 1,066,44- 1,935,10: 197,33: 13,109,60
Receivable
Account
(net of allowance for uncollectible 970,32t 608,36: 8,866,41! 321,37t 79,10¢ 98,20: 10,943,78
Special assessme 43,70¢ 29,63¢ - - - 127,65¢ 201,00¢
Due from other fund 46,59. 76 705,93t 14,177 - 18,34¢ 785,13(
Due from other governmet 50,71¢ - - - - - 50,71t
Inventory of supplie 36,49¢ 477,06¢ 3,478,63! 119,29¢ 119,15( - 4,230,641
Prepaid item 10,63: 14,43¢ 30,74¢ 15,86( 39,44¢ 6,46¢ 117,59
Investment in joint ventur - - 2,207,71! - - - 2,207,71!
Total current asse 4,324 .83 6,115,16! 27,455,35 2,657,01 4,204,83: 655,22 45412 44
Noncurrent Asset:
Net pension ass 7,561 14,00¢ 31,54: 10,80( 26,28t 4,181 94,37¢
Regulated ass - - 1,784,410 - - - 1,784,411
Capital Assel
Lanc 93,45¢ 135,60" 530,75t 152,78: 1,787,90 888,62( 3,589,12i
Buildings 522,68( 1,140,35: 1,060,511 412,88t 36,627,91 11,70( 39,776,04
Improvements other than buildir 31,694,36 35,565,88 49,186,91 257,91¢ 4,644,26! 14,272,89 135,622,24
Equipmen 1,637,95 2,125,51. 7,439,401 5,095,04! 726,05t 708,52¢ 17,732,50
CIP 21,87 20,26( 812 57¢ - - - 854,71!
Less: Accumulated depreciat (15,726,30% (18,804,641 (31,892,71C (3,079,677 (15,011,614 3,605,123 88,120,07C
Total noncurrent asst 18,251,60 20,196,98 28,953,40 2,849,75 28,800,8 12,280,79 11,333,36
Total asse! 22576,44 26,312,15 56,408,76. 5,506,77- 33,005,64 12,936,02 156,745,80
Deferred Outflows of Resource
Pensiol 200,28: 370,65: 834,82 285,83« 695,61 110,65( 2,497,86:
Other postemployment benefits (OPI 40,15¢ 74,32( 167,39¢ 57,31« 139,48: 22,187 500,85¢
Advance refunding of de = - - - 193,43( = 193,43(
Total deferred outflows of resourt 240,44: 444 97: 1,002,22( 343,14¢ 1,028,52! 132,83 3,192,14
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts payab 51,997 48,55¢ 3,775,24! 80,74¢ 114,90¢ 60,12¢ 4,131,58!
Accrued salaries, wages and bene 30,15¢ 56,58: 132,03 47,05: 51,51¢ 6,02¢ 323,37:
Accrued compensated abser - - - - - - -
Accrued interest payat 5,872 6,05¢ - - 24,14¢ - 36,07«
Unearned reveni - - - - 84,70 - 84,70:
Due to other fund 127,27t 252,05¢ 3,82¢ 101,43: 466,23: 31 950,85t
Due to other governmer 1,048,541 8,72¢ 20,317 7,20¢ 7,94¢ 92¢ 1,093,67
Deposits held and due to otk - - 1,253,49 - - - 1,253,49
Claims and judgments paya - - - - - - -
Capital lease obligatior 625,54: 413,457 982,73t 31,27¢ - - 2,053,01
Payable to American Municipal Pov - - 167,32: - - - 167,32.
General obligation notes payal - 1,800,001 - - - - 1,800,001
General obligation bonds paya 25,00( 330,00( - - 715,00( - 1,070,001
Total current liabilitie 1,914,38 2,915.43( 6,334,98 267,71t 1,464,45! 67,11¢ 12,964,09
Noncurrent Liabilities
Net pension liabilit 798,06: 1,476,92( 3,326,50 1,138,96' 2,771,82i 440,91« 9,953,19!
Net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liak 540,48! 1,000,23 2,252,861 771,36( 1,877,20 298,60 6,740,75!
Accrued compensated abser - - - - - - -
Claims and judgments paya - - - - - - -
Payable to American Municipal Pov - - 1,617,08: - - - 1,617,08:
General obligation bonds paya 480,00( 716,03t - - 9,180,62! - 10,376,65
Total noncurrent liabilitie 1,818,54 3,193,19. 7,196,45. 1,910,32° 13,829,65 739,52: 28,687,69
Total liabilities 3,732,93 6,108,62: 13,531,43 2,178,04: 15,294,11 806,63 41,651,79
Deferred Inflows of Resource
Pensiol 192,19: 355,67: 801,09: 274,28t 667,51: 106,18: 2,396,93!
Other postemployment benefits (OPI 42,59¢ 78,82¢ 177,54¢ 60,79( 147,94: 23,53: 531,23:
Total deferred inflows of resourc 23478 434,50( 978,63¢ 335,07¢ 815 45! 129,71! 2,928,17.
Net Positior
Net investment in capital ass 17,113,49 16,923,48 26,154,72 2,807,68:. 19,072,34 12,276,61 94,348,33
Unrestricter 1,735,66! 3,290,51! 16,746,18 529,12: (1,147,735 (144,107 21,009,64
Total net positio $ 18,849,15 _$ 20,214,00 _$ 42,900,90 $ 3,336,80. _$ 17,92460 _$ 1213251 _$ 115,357,98
Adjustment to consolidate the internal service fastivities related to enterprise fur (577,262
Total net position of business-type activi $ 114,780,72
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds (Continued)

December 31, 2018

Governmental
Activities -
Internal
Service Funds
Assett
Current Assets
Equity in pooled cash and cash equival $ 3,158,15!
Investment 2,993,05:
Receivable
Account:
(net of allowance for uncollectible 111,94¢
Special assessme -
Due from other fund 6,15¢
Due from other governmet 139,27¢
Inventory of supplie 239,29:
Prepaid item 1,24¢
Investment in joint ventur -
Total current asse 6,649,13(
Noncurrent Asset:
Net pension ass 5,11¢
Regulated ass -
Capital Assel
Lanc 21,96(
Buildings 105,95¢
Improvements other than buildir 260,02¢
Equipmen 149,02¢
CIP -
Less: Accumulated depreciat i452,876
Total noncurrent asst 89,21¢
Total asse! 6,738,34!
Deferred Outflows of Resource
Pensiol 135,48t
Other postemployment benefits (OPI 27,167
Advance refunding of de =
Total deferred outflows of resourc 162,650
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts payab 53,67«
Accrued salaries, wages and bene 21,37¢
Accrued compensated abser 2,141,92
Accrued interest payat -
Unearned reveni -
Due to other fund 3,28¢
Due to other governmer 14,50:¢
Deposits held and due to oth -
Claims and judgments paya 362,45!
Capital lease obligatior -
Payable to AM -
General obligation notes payal -
General obligation bonds paya -
Total current liabilitie 2,597,22.
Noncurrent Liabilities
Net pension liabilit 539,86:
Net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liak 8,917,15!
Accrued compensated abser 7,438,76
Claims and judgments paya 21,367
Payable to AM -
General obligation bonds paya -
Total noncurrent liabilitie 16,917,14
Total liabilities 19,514,37
Deferred Inflows of Resource
Pensiol 130,01:
Other postemployment benefits (OP! 1,616,531
Total deferred inflows of resourc 1,746,54
Net Positior
Net investment in capital ass 84,10(
Unrestricter (14,444,01¢

Total net positio

$ 14,359,91¢
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Resition - Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Operating Revenues
Charges for servic
Other

Total operating revenu

Operating Expenses
Personal servic
Fringe benefit
Purchased pow
Materials and supplit
Utilities
Contractual servict
Internal charge
Other
Depreciatiol

Total Operating Expens

Net income (loss) from operatic

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Interest revent
Interest expen:
Gain (loss) from disposal of capital as
Grants

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)

Income (loss) before contributic
and transfel

Capital Contribution
Transfers il
Changes in net positi

Total net position - beginning, as rest:

Total net position - ending

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Adjustment to consolidate the internal service fantvities related to enterprise fur
Change in net position of business-type activities

See accompanying notes to the basic financialrstate
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Storm
Sewage Leisure Drainage
and Disposal Water Electric Sanitation Time Utility Total
$ 8,151,43. $ 5,277,020 $ 50,364,89 $ 3,630,18 $ 5,407,42' $ 1,182,34 $ 74,013,31
251,95 374,53! 687,68 111,72( 1,223,07! 33,48 2,682,45:
8,403,38! 5,651,56 51,052,58 3,741,90 6,630,50: 1,215,83. 76,695,77
742,510 1,386,03 3,322,42! 1,020,13: 2,293,26! 428,58¢ 9,192,95!
399,66¢ 755,72! 1,765,04! 585,47 1,000,62: 251,97. 4,758,50:
- - 36,834,03 - - - 36,834,03
35,34( 429,33 5,211,81: 159,64! 223,14¢ 35,34: 6,094,62
42,462 345,89: 36,49( 13,47¢ 213,26! 492 652,07¢
5,448,05! 69,937 221,94: 841,09: 26,26¢ 173,91: 6,781,21
279,92. 280,01: 1,216,55! 688,67 592,80! 68,302 3,126,26
546,92¢ 510,05t 914,76 111,08¢ 962,79 131,09: 3,176,721
778,72¢ 1,051,06! 1,894,60- 347,86t 926,43 342,96« 5,341,66!
8,273,61 4,828,05 51,417,67 3,767,441 6,238,61 1,432,65! 75,958,05
129,77¢ 823,51( (365,092 (25,539 391,89: (216,828 737,71
(56,417 (80,134 (96,899 (2,671 (249,230 (1,196 (486,547
6,00€ (652, (9,531 16,92¢ (4,260 (56) 8,43t
- - 4,263 58,298 - - 62,561
(50,411) (80,786) (102,167) 72,555 (253,490) (1,252) (415,551)
79,36¢ 742,72: (467,259 47,01¢ 138,40: (218,080 322,16¢
16,22¢ 24,73¢ - - - 245,40: 286,36
- - 1,845,56! - 280,73: - 2,126,29
95,58¢ 767,45¢ 1,378,301 47,01¢ 419,13 27,32: 2,734,82
18,753,56 19,446,54 41,522,60 3,289,78 17,505,47 12,105,18
$ 18,849,157$ 20,214,000 $ 42,900,907 $ 3,336,803 $ 17,924,608 $12,132,510
1,015,37!
$ 3,750,199



City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Positi Proprietary Funds (Continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Governmental
Activities -
Internal
Service Funds

Operating Revenues

Charges for servic $ 9,758,75!
Other 782,58

Total operating revenu 10,541,33

Operating Expenses

Personal servici 1,409,231
Fringe benefit 4,003,30!
Purchased pow -
Materials and supplit 1,119,78
Utilities 10,13:
Contractual servict 95,85(
Internal charge 133,45t
Other 266,88:
Depreciatiol 3,087

Total Operating Expens 7,041,72!

Net income (loss) from operatic 3,499,61

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Interest revent 15,89:¢
Interest expen: -
Gain (loss) from disposal of capital as (86)
Grants -
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 15,807
Income (loss) before contributic
and transfel 3,515,41!

Capital Contribution -

Transfers i -
Changes in net positi 3,515,41!

Total net position - beginning, as rest: (17,875,332

Total net position - ending $ (14,359,915)
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Storm
Sewage Leisure Drainage
and Disposal Water Electric Sanitation Time Utility Total
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Cash received from customers $ 8,685,79$ 5,815,980 $ 52,169,754 $ 3,794,226 $ 6,631,908 $ 1,274,599 $ 78,372,266
Cash payments to employees
service (727,927 (1,357,905 (3,247,815 (996,884 (2,274,769 (425,352 (9,030,652
Cash payments to employees
benefit (277,411 (529,293 (1,253,205 (410,600 (581,028 (185,167 (3,236,704
Cash payments to suppliers
goods and servic (6,531,480 (1,710,579 _ (44,696,054 (1,918,539 (2,049,486 (389,412 (57,295,55C
Net cash provided by (used in) opera
activities 1,148,98: 2,218,20: 2,972,681 468,20: 1,726,62! 274,66¢ 8,809,361
Cash Flows From Non-Capital
Financing Activities
Grant proceet - - 4,26 58,29¢ - - 62,56
Transfers il - - 1,845,56! - 280,73. - 2,126,29
Net cash provided |
non-capital financing activitit - - 1,849,82 58,29¢ 280,73 - 2,188,85!
Cash Flows From Capital and Related
Financing Activities
Acquisition of capital asse (74,028 (201,163 (1,394,314 (643,214 (120,868 (157,885 (2,591,472
Grant proceet - 14,77t - 9,56 - 87,82( 112,15¢
Proceeds from the sale
capital asse 6,40( 24C 381 13,86( - - 20,88:
Bond/note procee 505,00( 1,816,81: - - - - 2,321,81.
Debt servic
Principa (1,540,409 (3,001,183 (2,796,679 (29,968 (725,000 (46,009 (8,139,248
Interes (71,888 (123,738 (116,367 (2,670 (304,100 (1,196 (619,959
Net cash provided by (used in) car
and related financing activiti (1,174,925 (1,494,257 (4,306,979 (652,429 (1,149,968 (117,270 (8,895,828
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest revent - - - - - - -
Sale of investmen 2,022,07. 2,699,40: 7,379,56 1,464,61. 1,969,76' 156,55: 15,691,97
Purchase of investmel (1,544,505 _ (2,431,889 (5,934,333 (1,066,444 _ (1,935,102 (197,334 (13,109,607
Net cash provided by (used
investing activitie 477,56¢ 267,51: 1,445,23 398,16¢ 34,66 (40,782 2,582,36.
Net increase in ca
and cash equivaler 451,62¢ 991,45¢ 1,960,76! 272,24( 892,05« 116,61¢ 4,684,75:
Cash and cash equivalent
Beginning of Yes 1,170,24! 1,562,241 4,270,81! 847,62: 1,139,97. 90,60z 9,081,49:
Cash and cash equivalent
end of year $ 1,621,869 $ 2,553,699 $ 6,231,575 $ 1,119,862 $ 2,032,028 $ 207,218 $ 13,766,251

See accompanying notes to the basic financialretaie
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds (Continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Governmental
Activities -
Internal
Service Funds

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Cash received from customers $ 10,489,787
Cash payments to employees

service: (985,488
Cash payments to employees

benefit: (7,417,404
Cash payments to suppliers

goods and servic (1,731,462
Net cash provided by (used in) opera

activities 355,43:

Cash Flows From Non-Capital
Financing Activities
Grant proceec -
Transfers il -

Net cash provided |
non-capital financing activitic -

Cash Flows From Capital and Related
Financing Activities
Acquisition of capital asse -
Grant Procee( -
Proceeds from the sale
capital asse -
Bond/note procee: -
Debt servic
Principa -
Interes -

Net cash provided by (used in) car
and related financing activiti -

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Interest revent 15,89:
Sale of investmen 3,660,801
Purchase of investmel (2,993,052
Net cash provided by (used

investing activitie 683,64

Net increase in ca
and cash equivaler 1,039,07:

Cash and cash equivalent
Beginning of Yee 2,119,08

Cash and cash equivalent
end of year $ 3,158,158
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds (Continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Storm
Sewage Leisure Drainage
and Disposal Water Electric Sanitation Time Utility Total
Reconciliation of Operating Income
(Loss) to Net cash provided by
(Used in) Operating Activities
Operating Income (Loss) $ 129,775 $ 823,510 $ (365,092) $ (25539) $ 391,891 $ (216,828) $ 737,717
Adjustments to reconcile operat
income (loss) to net cash providec
(used in) operating activitie
Depreciatiol 778,720 1,051,06: 1,894,60. 347,86¢ 926,43¢ 342,96 5,341,66
Decrease (increase) in operating assets
increase (decrease) in operating liabili
Receivable 110,69: 44,40] 293,21t 4,881 (4,570 39,55¢ 488,18
Due from other fund (7,335, (76) 55,08¢ 53¢ - (2,546 45,66¢
Due from other governmer 58,96¢ - 17,147 - - - 76,11:
Inventory of supplie (6,468 29,26¢ 53,65¢ (27,226 (25,557 89 23,751
Prepaid item 4,43¢ 7,24z 9,28( (6,609 9,791 (6,022 18,11¢
Investment in joint ventur - - 377,34( - - - 377,34(
Deferred outflows of resources - pens 258,16« 477,76¢ 1,076,08! 368,44. 896,65: 142,63: 3,219,73.
Deferred outflows of resources - OF (32,811 (60,721 (136,764 (46,827 (113,959 (18,127 (409,209
Accounts payab
- net of items affecting capital ass 16,25¢ 4,75(C 43,56 (7,413 36,38( 47,75¢ 141,28¢
Accrued salaries, wages and ben 14,58¢ 28,12¢ 74,61( 23,24¢ 18,50( 3,232 162,30:¢
Due to other func (16,447 5,51« (36) (14,807 (51,885 3 (77,658
Due to other governmer (54,209 2,314 9,021 1,98: 2,851 16C (37,874
Deposits held and due to oth - - 10,06¢ - - - 10,06¢
Other post-employment bent -
obligatior - - - - - - -
Claims and judgments paya - - - - - - -
Unearned reveni - - - - 5,974 - 5,97¢
Deferred inflows of resources - pens 181,30¢ 335,53¢ 755,73« 258,75t 629,71¢ 100,17( 2,261,22.
Deferred inflows of resources - OP 42,59 78,82¢ 177,54¢ 60,79( 147,94 23,53: 531,23
Net pension liabilit (364,060 (673,740 (1,517,485 (519,573 (1,264,451 (201,136 (4,540,445
Net OPEB liability 34,81 64,42¢ 145,10: 49,68 120,90¢ 19,23: 434,16
Total adjustmen 1,019,20 1,394,69: 3,337,77. 493,74. 1,334,73. 491,49¢ 8,071,64.
Net cash provided by (used
operating activities $ 1,148,981 $ 2,218,203 $ 2,972,680 $ 468,203 $ 1,726,625 $ 274,668 _$ 8,809,360

During 2018, the Sewage and Disposal, Water, aodrSDrainage Utility Enterprise Funds received dbnitions in the form of capital assets from prevdevelopers in
the amount of $16,225, $9,960, and $6,775, resmgti In addition, the Storm Drainage Utility Fureteived contributions in the form of capital asseom the Capital
Projects Fund in the amount of $150,806.
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds (Continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Governmental
Activities -
Internal
Service Funds

Reconciliation of Operating Income
(Loss) to Net cash provided by
(Used in) Operating Activities

Operating Income (Loss) $ 3,499,611

Adjustments to reconcile operat
income (loss) to net cash providec
(used in) operating activitie

Depreciatiol 3,087
Decrease (increase) in operating assets
increase (decrease) in operating liabili

Receivable (94,493
Due from other fund 17
Due from other governmet 45,34¢
Inventory of supplie (33,515
Prepaid itemr 1,50¢
Investment in joint ventur -
Deferred outflows of resources - pens 174,63°
Deferred outflows of resources - OF (22,196
Accounts payab

- net of items affecting capital ass (75,107
Accrued salaries, wages and ben 423,74
Due to other func (660
Due to other governmet 12,901

Deposits held and due to ott -
Other post-employment ben: -
obligatior (2,907,638

Claims and judgments paya (294,304
Unearned reveni -
Deferred inflows of resources - pens 122,65(
Deferred inflows of resources - OP 1,616,53
Net pension liabilit (246,274
Net OPEB liability (1,870,414
Total adjustmen (3,144,178
Net cash provided by (used
operating activities $ 355,433
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Fiduciary Fumls

December 31, 2018

Assets
Current Assets
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted
Investments
Income taxes receivable
Due from other governments
Total assets

Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Due to other governments
Deposits held and due to others

Total liabilities

See accompanying notes to the basic financialmtates
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Agency
Funds

867,717
500
826,325
7,721
228,316
1,930,579

1,107,803
822,776

1,930,579



City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2018

NOTE 1 - REPORTING ENTITY

The City of Cuyahoga Falls (the “City”) operatesaggolitical subdivision of the State of Ohio. T¢tmmmunity was
founded in 1812, became a township in 1851, wasrparated as a village in 1868 and became a city0. The
City Charter was first adopted on November 3, 1%&®] became effective on January 1, 1960. The &hart
establishes a strong Mayor-Council form of governme

The City provides municipal services such as pddicd fire protection, emergency medical serviceniagstration

of justice, community planning and developmentreational and cultural activities, street mainta@arcemetery
operations, environmental services and other fanstinecessary for general government. The City aps@vates
certain enterprise operations such as water aritheagsewer service, refuse collection, electristrbution, storm
drainage utilities, and recreation facilities thaclude a natatorium, a golf course, driving rabgéing

cages/miniature golf, an outdoor water park andramunity center.

The accompanying financial statements comply with provisions of the Governmental Accounting Stadsla
Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, The Financial RepgrEntity, as amended by Statement No. 61, Tharieial
Reporting Entity: Omnibus, and Statement No. 39teBrining Whether Certain Organizations are Compbne
Units, in that the financial statements includesthactivities and functions in which the City (te@orting entity) is
financially accountable. Financial accountability defined as the appointment of a voting majonfy the
component unit's board, and either (1) the Citysliy to impose its will over the component unitr (2) the
possibility that the component unit will providefinancial benefit to or impose a financial burdentbe City. In
addition, certain organizations are also included@mponent units if the nature and significancthefrelationship
between the primary government and the organizasosuch that exclusion by the primary governmentla
render the primary government’s financial statemémtomplete or misleading. Based on this critdtia City has
one component unit.

Component unit — The Community Improvement Corporatof Cuyahoga Falls (CIC) is a not for profit
corporation to advance, encourage, and promoténthestrial, commercial, civic, and economic develgmt of
Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio, under the applicable sectidrthe Ohio Revised Code. The City has assumfthacial
burden to the component unit by permitting the @Ckeep proceeds from the sale of City property tfair
operations and paying portions of tax incremenarfiring received from the Summit County Fiscal @ffito the
CIC. Since this funding represents a significamittipn of CIC revenue, the organization is fiscalgpendent on
the City. Also, the majority of the CIC’s boardappointed by the City. The City has chosen therdie method of
presentation of CIC because it provides servicghdgmrimary government and the citizens of they @& opposed
to only the primary government. The discrete méthbpresentation requires component unit dataetoeiported
together with, but separately from the data ofghimary government in the government-wide finansitatements.
Complete financial statement for the CIC may beawiatd at the entity’s administrative offices, 28dkond Street,
Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio 44221.

The City participates in the Akron Metropolitan Ardransportation Study and the Boston Township-©ity
Cuyahoga Falls Joint Economic Development Distrithese jointly governed organizations are disaligseNote
20 of the basic financial statements.

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The basic financial statements of the City havenbgeepared in conformity with generally acceptedoamting

principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental uniehe Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB
the accepted standard-setting body for establisfpgvgrnmental accounting and financial reportinggples. The
more significant of the City's accounting policae described below.

53



City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

- ]
NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
A. Basis of Presentation

The City’s basic financial statements consist ofegament-wide financial statements, including desteent of net
position and a statement of activities, and fundficial statements, which provide a more detadedllof financial
information.

Government-wide Financial Statements

The statement of net position and the statemeatwfities report information on all of the nonfary activities

of the primary government and its component unibterfund activity, and related interfund receivebland
payables, have been eliminated in the governmea¢-wstatements. These eliminations remove the chiplg

effect on assets, liabilities, revenues and expetisat would otherwise occur. Internal servicedfibalances,
whether positive or negative, have been eliminagainst governmental activity program expenses shiowthe

statement of activities. Other activities fromeiritind services provided and used are not elimihat¢he process
of consolidation.

The statement of net position presents the findroiadition of the governmental and business-tygieviies of the
City at year-end. The statement of activities enés a comparison between direct expenses andapnogvenues
for each program or function of the City’s govermtag activities and business-type activities. Direxpenses are
those that are clearly identifiable with a specffinction or segment. Program revenues includecliBrges to
customers or applicants who purchase, use, orthjirbenefit from goods, services, or privileges pded by a
function or segment and (2) grants and contribstitimat are restricted to meeting the operationatapital
requirements of a particular function of segmeevenues which are not classified as program rease@ue
presented as general revenues of the City withaicelimited exceptions. The comparison of direqienses with
program revenues identifies the extent to whichhegmvernmental program or business activity is-Beéncing or
draws from the general revenues of the City.

Fund Financial Statements

Fund financial statements are designated to prdésemtcial information of the City at a more detdllevel. The
focus of governmental and proprietary fund finahstatements is on major funds. Major individual/grnmental
funds and major individual enterprise funds, whintiude all enterprise funds, are reported as s¢paolumns in
the fund financial statements. Nonmajor governiaefninds are aggregated and presented in a siofjlena on the
governmental fund statements. Governmental aietivinternal service funds are aggregated and mueben a
single column in the proprietary fund statementhe City’s only business-type internal service futiee Utility

Billing Fund, which is a billing and collections egmtion for the City’s utility enterprise funds: eage and
Disposal, Water, Electric, Sanitation, and StornaiBage Utility have been directly reported in thdeeds.

Fiduciary funds are reported by type.

B. Fund Accounting

The City uses funds to maintain its financial retsoduring the year. A fund is defined as a fisgad accounting
entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. TEhare three categories of funds: governmental, rjgiapy, and
fiduciary.

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are those through which mosegouental functions typically are financed. Goveental
fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses arahded of current financial resources. Expendabdeta are
assigned to the various governmental funds accgrirthe purpose for which they may or must be usédrrent
liabilities are assigned to the fund from whichythvéll be paid. The difference between governmefitad assets
and liabilities is reported as fund balance. Tdifving are the City’'s major governmental funds:
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General Fund

This fund accounts for all financial resourcesa City except those required to be accountednf@miother
fund. The General Fund balance is available taQitg for any purpose provided it is expended ansferred
according to the Charter of the City of Cuyahoghlsrand/or the general laws of Ohio. In additibfynicipal
Income Tax Fund activity has been blended withGleaeral Fund for financial reporting, and is nqiassately
reported.

Capital Projects Fund
This fund accounts for financial resources to bedu®r the acquisition or construction of major italp
facilities (other than those financed by proprigtamnds and trust funds).

The other governmental funds of the City accoungfants and other resources, which are restrictedparticular
purpose.

Proprietary Fund Types
Proprietary fund reporting focuses on the detertionaof operating income, changes in net positifimancial
position, and cash flows. Proprietary funds aassified as either enterprise or internal service.

Enterprise Funds
Enterprise funds may be used to account for anyiggcfor which a fee is charged to external uskmsgoods or
services. The following are the City’'s major entesg funds:

Sewage and Disposal Fund
This fund accounts for sanitary sewer service ghedito residential and commercial users withinGltg.

Water Fund

This fund accounts for the provision of water tneamt and distribution to residential and commerosgrs
within the City, the City of Munroe Falls, the \dfje of Silver Lake and certain other residents iwitose
proximity.

Electric Fund
This fund accounts for the distribution of eledtsido residential and commercial users within @igy.

Sanitation Fund
This fund accounts for the refuse and recyclindectibn services provided to residential and conuia¢users
within the City.

Leisure Time Fund
This fund accounts for the revenues and expenses) aiutdoor swimming pool, a Community Recreation
Center, a municipal golf course/driving range/latttages/miniature golf facility and a civic culilicenter.

Storm Drainage Utility Fund

This fund accounts for monies received for themstsewer infrastructure repair and upgrade. Theseien

will be used to construct, equip, operate, repamprove, extend and maintain open drainage ways,
underground storm drains, equipment and appurtesamecessary. Also, used for improvements and
maintenance of the drainage systems.
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Internal Service Funds

Internal Service Funds account for the financinggobds or services provided by one department efGity to
other departments or agencies of the City on amsdstoursement basis. The City has the followintgiinal service
funds, which are described in the combining statégmend individual fund statements section: Gar&gf
Insurance, Workers’ Compensation and Compensateserdes. All of the City's internal service funds ar
nonmajor funds.

Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary Fund reporting focuses on net positiod ahanges in net position. The fiduciary fund gatg is split

into four classifications: pension trust funds,a@stment trust funds, private-purpose trust funds agency funds.
Trust funds are used to account for assets heldhbyCity under a trust agreement for individualsyvaie

organizations, or other governments and are therefot available to support the City’s own prograriifie City of
Cuyahoga Falls has no trust funds. Agency Funelgastodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) da not involve
measurement of results and operations.

The City's agency funds account for money receifrech the City for employer pension and Medicare mats,
employee withholdings, deposits held for contractmd developers, unclaimed monies, money on depitkithe
Cuyahoga Falls Mayor's Court, and activity of thesBon Township-City of Cuyahoga Falls Joint Ecoromi
Development District.

C. Measurement Focus

Government-wide Financial Statements
The government-wide financial statements are pezgbasing a flow of economic resources measurenoensf All
assets and liabilities associated with operatioth@fCity are included on the Statement of Net tRosi

Fund Financial Statements

All governmental funds are accounted for usingoavfbf current financial resources measurement fodtfgth this

measurement focus, only current assets and culiednilities generally are included on the balanbeet. The
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changesdnbalances reports on the sources (i.e., r@gand other
financing sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures athdr financing uses) of current financial resesrc This
approach differs from the manner in which the gowgental activities of the government-wide finanadtements
are prepared. Governmental fund financial statesngrerefore include a reconciliation with briefoéanations to
better identify the relationship between the gowent-wide statements and the statements for goaraifunds.

Like the government-wide statements, all proprietands are accounted for on a flow of economimueses
measurement focus. All assets and liabilities @ased with the operation of these funds are inetudn the
statement of fund net position. The statementesEnues, expenses and changes in fund net popitesents
increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.eensgg) in total net position. The statement ofi dksvs provides
information about how the City finances and mebts ¢ash flow needs of its proprietary activitieBhe agency
funds do not report on measurement focus, as theytreport operations.

D. Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting determines when transactiomsemorded in the financial records and reportetherfinancial
statements. Government-wide financial statemem@eepared using the accrual basis of accoungiraprietary
and fiduciary funds also use the accrual basicobanting. Governmental funds use the modifiedwsidasis of
accounting. Differences in the accrual and modifiecrual basis of accounting arise in the recagnibf revenue,
the recording of deferred inflows of resources alefierred outflows of resources, and in the presenteof
expenses versus expenditures.
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Revenues - Exchange and Non-exchange Transactions

Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, irtctwbhach party gives and receives essentially eqaiale, is

recorded on the accrual basis when the exchangs fakce. On a modified accrual basis, revenuecisrded in

the fiscal year in which the resources are meatiaid become available. Available means thatdkeurces will

be collected within the current fiscal year or arpected to be collected soon enough thereaftbe tased to pay
liabilities of the current fiscal year. For thetyWiavailable means expected to be received wihity days of year-
end.

Non-exchange transactions, in which the City rezeivalue without directly giving equal value inumet, include
income taxes, property taxes, grants, entitlemantsdonations. On an accrual basis, revenue fneome taxes is
recognized in the period in which the income imedr Revenue from property taxes is recognizetéryear for
which the taxes are levied (See Note 4). Reverara frants, entittements and donations is recognizehe year
in which all eligibility requirements have beenisfi¢d. Eligibility requirements include timing qairements,
which specify the year when resources are requeoe used or the year when use is first permitteatching
requirements, in which the City must provide locedources to be used for a specified purpose, gpenditure
requirements, in which the resources are provigethé City on a reimbursement basis. On a modifiectual
basis, revenue from non-exchange transactions alssbe available before it can be recognized.

Under the modified accrual basis, the followingenewe sources are considered to be both measurabkevailable
at year-end: income tax, state-levied locally stiaeexes (including gasoline tax), fines and forfedss, interest,
tuition, grants, fees and rentals.

Expenses/Expenditures

On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses aogmne&ed at the time they are incurred. The memsent focus
of governmental fund accounting is on decreaseseinfinancial resources (expenditures) rather thgoenses.
Expenditures are generally recognized in the adtogirperiod in which the related fund liability iscurred, if
measurable. Allocations of cost, such as depieociand amortization, are not recognized in govesmtal funds.

Budgetary Data

The budgetary process is prescribed by Chartebgrttie provisions of the Ohio Revised Code (ORG) antails
the preparation of budgetary documents within aabdished timetable. The major documents preparedthe
Alternative Tax Budget Information Form, the OffitiCertificate of Estimated Resources and the Ampgation
Ordinance(s), all of which are prepared on the letahy basis of accounting.

All funds other than the Agency Funds are legadiguired to be budgeted. The Cemetery Perpetual Ramaanent
Fund is not reported on a budgetary basis, asuthe did not have expenditures on a non-GAAP budgdtasis.
However, only governmental funds are reported.

Tax Budget
The Summit County Budget Commission (the “Commisyitnas waived the requirement for a taxing autlyaio

officially adopt a tax budget, pursuant to ORC. wéwer, the Commission requires a taxing authoatgamplete
and file an Alternative Tax Budget Form (prelimipdinancial plan) with the County Fiscal Officer @n before
July 20" for all subdivisions excluding school districtshieh file their form on or before January"™20The form is
prepared to assist the Commission in performing theties, including the division of the tax ratesd the creation
of the Official Certificate of Estimated Resourc@&e following schedules are provided in the form:

Levies inside and outside ten mill limitation, linsive of debt levies.

Detailed statement of fund activity for the Gehénand and any other fund that receives propery ta
Aggregate statement of fund activity for all othedgeted funds.

Unvoted general obligation debt.

Voted debt outside ten mill limit.

Tax anticipation notes.
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Estimated Resources

The Commission certifies its actions regarding Trex Budget to the City by September 1. As parttho$
certification, the City receives the Official Céidate of Estimated Resources, which states thpgted receipts of
each fund. On or about January 1, this certificeEamended to include any balances from the pregegear. The
Certificate of Estimated Resources may also be determluring the year if projected increases or ds@® in
revenue are identified by the Finance DirectorioPio December 31, the City must revise its budgethat the
total contemplated expenditures from any fund dytime ensuing fiscal year will not exceed the amatiated in
the Certificate of Estimated Resources. The revizadiget then serves as the basis for the annuabpigtion
measure.

Since the Official Certificate of Estimated Res@#ds based on the Alternative Tax Budget Inforamatrorm,

which is preliminary in nature, the amounts repors the original budgeted amounts on the budgstatgments
are based on the first Amended Official CertificateEstimated Resources to which the original appabions are
based. The amounts reported as the final budgetedints on the budgetary statements reflect thauataon the
final Amended Certificate of Estimated Resources.

Appropriations
City Charter, Article VI, Section 6. Estimated Budg; Allotments, states before the beginning ohdecal year,

the head of each office and department shall sutentfie Mayor, at a time designated by him, amesid budget
for the coming fiscal year, which estimate shathwlthe requested allotments of the appropriatiornt estimated
income for such office or department for the entimdendar year. The Mayor shall then request Gbuac
determine and approve the budget for each officdepartment and the aggregate of such allotmestapproved
by Council, shall not exceed the total estimatedifuavailable to all offices and departments ferfthcal year. In
addition, Article VI, Section 7, states the MaybaH file a copy of the budget as approved by toeril, with the
Director of Finance, who shall authorize all expaumnes for the offices, departments and agencidsetmade from
the appropriations on the basis of approved alionatand not otherwise. An approved appropriaticay rbe
revised during the fiscal year in the same mangaédha original appropriation was made. If, at ametduring the
fiscal year, the Finance Director and the Mayoillskecertain that the available income, plus baganfor the year
will be less than the total appropriations, the braghall request the Council to reconsider the btalgnd
appropriations so as to forestall the making ofeexjitures in excess of the said income.

The Appropriation Ordinance represents City Coundithorization to spend resources and sets animoigs lon

expenditures of the resources. The initial leviebadgetary control is passed by City Council a fhnd level,

department and object level (Personal ServicessrfGBiperations, Capital Outlay, Debt Service anch3fiers) with

further restrictions prohibiting the transfer ohfis between departments of a particular fund anditig transfers
of sums between line items of a department, attiamgy within the fiscal year which exceed in the Egmte seven
percent of the amount originally appropriated ia time item from which the transfer is made, but twoexceed
$10,000. The City Finance Director is authorizgddharter to transfer funds already appropriatesvéen funds
and departments; however, any revisions that chémgeotal fund appropriations or exceed the limdéstricting

transfers of sums between line items must be agprby City Council. The Appropriation Ordinancesighject to
amendment throughout the year with the restrictioat appropriations cannot exceed estimated ressuiEs
certified by the Commission.

The amounts reported as the original budgeted atsaafiect the original Appropriation OrdinanceheTamounts
reported as the final budgeted amounts represeriirtal Appropriation Ordinance, including all andements and
modifications passed by City Council in Decembet&0

Lapsing of Appropriations

At the close of each year, the unencumbered balaineach appropriation reverts to the respectivel fllom which
it was appropriated and becomes subject to futppeagpriations. The encumbered appropriation b&ascarried
forward to the succeeding year and is not reapatsut.
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Encumbrances

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase qrdergracts and other commitments for the experaliof
monies are recorded in order to reserve that podfahe applicable appropriation, is employed m&xtension of
formal budgetary integration in the governmentaldst Encumbrances outstanding at year end areteepas
assigned, committed, or restricted fund balancegawnernmental fund financial statements since tHeynot
constitute expenditures or liabilities.

Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents and Inva&¢ments

Cash balances of the City’s funds are pooled amésied in investments in order to provide improwagh
management. The restricted cash and cash equivdl@m the following funds are not included in tB&y’s
pooled cash and investments: Cemetery Perpetua Barmanent Fund and Evidence Deposit Agency Fund.
These investments consist of repurchase agreen8ate, Treasury Asset Reserve of Ohio (STAR Olaind, other
government securities.

Investments maturing within three months of purehaisd investments of the pool are included in “Bgim Pooled
Cash and Cash Equivalents.” For purposes of titeraents of cash flows, cash and cash equivalemtsist of
cash and highly liquid short-term investments witlyinal maturities of three months or less.

The City’s investment in State Treasury Asset Res@f Ohio (STAR Ohio) is an investment pool marthgy

State Treasurer’s Office which allows governmenithiw the State to pool their funds for investmenirposes.
STAR Ohio is not registered with the SEC as anstment company and is recognized as an externasiment
pool by the City. The City measures their invesimi@ STAR Ohio as the net asset value (NAV) pearsh
provided by STAR Ohio. The NAV per share is caltetl on an amortized cost basis that provides a [J&V
share that approximates fair value. For 2018 etlnegre no limitation or restrictions on any paparnt withdrawals
due to redemption notice periods, liquidity feesyedemption gates. However, notice must be gR4mours in
advance of all deposits and withdrawals exceedigg fiillion. STAR Ohio reserves the right to linhe

transaction to $100 million, requiring the exces®ant to be transacted the following business dab(g only to

the $100 million limit. All accounts of the paifient will be combined for these purposes.

Invested monies are stated at fair value, withekeeption of participating interest-earning congabat have a
remaining maturity at time of purchase of one yeatess, which are reported at amortized cost. rEporting
purposes, interest earned by the cash and invespoehhas been reported as interest income by#reeral Fund
in accordance with Ohio Revised Code, with the ptioa of the Debt Service Fund, Federal Law Enforest
Fund, Cemetery Perpetual Care Permanent Fund anéevi®o Compensation Internal Service Fund. Based o
Ordinance 122-1992, interest generated by the WerkiImpensation fund balance is to remain withfthnel.

Inventory of Supplies

On Government-wide financial statements, invensoné supplies are presented at cost and inventbeés for
resale are presented at the lower of cost or marketfirst-in, first-out basis and are expenseémised.

On fund financial statements, inventories of goweental funds are stated at cost and inventorigsrayfrietary

funds are stated at the lower of cost or markeidr & funds, cost is determined on a first-instfiout basis. The
cost of inventory items is recorded as an experdlitu governmental funds when purchased and ax@anse in

the proprietary fund types when used. Reportedlmspmventory is equally offset by nonspendabledfbalance in
governmental funds, which indicates that it doesaumstitute “available spendable resources” ebeudh it is a
component of net current assets. Inventory caneiséxpendable supplies held for consumption sales
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Prepaid items

Payments made to vendors for services that wilefieperiods beyond December 31, 2018, are recoadqurepaid
items. On the government-wide and proprietary fstadements, prepaid items are recorded usingahgumption
method by recording a current asset for the prepaidunt and reflecting the expense in the yearhichvservices
are consumed. On the fund financial statemengsatiual payment for these services is recordesh &penditure
when purchased. Reported prepaid items are eqofifigt by nonspendable fund balance, which indgdbat it
does not constitute “available spendable resoureesii though it is a component of net current asset

Capital Assets

General capital assets are those specifically &gsocwith general governmental activities. Thassets primarily
result from expenditures in the governmental fundSeneral capital assets are reported in the gowemtal
activities column of the government-wide statemehtnet position but are not reported in the fundaficial
statements. Capital assets utilized by the prtarsifunds are reported in both the business-typieities column
of the government-wide statement of net positioth iarthe respective fund statements.

All capital assets are capitalized at cost (ornestied historical cost) and updated for additiond eatirements
during the year. Donated capital assets are redaatitheir acquisition value as of the date remkivThe City has a
capitalization threshold to $5,000. The City'srastructure consists of roads, bridges, culverity, $ldewalks and
traffic signalization. Improvements that add te talue of the asset or materially extend the dif@an asset are
capitalized. The cost of normal maintenance anphire that does not meet the capitalization cHtasi not

capitalized. Interest incurred in capital projemtgluring construction periods is not capitalized.

All capital assets are depreciated with the exoeptif land and construction in progress. Thesdtalagssets are
depreciated over the remaining useful lives ofrtated asset. Useful lives for infrastructure evestimated based
on the City’s historical records of necessary improents and replacement. Depreciation is compusaty the
straight-line method over the following useful ke

Assets Years
Buildings 10-50
Improvements 5-50
Machinery and Equipment 5-30
Infrastructure 25-50

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred inflows of resources represent an acduisif net position that applies to a future peradi will not be
recognized until that time. For the City, deferieflows of resources include property taxes, pemsOPEB, and
unavailable revenue. Property taxes represent atmdor which there is an enforceable legal clammpBDecember
31, 2018, but which were levied to finance year@0perations. These amounts have been recordadieferred
inflow on both the government-wide statement of pesition and governmental fund financial statersent
Unavailable revenue is reported only on the govermal funds balance sheet, and represents reces/alflich
will not be collected within the available periodtor the City, unavailable revenue includes investirearnings,
delinquent property taxes, grants and entitlementsyicipal income taxes, special assessments, bhadjes for
services meeting the availability criteria. Theseounts are deferred and recognized as an inflorgesufurces in
the period the amounts become available. Defeméidws of resources related to pension and OPEBsp&e
reported on the government-wide and proprietarg$ustatements of net position. (See Note 7 and 8).
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Deferred Outflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statements of finanp@ition will sometimes report a separate sectmndeferred

outflows of resources. Deferred outflow of res@screpresent a consumption of net position thptiepto a

future period and will not be recognized as anloutfof resources (expense/expenditure) until thEor the City,

deferred outflows of resources are reported omgtvernment-wide and proprietary funds statementsbposition

for a deferral on debt refunding, pension, and OPBRIeferral on refunding results from from théelience in the
carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisiprice. This amount is deferred and amortizegl dlve shorter
of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. Tdeferred outflows of resources related to penaiwh OPEB plans
are explained in Note 7 and 8.

Interfund Balances

On the fund financial statements, unpaid amountsnterfund services are reported as “Due to/frahep funds.”
Interfund loans, that are determined to be longyeare classified as “Advances to/from other fundal are
equally offset by a fund balance reserve accouhictwindicates that they do not constitute avadadstpendable
resources. These amounts are eliminated in thergmental and business-type activities column$iefstatement
of net position, except for any residual amounts Hatween governmental and business-type activitibkh are
presented as internal balances.

Compensated Absences

The City reports compensated absences in accordegitttéhe provisions of GASB Statement No. B8counting
for Compensated Absences. Vacation and compensatory time benefits areugccas a liability as the benefits are
earned, since these amounts are attributable vicesralready rendered and the probability exisas the City will
compensate employees for these benefits throughtipaé off or compensation. Sick leave benefits arcrued as
a liability using the termination method. An aadris made to the extent that it is probable theatdfits will result

in termination payments. The liability is an esiis based on the City’s past experience of maléngpibation
payments.

The entire compensated absences liability is regoirt the Compensated Absences Internal Service Buod on
the government-wide financial statements.

For governmental funds, the current portion of udgampensated absences is the amount of maturegessated
absences expected to be paid using expendableafateailinancial resources. These amounts are iadlud
“accrued salaries, wages and benefits” in the furmlm which employees are paid. The noncurrentigroof the
liability is not reported. In proprietary fund &g, the entire amount of compensated absencegaged as a fund
liability.

Pensions/Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

For purposes of measuring the net pension OPEBIitydfasset), deferred outflows of resources amdeded
inflows of resources related to pensions/OPEB, pasion/OPEB expense, information about the fidycreet
position of the pension/OPEB plans and additionsleductions from their fiduciary net positon haveeb
determined on the same basis as they are repoytdtelpension/OPEB plan. For this purpose, bepafjiments
(including refunds of employee contributions) aeeagnized when due and payable in accordance gtivénefit
terms. The pension/OPEB plans report investmeirftsravalue.
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Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities and long-termightions are reported in the government-wide fimarstatements,
and all payables, accrued liabilities and long-tenligations payable from proprietary funds areorégd on the
proprietary fund financial statements.

In general, governmental fund payables and acdiabdities, which are paid in a timely manner andfull from

current financial resources, are reported as didige of the funds. However, claims and judgmemisd
compensated absences that will be paid from goventeh funds are reported as a liability in the fdim&ncial

statements only to the extent that they are dug@dyment during the current year. Bonds and longr-teans are
recognized as a liability on the governmental fdiméncial statements when due. Net pension/OPE&Biliiy

should be recognized in the governmental fund$éoextent that benefit payments are due and payafdethe
pension/OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position is naffisient for payment of those benefits.

Fund Balance

Fund balance is divided into five classificatiorsséd primarily on the extent to which the City aabd to observe
constraints imposed upon the use of the resourtabhe governmental funds. The classifications awasas
follows:

Nonspendable — The nonspendable fund balance classificationuded amounts that cannot be spent
because they are not spendable in form, or legallgontractually required to be maintained intddte
“not in spendable form” criterion includes itemsathare not expected to be converted to cash. dt als
includes the long-term amount of loans receivaddewell as property acquired for resale, unlessisiecof
the proceeds from the collection of those receestir from the sale of those properties is restiict
committed, or assigned.

Restricted — Fund balance is reported as restricted when @nt&t placed on the use of resources are
either externally imposed by creditors (such asubh debt covenants), grantors, contributors, ws lar
regulations of other governments or is imposedamythrough constitutional provisions.

Committed — The committed fund balance classification inchidenounts that can be used only for the
specific purposes imposed by a formal action (@dae) of the City’s Council. Those committed ameunt
cannot be used for any other purpose unless thes@ouncil removes or changes the specified use by
taking the same type of action (ordinance) it emppibto previously commit those amounts. Committed
fund balance also incorporates contractual oblgatito the extent that existing resources in tine tuave
been specifically committed for use in satisfyihgde contractual requirements.

Assigned — Amounts in the assigned fund balance classifioatire intended to be used by the City for
specific purposes but do not meet the criteriagclassified as restricted or committed. In governtal
funds other than the General Fund, assigned fut@hba represents the remaining amount that is not
restricted or committed. These amounts are assitpye@ity Council. In the General Fund, assigned
amounts represent intended uses established byO8itycil or a City official delegated that authgprity
City Charter, ordinance, or State statute. St#éute authorizes the Finance Director to assigrd fu
balance for purchases on order provided such amdave been lawfully appropriated.

Unassigned — Unassigned fund balance is the residual claasidic for the General Fund and includes all
spendable amounts not contained in the other Glzstsdns. In the other governmental funds, the
unassigned classification is used only to repadeficit balance resulting from overspending for Gfie
purposes for which amounts had been restrictedngtied, or assigned.
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The City applies restricted resources first whepegxditures are incurred for purposes for whichegitiestricted or
unrestricted (committed, assigned, and unassigaet)unts are available. Similarly, within unres#tttfund
balance, committed amounts are reduced first falbwy assigned, and then unassigned amounts when
expenditures are incurred for purposes for whictowamts in any of the unrestricted fund balance dlaations
could be used.

Net Position

Net position represents the difference betweenotiker elements in a statement of financial positioNet
investment in capital assets consists of capitsgtas net of accumulated depreciation, reducedéyutstanding
balances of any borrowing used for the acquisitmmstruction or improvement of those assets. pésition is
reported as restricted when there are limitatiomsoised on their use either through the enabliniglegpn adopted
by the City or through external restrictions impebsey creditors, grantors or laws or regulations obifier
governments.

The City applies restricted resources when an esges incurred for purposes for which both restdctand
unrestricted net position is available.

Grants and Intergovernmental Revenues

Federal grants and assistance awards made on siedfeentitiement periods are recorded as intexgowental
receivables and revenues when entitlement occufSederal reimbursement-type grants are recorded as
intergovernmental receivables and revenue in thiegevhen all applicable eligibility requirementave been met
and the resources are available.

Operating Revenues and Expenses

Operating revenues are those revenues that areageselirectly from the primary activity of the prietary funds.
For the City, these revenues are charges for snfir sanitary sewer service, water, electricritistion, refuse
collection, leisure time activities, storm drainaggities, internal service charges and self-iasuwe programs.
Operating expenses are necessary costs that haweiriirred in order to provide the good or sertic# is the
primary activity of the fund. All revenues and erpes not meeting this definition are reported amperating.

Contributions of Capital

Contributions of capital in proprietary fund finaaicstatements arise from outside contributionsaital assets,
tap-in fees to the extent they exceed the coshefconnection to the system, grants or outsideribomibns of
resources restricted to capital acquisition andstrantion or from contributions from governmentahds. During
2018, the Sewage and Disposal, Water, and Stornmdya Utility Funds received contribution of capifilom
private developers in the amount of $16,225, $9,%6@ $6,775 respectively. In addition, the St@minage
Utility Fund received contributions in the form cdpital assets from the Capital Projects Fund énamount of
$150,806.

Interfund Activity

Transfers between governmental and business-tyipédtias on the government-wide statements arentegdn the
same manner as general revenues.
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Exchange transactions between funds are reporteevasues in the seller funds and as expenditugsises in
the purchaser funds. Flows of cash or goods from fond to another without a requirement for repaytrare
reported as interfund transfers. Interfund trarsste reported as other financing sources/usg®wernmental
funds and after nonoperating revenues/expensesoipriptary funds. Repayments from funds respoasfbr
particular expenditures/expenses to the funds ihi&ally paid for them are not presented on theaficial
statements.

Extraordinary and special ltems

Extraordinary items are transactions or eventsahatoth unusual in nature and infrequent in cetize. Special
items are transactions or events that are withénctintrol of the City Administration and that aréher unusual in
nature or infrequent in occurrence. Neither typgransaction occurred during 2018.

Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in confty with generally accepted accounting principlequires
management to make estimates and assumptionsfteet tnhe amounts reported in the financial statetmend
accompanying notes. Actual results may differ fithiwse estimates.

NOTE 3 — BUDGETARY BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

While the City is reporting financial position, tdis of operations and changes in fund balancehenbfsis of
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAPg, bladgetary basis as provided by law is based apoounting
for certain transactions on a basis of cash rezaifgbursements and encumbrances. The Ohio Re@edd
prohibits expenditures plus encumbrances from elogeappropriations.

The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Chaing€sind Balances - Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP
Budgetary Basis) for the General Fund is preseatethe budgetary basis to provide a meaningful @ispn of
actual results with the budget. The major diffeenbetween the budget basis as provided by lavis@#P basis
are as follows:

A. Revenues are recorded when received in caslyébuds opposed to when susceptible to accrual ([BAA

B. Expenditures are recorded when paid in caslnourabered (budget) as opposed to when the liakdity
incurred (GAAP).

C. Encumbrances are treated as expenditures (buddgietr than as restricted, committed, or assigned fu
balance (GAAP).

The adjustments necessary to convert the resutiperitions for the year on the GAAP basis to tdglt basis for
the General, which includes Municipal Income Taxdris as follows:
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NOTE 3 - BUDGETARY BASIS OF ACCOUNTING (CONTINUED)

Net Change in Fund Balance — General Fund

GAAP Basis $(834,228)
Increase (decrease) due to:

Net change in receivables and other assets nogmex=a on

a budget basis 912,171
Net change in liabilities not recognized on a budgesis 204,580
Encumbrances 880
Budget Basis $ (84,507)

NOTE 4 - RECEIVABLES

Receivables at December 31, 2018, consisted ptyr@rimunicipal income taxes, property taxes anueotaxes,
intergovernmental receivables arising from entites and shared revenues, special assessmentgdauerest
on investments, loans, and accounts (billings fdities and EMS Transport services provided). litytiaccounts
receivable and EMS Transport fees receivable bitbeclistomers prior to year end are recorded nahafllowance
for doubtful accounts, based on management’s estima

Property Taxes

Property taxes include amounts levied againstedll, rpublic utility, and tangible personal propddgated in the
City. Taxes collected from real property (othearttpublic utility) in one calendar year are leviadhe preceding
calendar year on assessed values as of Januarytiatopreceding year, the lien date. Assessed wvatue
established by the County Auditor at 35 percerdpygraised market value. All property is requiredé revalued
every six years with a triennial update. If paithaally, payment is due January 20; if paid semiatiy, the first
payment is due January 20, with the remainder payap June 20. In certain circumstances, statetst@ermits
earlier or later payment dates to be established.

Tangible personal property taxes (for tangible propother than public utility property) attach adien and are
levied on January 1 of the current calendar yeax dollections for the current year are therefoasenl upon
assessed values as of January 1 of the current yeartangible personal property tax is being ptasut.

Public utility tangible personal property taxesledied in one calendar year are levied in the pmliegecalendar
year on assessed values determined as of Decerhluditi3e second year preceding the tax collectiear ythe lien
date. Certain public utility tangible personal pedy currently is assessed at 100 percent of s walue. Public
utility property taxes are payable on the same dateal property taxes described previously.

The Summit County Fiscal Officer collects propedyes on behalf of all taxing districts in the Ctuimcluding

the City of Cuyahoga Falls. The Summit County Hi€afficer periodically remits to the City its pooti of the taxes
collected with final settlement in June and Decentbe taxes payable in the first and second habfethe year,
respectively. The amounts of $9,360,251 and $340de included in the balance sheet of the goventahfunds
for the General Fund and other governmental fulRddi¢e and Fire Pension Funds) as taxes receitalileflect

property taxes receivable as of December 31, 2018.
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NOTE 4 — RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The assessed values of real public utility anditdeagersonal property upon which 2018 propertyreoeipts were
based are as follows:

Property Types Valuation
Real Property $ 1,008,376,540
Public Utility Property 10,022,340
Total Valuation $ 1,018,398,880

Income Taxes

The City levies a tax at the rate of 2 percenturstantially all income earned within the City.dddition, residents
of the City are required to pay City income taxincome earned outside the City; however, a 100gmtreredit is
allowed for income taxes paid to other municipe$itvith a limitation of 2 percent. The proceedthefincome tax,
after payment of the expenditures of collectiore allocated by ordinance as follows: 8 percentito Recreation
Levy Special Revenue Fund, 29.33 percent to thet&drojects Fund and 62.67 percent to the Gerraratl. The
portion allocated to the Recreation Levy Fund dred Capital Projects Fund may be utilized for thquésition of
capital items or the payment of debt service theredrhe Municipal Income Tax Special Revenue Fund i
consolidated with the General Fund for financiatestnent reporting purposes.

On a full accrual basis, municipal income tax rexerior 2018 for the City was $22,600,501. The arhafn
$2,836,009 has been recorded in the General Furtdxas receivable (net of refunds) to reflect ineotaxes
receivable recorded as of December 31, 2018.

Employers within the City are required to withhaddome tax on employee compensation, remit thigdahke City
at least quarterly and file a declaration annudllgrporations and other individual taxpayers aired to pay
their estimated tax quarterly and file a declaratonually.

The City passed legislation on April 23, 2018 te@xe a contract with the Regional Income Tax AggiRITA)
for the purpose of administration and collectionnafinicipal income taxes. This agreement becomiestafe
January 1, 2019.

Due From Other Governments

A summary of due from other governments follows:

Governmental Activities Amounts
Homestead and Rollback $ $785,422
Local Government and Local Government Revenue fsgis 645,839
Gasoline and Excise Tax 520,357
Highway Distribution 266,803
Motor Vehicle License Fees 202,481
Bureau of Workers’ Compensation 139,273

In Lieu of Public Site 96,600
EMS Transport Fees 76,199
Municipalities / Villages 70,090
License Surtax - Addition 55,894
Permissive Motor Vehicle License Tax 49,225
Municipal Income Tax 46,784
Federal Grants (Direct) 42,174
Ohio Public Works Commission 29,680
Boston Township - City of Cuyahoga Falls JEDD 29,64
Other Agencies 37,638
Total Governmental Activities $ 3,094,102
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Business-type Activities Amounts
Utilities Charges $ 50,715
Total Business-Type Activities $ 50,715

NOTE 5 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS
Policies and Practices

The Charter of the City of Cuyahoga Falls speciftes Finance Director is responsible for the safpkey and
investment of all public funds. It is also the &mee Director's responsibility to deposit and invhs City's idle
funds. Periodically, the Finance Director consulith the other members of the Treasury InvestrBaard (Mayor
and Law Director) concerning investment decisions.

The deposit and investment of City monies is goseérny the provisions of the Charter and Codifiedi@ances of
the City and the Ohio Revised Code. In accordanitie te provisions of these items, only banks ledath Ohio
and domestic building and loan associations amgibédi to hold public deposits. These provisionstriet the
investment of the City's monies to certificatesdefposit, savings accounts, money market accoumsState
Treasurer's investment pool, obligations of thetéhhiStates government or certain agencies thembfcartain
industrial revenue bonds issued by other governahesmtities, and repurchase agreements with argibbdi
depository for a period not exceeding thirty day$e City's practice is to limit investments to UT8easury Notes
and Bills, collateralized certificates of depositdarepurchase agreements, insured and/or collaedatlemand
deposit accounts or obligations of other U.S. aganc

Public depositories must give security for all pakflnds on deposit. These institutions may eitbecifically

collateralize individual accounts in lieu of amaoaiimsured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporatr may

participate in the Ohio Pooled Collateral SystenP(3), a collateral pool of eligible securities dafeml with a

qualified trustee and pledged to the TreasurertatieSo secure the repayment of all public moniggsodited in the
financial institution. OPCS requires the total nerkalue of the securities pledged to be 102 pé¢fetie deposits
being secured or a rate set by the Treasurer dé.SRepurchase agreements must be secured by e¢ldisp
government securities upon which the repurchaseeagents are based. These securities must be tabigaf or

guaranteed by the United States and mature ordseneable within five years of the date of the eslaiepurchase
agreement. State law does not require securitypddtic deposits and investments to be maintainethénCity's

name.

During 2018, the City believes it has complied witte revisions of these statutes pertaining to tyfpes of
investments held and institutions in which depositse made. The City was also in compliance wWithgrovisions
of the statutes concerning security requiremerfibe City will continue to monitor compliance witlpgicable
statutes pertaining to public deposits and investme

State statutes classify monies held by the City ihtee categories.

Active deposits are public deposits necessary tetrnarrent demands on the treasury. Such monies bei
maintained either as cash in the City treasurycammercial accounts payable or withdrawable on deina
including negotiable order of withdrawal (NOW) agats, or in money market deposit accounts.

Inactive deposits are public deposits that Coumad identified as not required for use within therent five-year
period of designation of depositories. Inactivealits must either be evidenced by certificatedegfosits maturing
not later than the end of the current period ofigiettion of depositories, or by savings or depasitounts
including, but not limited to, passbook accounts.
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Interim deposits are deposits of interim moniesiterim monies are those monies which are not nedded
immediate use, but which will be needed beforeeiie of the current period of designation of depoiEs.

Protection of the City’s deposits is provided by thederal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC),ebgible
securities pledged by the financial institutiorsasurity for repayment, by surety company bond®sitgd with the
finance director by the financial institution or hysingle collateral pool established by the finanimstitution to
secure the repayment of all public monies deposii¢iithe institution.

Interim monies may be deposited or invested irfdHewing securities:

1. Government securities
o Negotiable obligations of the U.S. Treasury, ins@fa each investment complies with the City's
Investment and Deposit policy criteria such aslfinaturity, delivery, etc.:
o Direct Obligations of the U.S. Treasury
i. Treasury Bills
ii. Treasury Notes
o Investment-grade obligations of the State of Obroany municipal corporation, county, township
or other political subdivisions of the State of @hated in not less than the second highest rating
category by a nationally recognized rating ageniti vespect to such bonds or notes as to which
there is no default of principal, interest or conpo

2. Nonnegotiable Interest Bearing Time Certificate oDeposit and Savings Accounts
o Nonnegotiable Interest Bearing Time Certificates @éposit and savings accounts only in
commercial banks organized under the laws of ttaseSnational banks organized under the laws
of the United States, doing business in and sitlateor operating a full service branch office
within the boundaries of the City of Cuyahoga Faiisvided that any such deposits and savings
accounts are secured by collateral as prescribeSeation 15 of the Investment and Deposit
Policy.

3. Star Ohio
0 The State Treasury Asset Reserve of Ohio (Star)d$ian authorized investment, subject to the
diversification requirements set forth in sectidndf the City's Investment and Deposit policy.

4. Now Accounts (Interest Bearing Negotiable Order oWithdrawal Accounts)
o NOW accounts, Super NOW accounts, or any otherlainaiccount authorized by the Federal
Reserve's Depository Institutions Deregulation cattem, provided that such accounts are secured
by collateral as prescribed herein.

5. City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio Notes and Bonds
o0 Any obligation of the City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohigithout regard to term-to-maturity or interest
rate, is an authorized investment instrument.

Investments in stripped principal or interest odifigns reverse repurchase agreements and derivative
prohibited. The issuance of taxable notes forpimgose of arbitrage, the use of leverage and sledlmhg are also
prohibited. Historically, the City has not purchdghese types of investments or issued these tfpiesestments
or issued these types of notes. An investment mastre in five years from the date of purchasessimatched to
a specific obligation or debt of the City, and miostpurchased with the expectation that it wilhieéd to maturity.

Investments may only be made through specifiededgalnd institutions. Payment for investments ibaynade

only upon delivery of the securities representihg investments to the treasurer or qualified teusig if the
securities are not represented by a certificatenupceipt of confirmation of transfer from the wmasan.

68



City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

|
NOTE 5 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
Deposits

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk tiatthe event of bank failure, the City will not able to recover
deposits or collateral securities that are in thespssion of an outside party. At year-end the/icgy amount of the
City's deposits was $15,020,346 and the bank baleas $16,395,532. Of the bank balance $500,080cerered
by Federal depository insurance and $15,895,532ewpssed to custodial credit risk because it wassumned and
collateralized with securities held by the pledgiimancial institutions' trust department or Fedi@&®aserve, but not
in the City's name. The City has petty cash ordtwdr$10,085 as of December 31, 2018.

At year-end, the carrying amount of the Communityptovement Corporation of Cuyahoga Falls, a compbne
unit, deposits were $52,351 and the bank balance$b8,753. Information regarding the collaterdiora of the
Community Improvement Corporation of Cuyahoga Fedls be obtained from the corporation's compilateport.

Investments

Fair value is determined by quoted market pricesaateptable other pricing methodologies. The Cittggorizes
its fair value measurements within the fair valigrdrchy established by generally accepted acaogiprinciples.

The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs teadeasure the fair value of the asset. Levepiitsare quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets. L@veaputs are significant other observable inputsyel 3 inputs are
significant unobservable inputs. STAR Ohio is reépdrat its share price (net asset value per sharbg City’'s

remaining investments measured at fair value alieedausing methodologies that incorporate marketiie such as
benchmark yields, reported trades, broker/dealetesy issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchssanlrities,

bids, offers and reference data including marke¢aech publications. Market indicators and induatrd economic
events are also monitored, which could requirenised to acquire further market data (Level 2 inpufhe chart
below identifies the City’s recurring fair value asirements as of December 31, 2018.

As of December 31, 2018 the City had the followiimgestments:

Measuremer Credit Fair Value
Amount Rating (*) Maturity In Years Hierarchy
<1 Year > 1 Year
Net Asset Value (NAV) Per Share
STAR Ohio $ 21,919,237 Aaam** $ 21,919,237 N/A
Fair Value:
Federal Home Loan Mortgage 988,620 Aaa* 988,620 Level 1
United States Treasury Note 641,672 Aaa* 641,672 Level 1
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 15,613,793 *** 1,489,983 14,123,810 Level 1
Total $ 39,163,322 $ 23,409,220 % 15,754,102

* Ratings obtained from Moody's
** Ratings obtained from S&P
*** Credit rating not available

Interest Rate Risk

As a means of limiting its exposure to fair valosdes caused by rising interest rates, the Citysstment policy
requires that operating funds be invested primanlghort-term investments maturing within five y@drom the
date of purchase and that the City’s investmentfglar be structured so that securities mature teicash
requirements for ongoing operations and/or longitdebt payments.

Credit Risk

The credit risk of the City’s investments are digigld. The City has no investment policy that wduldher limit

its investment choices.
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Custodial Credit Risk

For an investment, custodial credit risk is thé tisat, in the event of the failure of the coungetp, the City will
not be able to recover the value of its investmentsollateral securities that are in the possessioan outside
party. The Federal Home Loan Mortgage Bond is segoto custodial credit risk in that it is uningijre
unregistered, and held by the counterparty’s wegiartment or agent but not in the City’s namee Uhited States
Treasury Note is not exposed to custodial credi, rand the City’s investment in negotiable ceréifes of deposit
is fully insured by the FDIC, and not exposed tedifr risk. The City has no investment policy degliwith
investment custodial risk beyond the requiremerdtéte statute that prohibits payment for investsignior to the
delivery of the securities representing such inmesits to the Finance Director or qualified trustee.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is defined by the Guoweental Accounting Standards Board as having figecent
more invested in the securities of a single issdre City's investment policy places a limit oe gimount it may
invest in the State of Ohio Treasurer's Investnidl (STAR Ohio), of no more than 50 percent ofdaposits.
The following is the City’s risk allocation of degits and investments as of December 31, 2018.

Type Percentage of Total
Deposits 28.86%
STAR Ohio 39.81%
Federal Home Loan Mortgage 1.80%
United States Treasury Note 1.17%
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 28.36%
Total 100.00¥
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Capital asset activity for the year ended Decer3tte2018, was as follows:

Governmental Activities

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated

Land
Construction In Progress

Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated

Capital Assets Being Depreciated

Buildings
Improvements
Machinery and Equipment
Infrastructure
Roads
Traffic Signals
Bridges

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated

Less Accumulated Depreciation

Buildings
Improvements
Machinery and Equipment
Infrastructure
Roads
Traffic Signals
Bridges

Total Accumulated Depreciation

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net

Governmental Activities Capital Assets, Net  $

Balance Balance
1/1/2018 Additions Deletions Transfers 12/31/2018
12,029,687 $ 91,687 $ - - $ 12,121,374
10,293,070 6,284,293 (12,537,508) - 4,039,855
22,322,757 6,375,980 (12,537,508) - 16,161,229
29,407,857 4,060,796 (11,120) - 33,457,533
9,140,252 85,442 (16,226) 9,209,467
31,132,453 2,510,667 (1,446,692) 186,647 32,383,075
74,232,556 9,106,147 - - 83,338,703
247,553 69,591 - - 317,144
10,749,255 - - - 10,749,255
154,909,926 15,832,642 (1,474,038) 186,647 169,455,176
(13,992,268) (734,495) 8,011 - (14,718,752)
(1,401,156) (388,452) - - (1,789,608)
(21,439,464) (1,831,046) 1,187,700 (178,162) (22,260,973)
(26,462,866) (1,796,888) 2,312 - (28,257,442)
(194,070) (12,349) - - (206,418)
(2,819,045) (205,606) - - (3,024,652)
(66,308,869) (4,968,836) 1,198,023 (178,162) (70,257,844)
88,601,057 10,863,806 (276,015) 8,485 99,197,332
110,923,814 $ 17,239,786 $ (12,813,523) 8,485 $ 115,358,561

Depreciation expense was charged to governmentetifuns as follows:

General Government

Security of Persons and Property
Community Environment

Leisure Time Activities

Street Maintenance

Garage

Grand Total
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NOTE 6 — CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Balance Balance
1/1/2018 Additions Deletions Transfers 12/31/2018
Business-Type Activities
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated
Land $ 3,689,128 $ - $ - $ - $ 3,589,128
Construction In Progress 72,553 1,047,295 (265,132) - 854,716
Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated 3,661,681 1,047,295 (265,132) - 4,443,844
Capital Assets Being Depreciated
Buildings 39,606,733 169,314 - - 39,776,047
Improvements 134,794,942 827,307 - - 135,622,249
Machinery and Equipment 17,778,549 1,211,370 (1,070,765) (186,647) 17,732,507
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 192,180,224 2,207,991 (1,070,765) (186,647) 193,130,803
Less Accumulated Depreciation
Buildings (12,862,225) (864,481) - - (13,726,706)
Improvements (59,565,916) (3,568,232) - - (63,134,148)
Machinery and Equipment (11,393,900) (908,952) 865,472 178,162 (11,259,219)
Total Accumulated Depreciation (83,822,041) (5,341,666) 865,472 178,162 (88,120,073)
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated, Net 108,358,183 (3,133,675) (205,293) (8,485) 105,010,730
Total Business-Type Capital Assets, Net $ 112,019,864 $ (2,086,380) $ (470,425) $ (8,485) $ 109,454,574

Depreciation expense was charged to business-tfpétias as follows:

Sewage and Disposal $ 778,723
Water 1,051,068
Electric 1,894,604
Sanitation 347,868
Leisure Time 926,439
Storm Drainage 342,964
Grand Total $ 5,341,666
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NOTE 7 — DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS
Net Pension Liability/Asset

The net pension liability/(assetgported on the statement of net position represaritability to employees for
pensions. Pensions are a component of exchangmattions-—between an employer and its employeesatafies
and benefits for employee services. Pensions rmnéded to an employee—on a deferred-payment bassspart
of the total compensation package offered by anl@yep for employee services each financial periotihe
obligation to sacrifice resources for pensions sesent obligation because it was created asult femployment
exchanges that already have occurred.

The net pension liability represents the City’spwrdionate share of each pension plan’s colledivi@arial present
value of projected benefit payments attributabl@ast periods of service, net of each pension pléduciary net

position. The net pension liability calculation dependent on critical long-term variables, inahgdiestimated

average life expectancies, earnings on investmeaoss,of living adjustments and others. While éhestimates use
the best information available, unknowable futuwrergs require adjusting this estimate annually.

Ohio Revised Code limits the City’s obligation fibiis liability to annually required payments. T8é#y cannot
control benefit terms or the manner in which pensiare financed; however, the City does receivebtrefit of
employees’ services in exchange for compensatidnding pension.

GASB 68 assumes the liability is solely the obligatof the employer, because (1) they benefit framployee
services; and (2) State statute requires all fupdincome from these employers. All contributidasdate have
come solely from these employers (which also inetudosts paid in the form of withholdings from eaygles).

State statute requires the pension plans to ameantifunded liabilities within 30 years. If the amimation period

exceeds 30 years, each pension plan’s board moigbge corrective action to the State legislatukay resulting

legislative change to benefits or funding couldch#igantly affect the net pension liability. Resnf adjustments to
the net pension liability would be effective whéie thanges are legally enforceable.

The proportionate share of each plan’s unfundecfitsnis presented as a long-tengt pension liability on the
accrual basis of accounting. Any liability for thentractually-required pension contribution outsliag at the end
of the year is included imtergovernmental payable on both the accrual and modified accrual basesodunting.

Plan Description — Ohio Public Employees RetiremenBystem (OPERS)

Plan Description - City employees participate ia @hio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERBERS
administers three separate pension plans. Thiidrza pension plan is a cost-sharing, multiplepéoger defined
benefit pension plan. The member-directed plaa @efined contribution plan and the combined pka icost-
sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit pengpdan with defined contribution features. While nimmrs (e.g.
City employees) may elect the member-directed plach the combined plan, substantially all employesnivers
are in OPERS’ traditional plan; therefore, thedwling disclosure focuses on the traditional pengiam.

OPERS provides retirement, disability, survivor agelath benefits, and annual cost of living adjustimeo
members of the traditional plan. City to establéstd amend benefits is provided by Chapter 145hef@hio
Revised Code. OPERS issues a stand-alone finamej@rt that includes financial statements, reauire
supplementary information and detailed informatidmout OPERS'’ fiduciary net position that may beaoted by
visiting https://www.opers.org/financial/reportsusih by writing to the Ohio Public Employees Retivent System,
277 East Town Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-464Byaralling 800-222-7377.
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NOTE 7 — DEFINED BENEFITS PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

Senate Bill (SB) 343 was enacted into law with #aative date of January 7, 2013. In the legiskatimembers
were categorized into three groups with varyingvjgions of the law applicable to each group. TdloWing table
provides age and service requirements for retiréraed the retirement formula applied to final agerasalary
(FAS) for the three member groups under the tramkti plan as per the reduced benefits adopted b@43B(see
OPERS’ CAFR referenced above for additional infaiorg:

Group A Group B Group C
Eligible to retire prior to 20 years of service dtgatior to Members not in other Groups
January 7, 2013 or five years January 7, 2013 gibédi to retire and members hired on or after
after January 7, 2013 ten years after January B3 201 January 7, 2013
State and Local State and Local State and Local
Age and Service Requirements: Age and Service Regeiments: Age and Service Requirements:
Age 60 with 60 months of service credit Age 60 véithmonths of service credit Age 62 with 5 yedrsavice credit
or Age 55 with 25 years of service credit or Ageviith 25 years of service credit or Age 57 with 2%&ngeof service credit
Formula: Formula: Formula:
2.2% of FAS multiplied by years of 2.2% of FAS mpliied by years of 2.2% of FAS multiplied by years of
service for the first 30 years and 2.5% servicdHerfirst 30 years and 2.5% service for the firsy8ars and 2.5%
for service years in excess of 30 for service ygaexcess of 30 for service years in excess of 35

Final average Salary (FAS) represents the averbtieedhree highest years of earnings over a mesbareer for
Groups A and B. Group C is based on the averagjeedfve highest years of earnings over a memlmar'ser.

Members who retire before meeting the age and yafagsrvice credit requirement for unreduced bésieficeive a
percentage reduction in the benefit amount.

When a benefit recipient has received benefits1lfdrmonths, an annual cost of living adjustment (BPls

provided. This COLA is calculated on the base eetent benefit at the date of retirement and iscoatpounded.
For those retiring prior to January 7, 2013, theL&Qwill continue to be a 3 percent simple annual LZO For

those retiring subsequent to January 7, 2013, hegjnin calendar year 2019, the COLA will be basedthe
average percentage increase in the Consumer Rdeg,Icapped at 3 percent.

Funding Policy - The Ohio Revised Code (ORC) presigtatutory City for member and employer contidng as
follows:

State
and Local

2018 Statutory Maximum Contribution Rates
Employer 140 %
Employee 100 %
2018 Actual Contribution Rates
Employer:

Pension 140 %

Post-Employment Health Care Benefits 0.0
Total Employer 140 %
Employee 10.0 %
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NOTE 7 — DEFINED BENEFITS PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

The City’s contractually required contributions w&&489,281 for fiscal year ending December 31,82@f this
amount, $191,218 is reported as an intergovernrhpayable.

Plan Description- Ohio Police & Fire Pension Fund@QP&F)

Plan Description - City full-time police and firgfiters participate in Ohio Police and Fire Pensiond (OP&F), a
cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit gien plan administered by OP&F. OP&F providesrestient

and disability pension benefits, annual cost-ofdliv adjustments, and death benefits to plan membercs
beneficiaries. Benefit provisions are establisbgdhe Ohio State Legislature and are codified a@er 742 of the
Ohio Revised Code. OP&F issues a publicly avadldimancial report that includes financial informoat and

required supplementary information and detailedrimiation about OP&F fiduciary net position. Thpad may be
obtained by visiting the OP&F website at www.oprd.or by writing to the Ohio Police and Fire Pemskund, 140
East Town Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-5164.

Upon attaining a qualifying age with sufficient ygeof service, a member of OP&F may retire and iveca
lifetime monthly pension. OP&F offers four types of service retiratneéormal, service commuted, age/service
commuted and actuarially reduced. Each type haerdift eligibility guidelines and is calculated ngithe
member's average annual salary. The following wdision of the pension formula relates to normaliser
retirement.

For members hired after July 1, 2013, the minimetirement age is 52 for normal service retiremeitit &t least
25 years of service credit. For members hired obefore July 1, 2013, the minimum retirement ag&8 for
normal service retirement with at least 25 yearseofice credit.

The annual pension benefit for normal service eaignt is equal to a percentage of the allowableageeannual
salary. The percentage equals 2.5 percent for efattte first 20 years of service credit, 2.0 patder each of the
next five years of service credit and 1.5 percentfich year of service credit in excess of 25s/€Bne maximum
pension of 72 percent of the allowable average alrsalary is paid after 33 years of service credit.

Under normal service retirement, retired members wate at least 55 years old and have been rece®@P&F
benefits for at least one year may be eligibledarost-of-living allowance adjustment. The age B&vision for
receiving a COLA does not apply to those who aoeiréng a permanent and total disability benefid atatutory
survivors.

Members retiring under normal service retiremerithwess than 15 years of service credit on Jul@13, will
receive a COLA equal to either three percent omireent increase, if any, in the consumer pridexn(CPI) over
the 12-month period ending on September 30 of tmadiately preceding year, whichever is less. TRHLE
amount for members with at least 15 years of sergredit as of July 1, 2013 is equal to three paroétheir base
pension or disability benefit.

Funding Policy - The Ohio Revised Code (ORC) presidstatutory authority for member and employer
contributions as follows:

Police Firefighters

2018 Statutory Maximum Contribution Rates
Employer 19.50 % 24.00 %
Employee 12.25 % 12.25 %
2018 Actual Contribution Rates
Employer:

Pension 19.00 % 23.50 %

Post-employment Health Care Benefits 0.50 0.50
Total Employer 19.50 % 24.00 %
Employee 12.25 % 12.25 %
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Employer contribution rates are expressed as aeptge of covered payroll. The City’s contracta#quired
contribution to OP&F was $2,417,191 for 2018. Osthmount, $196,856 is reported as an intergoventahe
payable.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Assets, Pension Expensand Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

The net pension liability for OPERS was measuredfd3ecember 31, 2017, and the total pension lighilsed to
calculate the net pension liability was determiigdan actuarial valuation as of that date. OP&Btsltpension
liability was measured as of December 31, 2017 veasldetermined by rolling forward the total pendiability as
of January 1, 2017, to December 31, 2017. Theé<uwportion of the net pension liability was hsa the City's
share of contributions to the pension plan relativéhe contributions of all participating entitieg=ollowing is
information related to the proportionate share aewlsion expense:

OPERS OPERS
Traditional Combined OP&F OP&F
Pension Plan Pension Plan Police Fire Total
Proportion of the Net Pension Liability/Asset
Prior Measurement Date 0.128688% 0.14454% 0.2116715% 0.2909230%
Proportion of the Net Pension Liability/Asset
Current Measurement Date 0.128404% 0.14031% 0.2B2414 0.2936116%
Change in Proportionate Sh -0.0002849 -0.004229 0.0004439 0.0026899
Proportionate Share of the Net Pension
Liability/(Asset) $ 20,144,098 $ (191,010) $ 13,018,423 $ 18,020,270 $ 50,991,781
Pension Expense $ 4,360,755 $ 32,004 $ 1,597,620 $ 2,131,721 $ 8,122,100

At December 31, 2018, the City reported deferreflamus of resources and deferred inflows of reseanelated to
pensions from the following sources:

OP&F OP&F
OPERS Police Fire Total

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Differences between expected and

actual experience $ 20,572 $ 197564 $ 273,469 $ 491,605
Changes of assumptions 2,424,037 567,281 785,238 3,776,556
Changes in proportion and differences

between City contributions and

proportionate share of contributions 121,494 193,07 221,423 535,990
City contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 2,489,281 1,014,791 1,402,400 4,906,472
Total Deferred Outflows of Resourt $5,055,38. $1,972,70 $2,682,53 $9,710,62
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on pension plan investments $43864 $450,339 $623,363 $5,428,508
Differences between expected and

actual experience 453,878 23,550 32,599 510,027
Changes in proportion and differences

between City contributions and

proportionate share of contributions 42,437 2,624 4,208 249,279
Total Deferred Inflows of Resourc $4,851,12 $476,51. $860,18I $6,187,81
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An amount of $4,906,472 reported as deferred owmfl@f resources related to pension resulting fromy'<
contributions subsequent to the measurement diitbeniecognized as a reduction of the net penkdaility in the
year ending December 31, 2019. Other amounts tegpas deferred outflows of resources and defenféavs of
resources related to pension will be recognizgekimsion expense as follows:

OP&F OP&F
OPERS Police Fire Total
Year Ending December 31:
2019 $1,874,357 $372,665 $436,128 $2,683,150
2020 (433,535) 254,268 272,237 92,970
2021 (1,920,346) (212,171) (373,417) (2,505,934)
2022 (1,792,348) (123,119) (199,220) (2,114,687)
2023 (4,696) 153,856 229,629 378,789
Thereafter (8,450) 35,906 54,593 82,049
Total ($2,285,01€ $481,40! $419,95 ($1,383,66:

Actuarial Assumptions - OPERS

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involveimsttes of the values of reported amounts and assamspabout
the probability of occurrence of events far inte thture. Examples include assumptions about éutunployment,
mortality, and cost trends. Actuarially determirsedounts are subject to continual review or modifan as actual
results are compared with past expectations andesémates are made about the future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting pases are based on the substantive plan (the glanderstood by
the employers and plan members) and include thestgp benefits provided at the time of each vatumatiThe total
pension liability in the December 31, 2017, actiaxialuation was determined using the followinguacial
assumptions, applied to all prior periods includethe measurement in accordance with the requinesya GASB
67. Key methods and assumptions used in the latgstrial valuation, reflecting experience studsutes, are
presented below:

Wage Inflation 3.25 percent
Future Salary Increases, including inflation 3.28.0075 percent including wage inflation
COLA or Ad Hoc COLA Pre 1/7/2013 retirees; 3 per¢aithple

Post 1/7/2013 retirees; 3 percent, simple

through 2018, then 2.15 percent simple
Investment Rate of Return 7.5 percent

Actuarial Cost Method Individual Entry Age
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The total pension asset in the December 31, 2Gtidadal valuation was determined using the follogvactuarial
assumptions, applied to all periods included intfeasurement:

Wage Inflation 3.25 percent
Future Salary Increases, including inflation 3.28125 percent including wage inflation
COLA or Ad Hoc COLA Pre 1/7/2013 retirees; 3 percairnple

Post 1/7/2013 retirees; 3 percent, simple
through 2018, then 2.15 percent simple
Investment Rate of Return 7.5 percent
Actuarial Cost Method Individual Entry Age

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Healthuftant Mortality table. For males, Health Annuitdortality
tables were used, adjusted for mortality improvenback to the observant period base of 2006 and¢ktablished
the base year as 2015. For females, Health Amtuitdortality tables were used, adjusted for motyali
improvements back to the observation period base g£2006 and then established the base year H 2The
mortality rates used in evaluating disability allmwees were based on the RP-2014 Disabled Mortgiiles,
adjusted for mortality improvement back to the obaon base year of 2006 and then establishethdake year as
2015 for males and 2010 for females. Mortalityesator a particular calendar year for both healthg disabled
retiree mortality tables are determined by applytheyMP-2015 mortality improvement scale to thevabdescribed
tables.

The most recent experience study was completetthéofive year period ended December 31, 2015.

The long-term rate of return on defined benefiteistiment assets was determined using a buildindctmtathod in

which best-estimate ranges of expected futureregab of return are developed for each major adass. These
ranges are combined to produce the long-term eggewal rate of return by weighting the expectedrfureal

rates of return by the target asset allocationgregege, adjusted for inflation.

OPERS manages investments in three investmentopostf the Defined Benefits portfolio, the Heal@are
portfolio, and the Defined Contribution portfolidhe Defined Benefit portfolio includes the investmassets of
the Traditional Pension Plan, the defined benefihgonent of the Combined Plan, the annuitized ausoof the
Member-Directed Plan. Within the Defined Benefitrtfolio, contributions into the plans are all reded at the
same time, and benefit payments all occur on tisedi the month. Accordingly, the money-weightatkerof return
is considered to be the same for all plans witheortfolio. The annual money weighted rate tinreexpressing
investment performance, net of investments expeasdsadjusted for the changing amounts actuallgsted, for
the Defined Benefit portfolio is 16.82 percent #6¥17.

The allocation of investment assets with the DefiBenefit portfolio is approved by the Board of 3iees as
outlined in the annual investment plan. Plan asaet managed on a total return basis with a leng-bbjective of
achieving and maintaining a fully funded statustfe benefits provided through the defined bernpfitsion plans.
The table below displays the Board-approved askmtagion policy for 2017 and the long-term expelcteal rates
of return:
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Weighted Average
Long-Term Expected
Target Real Rate of Return
Asset Class Allocation (Arithmetic)
Fixed Income 23.00 % 2.20 %
Domestic Equities 19.00 6.37
Real Estate 10.00 5.26
Private Equity 10.00 8.97
International Equities 20.00 7.88
Other investments 18.00 5.26
Total 100.0C % 5.6€ %

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total petisibitity was 7.5 percent, post-experience studsutts. The
projection of cash flows used to determine theaiist rate assumed that contributions from plan nezsnand those
of the contributing employers are made at the eeotually required rates, as actuarially determinBésed on those
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net ositvas projected to be available to make all ptej future benefits
payments of current plan members. Therefore, dhg-term expected rate of return on pension plaesiments
was applied to all periods of projected benefit papts to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of tke Net Pension Liability to Changes in the DiscourRate

The following table presents the City’s proportitnahare of the net pension liability calculatethgghe current
period discount rate assumption of 7.5 percentyels as what the City’s proportionate share of tie pension
liability would be if it were calculated using asdount rate that is one-percentage-point lower [§@rsent) or one-
percentage-point higher (8.5 percent) than theeotimate:

Current
City's proportionate share 1% Decrease Discount Rate % Intrease
of the net pension liability/(asset) (6.50%) (7.50% (8.50%)
Traditional Pension Plan $35,770,786 $ 20,144,098 $7,116,150
Combined Plan ($103,831) $ (191,010) ($251,158)

Changes between Measurement Date and Report Date

In October 2018, the OPERS Board adopted certaimnggtion changes which will impact their valuatimepared
as of January 1, 2018. The most significant chasgereduction in the assumed actuarial rate offmefrom 7.50

percent to 7.20 percent. Although the exact amofittiese changes is now known, is has the potentiahpact, it
has the potential to impact the City’s net pensiainility.

Actuarial Assumptions — OP&F

OP&F's total pension liability as of December 3012 is based on the results of an actuarial valnatiate of
January 1, 2017, and rolled-forward using generatlgepted actuarial procedures. The total pergbility is
determined by OP&F’s actuaries in accordance witsB Statement No. 67, as part of their annual \tadna
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Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involveimsites of reported amounts and assumptions abobapility of
occurrence of events far into the future. Exampielide assumptions about future employment moytedalary
increases, disabilities, retirements and employnteminations. Actuarially determined amounts swbject to
continual review and potential modifications, aguat results are compared with past expectatiorts raaw
estimates are made about the future.

Key methods and assumptions used in calculatingpthépension liability in the latest actuarialuation, prepared
as of January 1, 2017, are presented below:

Valuation Date January 1, 2017
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Investment Rate of Return 8.00 percent

Projected Salary Increases 3.75 percent to 10.5 percent
Payroll Increases 3.25 percet

Inflation Assumptions 2.75 percel

Cost of Living Adjustments 2.20 percent and 3.0&¢pet Simple

Mortality rates for active members were based enRP2014 Total employee and Healthy Annuitant Mibyta
Tables rolled back to 2006, and projected with @@nduent Modified 2016 Improvement Scale. Rates fo
surviving beneficiaries are adjusted by 120 percEot disabled retirees, the mortality rates weasel on the
RP2014 Disabled Mortality Tables rolled back to @0@nd projected with the Conduent Modified 2016
Improvement Scale.

The most recent experience study was completechdady 2017.

The long-term expected rate of return on pensian pivestments was determined using a buildingkogaproach
and assumes a time horizon, as defined in therB¢aieof Investment Policy. A forecasted rate dftion serves
as the baseline for the return expectation. Vari@al return premiums over the baseline inflatate have been
established for each asset class. The long-tepmotad nominal rate of return has been determigexhloulating a
weighted averaged of the expected real return presifor each asset class, adding the projecteationil rate and
adding the expected return from rebalancing untaige asset classes. Best estimates of the long¢&pected
geometric real rates of return for each major asisets included in OP&F's target asset allocatisrmfiDecember
31, 2017 are summarized below:
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OP&F's Board of Trustees has incorporated the “pakity” concept into OP&F’s asset liability vali@t with the

goal of reducing equity risk exposure, which reduoeerall Total Portfolio risk without sacrificingeturn, and
creating a more risk-balanced portfolio based onirthrelationship between asset classes and economic
environments. From the notional portfolio perspecabove, the Total Portfolio may be levered ufi.®times due

to the application of leverage in certain fixedame asset classes.

Discount Rate

The total pension liability was calculated using thscount rate of 8.00 percent. The projectionash flows used
to determine the discount rate assumed the cotitiitgifrom employers and from the members woulddraputed

based on contribution requirements as stipulate&thye statute. Projected inflows from investresarning were
calculated using the longer-term assumed investmaatof return 8.00 percent. Based on those gstsums, the

plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to baikmble to make all future benefit payments ofreat plan

members. Therefore, a long-term expected ratetafm on pension plan investments was appliedltpeaiods of

projected benefits to determine the total pensetvility.

Sensitivity of the City's Proportionate Share of tle Net Pension Liability to Changes in the DiscourRate

Net pension liability is sensitive to changes ia tliscount rate, and to illustrate the potentigtaat the following
table presents the net pension liability calculaisthg the discount rate of 8.25 percent, as welvhat the net
pension liability would be if it were calculatedimg a discount rate that is one percentage poiwwedo(7.00
percent), or one percentage point higher (9.00guey¢han the current rate.

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(7.00%) (8.00%) (9.00%)
City's proportionate share
of the net pension liability $ 43,027,767 $ 31,038,693 $ 21,260,505
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Defined Benefit OPEB Plans

Net OPEB Liability

The net OPEB liability reported on the statementeifposition represents a liability to employems@PEB. OPEB

is a component of exchange transactions-—betweeengioyer and its employees—of salaries and benédit
employee services. OPEB are provided to an empleym a deferred-payment basis—as part of the total
compensation package offered by an employer forl@rap services each financial period. The oblayatio
sacrifice resources for OPEB is a present obligdtiecause it was created as a result of employexatianges that
already have occurred.

The net OPEB liability represents the City’s prdforate share of each OPEB plan’s collective acb@resent
value of projected benefit payments attributablgast periods of service, net of each OPEB pladiscfary net
position. The net OPEB liability calculation isp#mdent on critical long-term variables, includiegtimated
average life expectancies, earnings on investmeoss,of living adjustments and others. While ¢hestimates use
the best information available, unknowable futurergs require adjusting these estimates annually.

Ohio Revised Code limits the City’s obligation fitmis liability to annually required payments. T@éy cannot
control benefit terms or the manner in which OPEB financed; however, the City does receive theefienf
employees’ services in exchange for compensatidnding OPEB.

GASB 75 assumes the liability is solely the obligatof the employer, because they benefit from ey
services. OPEB contributions come from these eygpfoand health care plan enrollees which pay topoof the
health care costs in the form of a monthly premiuithe Ohio revised Code permits, but does not redihie
retirement systems to provide healthcare to eligibnefit recipients. Any change to benefits ordfug could
significantly affect the net OPEB liability. Rednly adjustments to the net OPEB liability woulddftective when
the changes are legally enforceable. The retiresysiems may allocate a portion of the employetrdmrtions to
provide for these OPEB benefits.

The proportionate share of each plan’s unfundeckfitenis presented as a long-term net OPEB ligbhoih the
accrual basis of accounting. Any liability for tbentractually-required OPEB contribution outstamgdat the end of
the year is included in intergovernmental payalédoth the accrual and modified accrual bases aiwating.

Ohio Public Employees Retirement System
Plan Description

Plan Description - The Ohio Public Employees Reteat System (OPERS) administers three separatéopens
plans: the traditional pension plan, a cost-sharmgltiple-employer defined benefit pension plame tmember-
directed plan, a defined contribution plan; anddbmbined plan, a cost-sharing, multiple-employ&firetd benefit
pension plan that has elements of both a definadflteand defined contribution plan.

OPERS maintains a cost-sharing, multiple-emplowdindd benefit post-employment health care trukictvfunds

multiple health care plans including medical cogeraprescription drug coverage and deposits to althle
Reimbursement Arrangement to qualifying benefitgients of both the traditional pension and the borad plans.

This trust is also used to fund health care for Imemuirected plan participants, in the form of difee Medical

Account (RMA). At retirement or refund, membereatdited plan participants may be eligible for reingemnent of

qualified medical expenses from their vested RMfabee.

82



City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

NOTE 8 — POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

In order to qualify for postemployment health cacverage, age and service retirees under theitnaditpension
and combined plans must have twenty or more ydagsiaifying Ohio service credit.  Health careverage for
disability benefit recipients and qualified survisenefit recipients is available. The health careerage provided
by OPERS meets the definition of an Other Post Bympéent Benefit (OPEB) as described in GASB Statervign
See OPERS’ CAFR referenced below for additionadrimétion.

The Ohio Revised Code permits, but does not re@RERS to provide health care to its eligible beme€ipients.
Authority to establish and amend health care c@eeis provided to the Board in Chapter 145 of timoRevised
Code.

Disclosures for the health care plan are presesgpdrately in the OPERS financial report. Integgarties may
obtain a copy by visiting https://www.opers.orgéicial/reports.shtml, by writing to OPERS, 277 E&stvn
Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-4642, or by callinb(6222-5601 or 800-222-7377.

Funding Policy

The Ohio Revised Code provides the statutory aitthogquiring public employers to fund postemployrhiealth
care through their contributions to OPERS. Wherdfiog is approved by OPERS Board of Trustees, aqodf
each employer’s contribution to OPERS is set agidand OPERS health care plans.

Employer contribution rates are expressed as aptage of the earnable salary of active member2018, state
and local employers contributed at a rate of 14&fgnt of earnable salary and public safety anddafercement
employers contributed at 18.1 percent. Theselareniaximum employer contribution rates permittedhsy Ohio
Revised Code. Active member contributions do natifhealth care.

Each year, the OPERS Board determines the porfitimeeoemployer contribution rate that will be setda to fund
health care plans. The portion of employer contiims allocated to health care for members in thadifional
Pension Plan and Combined Plan was 1.0 percemtgdaalendar year 2017. As recommended by OPERBaagt
the portion of employer contributions allocatechtmalth care beginning January 1, 2018 decreas@dtrcent for
both plans. The OPERS Board is also authorizezstablish rules for the retiree or their surviviieneficiaries to
pay a portion of the health care provided. Paynaembunts vary depending on the number of coveredrdimts
and the coverage selected. The employer contribatioa percentage of covered payroll depositediig&MA for
participants in the Member-Directed Plan for 201&w.0 percent.

Employer contribution rates are actuarially detewdi and are expressed as a percentage of covemed.pa
The City’s contractually required contribution w8727 for 2018.

Ohio Police and Fire Pension Fund
Plan Description

The City contributes to the Ohio Police and Firsex$ten Fund (OP&F) sponsored healthcare programpsé c
sharing, multiple-employer defined post-employmiesalthcare plan administered by a third-party mtexi This
program is not guaranteed and is subject to chamgey time upon action of the Board of Truste€3P&F
provides health care benefits including coveragarfedical, prescription drug, dental, vision, andditare Part B
Premium to retirees, qualifying benefit recipieatsl their eligible dependents.

OP&F provides access to postretirement health @average for any person who receives or is eligibleceive a
monthly service, disability, or statutory survivoenefit, or is a spouse or eligible dependent obilduch person.
The health care coverage provided by OP&F meetsldfiaition of an Other Post Employment Benefit ) as
described in Government Accounting Standards B@ASB) Statement No. 75.
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The Ohio Revised Code allows, but does not man@®&F to provide OPEB benefits. Authority for tOdP&F
Board of Trustees to provide health care coverageligible participants and to establish and ameedefits is
codified in Chapter 742 of the Ohio Revised Code.

OP&F issues a publicly available financial repdrattincludes financial information and required @ementary
information for the plan. The report may be obtdimy visiting the OP&F website at www.op-f.orghoyr writing
to the Ohio Police and Fire Pension Fund, 140 Easin Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-5164.

Funding Policy

The Ohio Revised Code provides for contributionuiegments of the participating employers and ohpt@mbers
to the OP&F defined benefit pension plan. Parétig employers are required to contribute to thlesipn plan at
rates expressed as percentages of the payroltiségension plan members, currently 19.5 percadt24 percent
of covered payroll for police and fire employertsnrespectively. The Ohio Revised Code statdstiigaemployer
contribution may not exceed 19.5 percent of covgraygtoll for police employer units and 24 percehtaovered
payroll for fire employer units. Active members niat make contributions to the OPEB Plan.

OP&F maintains funds for health care in two semaeatcounts. There is one account for health cameflis and
one account for Medicare Part B reimbursementsseparate health care trust accrual account is aia@tt for
health care benefits under IRS Code Section 1Xk5.trdn Internal Revenue Code 401(h) account isitaaied for
Medicare Part B reimbursements.

The Board of Trustees is authorized to allocaterign of the total employer contributions madepitthe pension
plan to the Section 115 trust and the Section 404a¢count as the employer contribution for retinealth care
benefits. For 2018, the portion of employer cdnttions allocated to health care was 0.5 percentootred
payroll. The amount of employer contributions efited to the health care plan each year is sutgjebe Trustees’
primary responsibility to ensure that pension biénefre adequately funded and is limited by thevisions of
Sections 115 and 401(h).

The OP&F Board of Trustees is also authorized tabdish requirements for contributions to the Heaklre plan by
retirees and their eligible dependents or theivigiurg beneficiaries. Payment amounts vary depspdin the
number of covered dependents and the coveragdestlec

The City's contractually required contribution td®&F was $56,543 for 2018. Of this amount, $4,584eported
as an intergovernmental payable.

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflavs of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to OPEB

The net OPEB liability and total OPEB liability fddPERS were determined by an actuarial valuatiorofas
December 31, 2016, rolled forward to the measure¢mate of December 31, 2017, by incorporating tkgeeted
value of health care cost accruals, the actualihealre payment, and interest accruals during da.y OP&F'’s
total OPEB liability was measured as of December2B17, and was determined by rolling forward thtaltOPEB
liability as of January 1, 2017, to December 311 20The City's proportion of the net OPEB liabiltyas based on
the City's share of contributions to the retirermaan relative to the contributions of all partiaimg entities.
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Following is information related to the proporticeahare and OPEB expense:

OPERS OP&F

Proportion of the Net OPEB Liability:

Prior Measurement Date 0.126370% 0.5025900%

Current Measurement Date 0.125630% 0.5057261%
Change in Proportionate Sh 0.0007400° -0.00313619

Total

Proportionate Share of the Net

Pension Liability $13,642,493 $28,653,730 $42,298,22
OPEB Expense $1,135,379 $2,229,308 $3,364,687

At December 31, 2018, the City reported deferretflaus of resources and deferred inflows of reseanzlated to
OPEB from the following sources:

OPERS OP&F Total

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Differences between expected and

actual experience $10,627 $0 $10,627
Changes of assumptions 993,318 2,795,995 3,789,313
Changes in proportion and differences

between City contributions and

proportionate share of contributions 0 129,831 129,8
City contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 9,727 56,543 66,270
Total Deferred Outflows of Resourt $1,013,67. $2,982,36' $3,996,04
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Differences between expected and

actual experience $0 $144,518 $144,518
Net difference between projected and

actual earnings on OPEB plan investments 1,016,274 188,611 1,204,885
Changes in proportion and differences

between City contributions and proportionate

share of contributions 58,878 0 58,878
Total Deferred Inflows of Resourc $1,075,15 $333,12! $1,408,28

$66,270 reported as deferred outflows of resourelased to OPEB resulting from City contributiondsequent to
the measurement date will be recognized as a riedust the net OPEB liability in 2019. Other amtsireported
as deferred outflows of resources and deferredwslof resources related to OPEB will be recognire®@PEB
expense as follows:
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OPERS OP&F Total
Year Ending December 31:
2019 $197,770 $359,471 $557,241
2020 197,770 359,471 557,241
2021 (212,680) 359,471 146,791
2022 (254,067) 359,472 105,405
2023 0 406,624 406,624
Thereafter 0 748,188 748,188
Total ($71,207 $2,592,69 $2,521,49

Actuarial Assumptions - OPERS

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involveimsttes of the values of reported amounts and assamspabout
the probability of occurrence of events far inte future. Examples include assumptions about éugmmployment,
mortality, and cost trends. Actuarially determirsadounts are subject to continual review or modtfan as actual
results are compared with past expectations andesémates are made about the future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting pases are based on the substantive plan and inthedpes of
coverage provided at the time of each valuation thedhistorical pattern of sharing of costs betw®&ERS and
plan members. The total OPEB liability was detewdi by an actuarial valuation as of December 3162flled
forward to the measurement date of December 317.20Lhe actuarial valuation used the following aciai

assumptions applied to all prior periods includedhie measurement in accordance with the requirent#rGASB
74:

Wage Inflation 3.25 percent
Projected Salary Increases, 3.25 to 10.75 percent
including inflation including wage inflation
Single Discount Rate:

Current measurement date 3.85 percent

Prior Measurement date 4.23 percent
Investment Rate of Return 6.50 percent
Municipal Bond Rate 3.31 percent
Health Care Cost Trend Rate 7.5 percent, initial

3.25 percent, ultimate in 2028

Actuarial Cost Method Individual Entry Agt

Pre-retirement mortality rates are based on th ®+ Employees mortality table for males and fesaejusted
for mortality improvement back to the observatiaripd base year of 2006. The base year for malédeamales
was then established to be 2015 and 2010, respBctiRost-retirement mortality rates are basedhenRP-2014
Healthy Annuitant mortality table for males and fdes, adjusted for mortality improvement back t@ th
observation period base year of 2006. The basefgeanales and females was then established toO&& and
2010, respectively. Post-retirement mortality rdtesdisabled retirees are based on the RP-2014blzid mortality
table for males and females, adjusted for mortatitgrovement back to the observation period base g€2006.
The base year for males and females was then isstathlto be 2015 and 2010, respectively. Mortalitgs for a
particular calendar year are determined by applyirlgMP-2015 mortality improvement scale to alltlteé above
described tables.
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The most recent experience study was completetthéofive year period ended December 31, 2015.

The long-term expected rate of return on healtte gavestment assets was determined using a buildoak

method in which best-estimate ranges of expecteoidueal rates of return are developed for eagbmaaset class.
These ranges are combined to produce the longd&pacted real rate of return by weighting the etgubduture
real rates of return by the target asset allocgiencentage, adjusted for inflation.

During 2017, OPERS managed investments in threestment portfolios: the Defined Benefit portfolibe Health
Care portfolio and the Defined Contribution poritfolThe Health Care portfolio includes the assetshialth care
expenses for the Traditional Pension Plan, Combiiad and Member-Directed Plan eligible memberghivithe
Health Care portfolio, contributions into the plasm® assumed to be received continuously througtieutyear
based on the actual payroll payable at the timetritanions are made, and health care-related patsnere
assumed to occur mid-year. Accordingly, the moneygimed rate of return is considered to be the stmall

plans within the portfolio. The annual money-weaghtrate of return expressing investment performanee of
investment expenses and adjusted for the changnogiats actually invested, for the Health Care ptidfis 15.2
percent for 2017.

The allocation of investment assets with the He@hine portfolio is approved by the Board of Trustas outlined
in the annual investment plan. Assets are managedtotal return basis with a long-term object¥eontinuing to
offer a sustainable health care program for curesmt future retirees. OPERS’ primary goal is tbiewe and
maintain a fully funded status for the benefits yided through the defined pension plans. Healtte da a
discretionary benefit. The table below displays Board-approved asset allocation policy for 204d the long-
term expected real rates of return:
Weighted Average
Long-Term Expected

Target Real Rate of Return

Asset Class Allocation (Arithmetic)
Fixed Income 34.00 % 1.88 %
Domestic Equities 21.00 6.37
Real Estate Investment Trust 6.00 5.91
International Equities 22.00 7.88
Other investments 17.00 5.39
Total 100.0( % 4.9 %

Discount Rate

A single discount rate of 3.85 percent was usedné&asure the OPEB liability on the measurement déte
December 31, 2017. A single discount rate of 4.2Bcg@nt was used to measure the OPEB liability an th
measurement date of December 31, 2016. Projectadfibgpayments are required to be discounted tdr the
actuarial present value using a single discour tiaat reflects (1) a long-term expected rate afrreon OPEB
plan investments (to the extent that the healtte dattuciary net position is projected to be suffiti to pay
benefits), and (2) tax-exempt municipal bond raasdual on an index of 20-year general obligation barith an
average AA credit rating as of the measurement (atéhe extent that the contributions for use witie long-
term expected rate are not met). This single distoate was based on an expected rate of retuthehealth
care investment portfolio of 6.50 percent and aigipal bond rate of 3.31 percent. The projectiorcash flows
used to determine this single discount rate assutmeidemployer contributions will be made at raggsal to the
actuarially determined contribution rate. Basedtlmese assumptions, the health care fiduciary nsitipo and
future contributions were sufficient to finance hleaare costs through 2034. As a result, the Imrg: expected
rate of return on health care investments was a@b projected costs through the year 2034, aadnnicipal
bond rate was applied to all health care costs #it date.
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Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of thre Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Ra

The following table presents the City’s proportimahare of the net OPEB liability calculated usihg single
discount rate of 3.85 percent, as well as whatQitygs proportionate share of the net OPEB liapilitould be if it
were calculated using a discount rate that is @mregmntage-point lower (2.85 percent) or one-peegpoint
higher (4.85 percent) than the current rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(2.85%) (3.85%) (4.85%)
City's proportionate share
of the net OPERB liability $18,124,640 $13,642,493 016,480

Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of tle Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Health CareCost
Trend Rate

Changes in the health care cost trend rate may ladse a significant impact on the net OPEB liahiliThe
following table presents the net OPEB liabilityadhted using the assumed trend rates, and thetexpeet OPEB
liability if it were calculated using a health carest trend rate that is 1.0 percent lower or Ef@nt higher than
the current rate.

Retiree health care valuations use a health caretemd assumption that changes over several yegitsnto the
assumption. The near-term rates reflect increas#ei current cost of health care; the trend siguith 2018 is 7.50
percent. If this trend continues for future yeatise projection indicates that years from now viltiuaall
expenditures will be for health care. A more readda alternative is that in the not-too-distanufat the health
plan cost trend will decrease to a level at, orneage inflation. On this basis, the actuarieggmiopremium rate
increases will continue to exceed wage inflation dpproximately the next decade, but by less ear, yuntil
leveling off at an ultimate rate, assumed to b& p&rcent in the most recent valuation.

Current Health Care
Cost Trend Rate
1% Decrease Assumption 1% Increase

City's proportionate share
of the net OPEB liability $13,052,957 $13,642,493 4%51,467

Actuarial Assumptions — OP&F

OP&F's total OPEB liability as of December 31, 201¥ based on the results of an actuarial valuatiate of
January 1, 2017, and rolled-forward using generatlgepted actuarial procedures. The total OPH#litiais
determined by OP&F’s actuaries in accordance wikS8 Statement No. 74, as part of their annual aoa
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involveimsttes of reported amounts and assumptions abobgpility of
occurrence of events far into the future. Exampielide assumptions about future employment moytadalary
increases, disabilities, retirements and employnteminations. Actuarially determined amounts subject to
continual review and potential modifications, aguat results are compared with past expectatiorts raaw
estimates are made about the future.

88



City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

- - - - - ]
NOTE 8 — POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Projections of benefits for financial reporting poses are based on the substantive plan (the planderstood by
the employers and plan members) and include thestgh benefits provided at the time of each vatumtind the
historical pattern of sharing benefit costs betwdenemployers and plan members to that point. pfbgection of

benefits for financial reporting purposes does engilicitly incorporate the potential effects of &gr contractual
funding limitations.

Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspact For a newly hired employee, actuarial caltafes will take
into account the employee’s entire career witheéhgloyer and also take into consideration the benef any,
paid to the employee after termination of employmaetiil the death of the employee and any applEabihtingent
annuitant. In many cases, actuarial calculati@fieaet several decades of service with the emplayed the
payment of benefits after termination.

Key methods and assumptions used in the latestratwaluation, reflecting experience study resulire
presented below.

Valuation Date January 1, 2017, with actuarial litddi
rolled forward to December 31, 2017

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal

Investment Rate of Return 8.0 percent

Projected Salary Increases 3.75 percent to 10.5 percent

Payroll Growth Inflation rate of 2.75 percent plus

productivity increase rate of 0.5 percent
Single discount rate:

Currrent measurement date 3.24 percent
Prior measurement date 3.79 percent
Cost of Living Adjustments 3.00 percent simple; 2.2&cpat simple

for increased based on the lesser of the
increase in CPI and 3 percent

Mortality for non-disabled participants is basedtba RP-2014 Total Employee and Healthy Annuitaoirtslity
Tables rolled back to 2006, adjusted accordindiéorates in the following table, and projected wite Conduent
Modified 2016 Improvement Scale. Rates for sungvbeneficiaries are adjusted by 120 percent.

Age Police Fire
67 or less 77 % 68 %

68-77 105 87

78 and up 115 120

Mortality for disabled retirees is based on the RR4 Disabled Mortality Tables rolled back to 20@@justed
according to the rates in the following table, andjected with the Conduent Modified 2016 Improvenscale.

Age Police Fire

59 or less 35 % 35 %
60-69 60 45
70-79 75 70

80 and up 100 90
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The most recent experience study was completedhiorfive year period ended December 31, 2016, tiw p
experience study was completed December 31, 2011.

The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plapstments was determined using a building-blqutraach
and assumes a time horizon, as defined in therB¢atieof Investment Policy. A forecasted rate dfation serves
as the baseline for the return expected. Varieas$ return premiums over the baseline inflatiore fadve been
established for each asset class. The long-tepaoted nominal rate of return has been determigezhlzulating a
weighted averaged of the expected real return presifor each asset class, adding the projecteationil rate and
adding the expected return from rebalancing untaiee asset classes. Best estimates of the long¢&pected
geometric real rates of return for each major asisets included in OP&F's target asset allocatisrmfiDecember
31, 2017, are summarized below:

Target Long-Term Expected
Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
Cash and Cash Equivalents - % 0.00 %
Domestic Equity 16.00 5.21
Non-US Equity 16.00 5.40
Core Fixed Income * 20.00 2.37
Global Inflation Protected Securities* 20.00 2.33
High Yield 15.00 4.48
Real Estate 12.00 5.65
Private Markets 8.00 7.99
Timber 5.00 6.87
Master Limited Partnerships 8.00 7.36
Total 120.00 %
Note: Assumptions are geometric.
* levered 2x

OP&F's Board of Trustees has incorporated the pigkity concept into OP&F'’s asset liability valuatiavith the
goal of reducing equity risk exposure, which reduoeerall Total Portfolio risk without sacrificingeturn, and
creating a more risk-balanced portfolio based enréhationship between asset classes and econoriroements.
From the notional portfolio perspective above, Teal Portfolio may be levered up to 1.2 times daethe
application of leverage in certain fixed incomeeagdasses.

Discount Rate

The total OPEB liability was calculated using thecdunt rate of 3.24 percent. The projection afhciows used to
determine the discount rate assumed the contribditeon employers and from members would be comphbtestd
on contribution requirements as stipulated by swiggute. Projected inflows from investment eagsirwere
calculated using the longer-term assumed investnagatof return 8 percent. Based on those assangptOP&F'’s

fiduciary net position was projected to not be aolanake all future benefit payments of currennptaembers.
Therefore, a municipal bond rate of 3.16 percefetember 31, 2017 and 3.71 percent at Decemb&0386, was
blended with the long-term rate of 8 percent, whiekulted in a blended discount rate of 3.24 percerhe

municipal bond rate was determined using the S&miMpal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index. TheE®P
plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to aitble to make all projected OPEB payments @aR5. The
long-term expected rate of return on health cavestments was applied to projected costs througth 2énd the
municipal bond rate was applied to all health cargts after that date.
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Sensitivity of the City's Proportionate Share of tle Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rat

Net OPEB liability is sensitive to changes in thecdunt rate, and to illustrate the potential inmphe following
table presents the net OPEB liability calculatedgishe discount rate of 3.24 percent, as well hatwhe net OPEB
liability would be if it were calculated using asdount rate that is one percentage point lower(Rgetcent), or one
percentage point higher (4.24 percent) than theeatirate.

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(2.24%) (3.24%) (4.24%)
City's proportionate share
of the net OPEB liability $35,817,508 $28,653,730 3421,517

Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of tle Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Health CareCost
Trend Rate

Net OPEB liability is sensitive to changes in thealth care cost trend rate. The trend rate isatireial rate at
which the cost of covered medical services is assuto increase from the current year to the neat.y@8eginning
in 2017, the per-capita costs are assumed to chantiee following percentages each year:

Medicare
Non-Medicare Non-AARP AARP Rx Drug Part B
Year
2017 -0.47% -2.50% 4.50% -0.47% 5.20%
2018 7.00% 7.00% 4.50% 7.00% 5.10%
2019 6.50% 6.50% 4.50% 6.50% 5.00%
2020 6.00% 6.00% 4.50% 6.00% 5.00%
2021 5.50% 5.50% 4.50% 5.50% 5.00%
2022 5.00% 5.00% 4.50% 5.00% 5.00%
2023 and Later 4.50% 4.50% 4.50% 4.50% 5.00%

To illustrate the potential impact, the followingbte presents the net OPEB liability calculatechgighe current
healthcare cost trend current rates as outlingddrtable above, a one percent decrease in the ta¢es and a one
percent increase in the trend rates.

Current
1% Decrease Rates 1% Increase
City's proportionate share
of the net OPEB liability $22,258,733 $28,653,730 7%832,022
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Changes between Measurement Date and Report Date

In March 2018, the OP&F Board of Trustees apprahedmplementation date and framework for a newitheare
model. Beginning January 1, 2019, the currentisslired health care plan will no longer be offeréul its place is
a stipend-based health care model. A stipend fililbyeOP&F will be placed in individual Health Reiosement
Accounts that retirees will use to be reimbursedhealth care expenses. The impact to the City®Ns not
known.

NOTE 9 - COMPENSATED ABSENCES

Vacation leave is earned at rates, which vary déipgnupon length of service and standard workwe€krrently
City policy permits vacation leave to be accumuatg to three weeks per year. City employees aié for
earned, unused vacation leave at the time of textiom of employment.

Sick leave is earned by substantially all full-timeployees and a portion of such sick leave mapédie in cash
upon termination, retirement, or death, if certa@rvice requirements are met. Specific sick lesagh®uts are

based on formulas contained in union contractscaraitinances as follows:

Cash-out Limits

Employee Class

Affiliation

100%

100%

46.67%

January 1, 2018 -
June 30, 2018

60.00%

July 1, 2018 -
December 31, 2018

of accumulated sick
leave up to a maximu
of 960 hours

of accumulated sick
leave up to a maximu
of 1,500 hours

of accumulated sick
leave up to a maximu
of 2,704 hours

of accumulated sick
leave up to a maxiom
of 2,704 hours as of

Non-bargaining
employees

Patrol Officers
Community Service
Officers

Various government
employees

Electric employees
Dispatchers

Police
Sergeants/Lieutenants

Police Captains/Chief

Firefighters

Firefighters

* OPBA: Ohio Patrolman’s Benevolent Association
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None
Blue (OPBA)*

Blue (OPBA)*

American Federation of State,
County, and Municipal Employees
(AFSCME)

Utility Workers of America dad
#399

Fraternal Order of Polid&io Labol
Council, Inc. (FOP-OLC)

Gold (OPBA)*

None

International Association of
Firefighters Local #494 (IAFF)

International Association of
Firefighters Local #494 (IAFF)
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Sick leave may be accumulated beyond these cadlimitgt, but can only be used when employees asermttfrom
work due to illness. Compensatory time is earneduistantially all regular non-management employees

Compensatory time that is not used per union cot#trand/or City ordinances is paid in cash to therepriate
employees in accordance with the Fair Labor StatsdAct.

Employees who have qualified for a service pengi@RBA-Gold, OPBA-Blue, Dispatchers) or who are wwith
three years of qualifying for a service pension rfM@rgaining, Utility Workers, Firefighters, AFSCNIE&re
permitted to annually sell one-third of their acadated sick leave hours, up to the maximum houmnald for
their employee class, during their last three ye&employment with the City.

In compliance with union contracts, the City hatsleished an Internal Service-Compensated Abseunnd  fund
the sick leave and vacation cash out payments.

NOTE 10 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
A. Litigation

The City is involved in legal actions arising iretbrdinary course of business. The City carrikejaate insurance
coverage for most risks including property damagersonal liability and estimates for any potentkims not
covered by such insurance will not materially afffite City’s results of operations or financial jios.

B. Federal and State Grants

The City participates in state and federally asdigirant programs. The programs are subject teweand audit by
the grantor agency or their representatives. tioisanticipated that any audit of federal or sta@nt programs, if
conducted, would result in a material disallowamegrant expenditures. Therefore, no provision passible
refunds has been recorded.

C. Insurance Coverage

The City maintains a variety of liability insuranceverages with varying deductibles. Among theseerages are
general liability with limits of $2 million annuallin the aggregate and $1 million per occurrendéh & $100,000
self-insurance retention, and property coveragéa lianket limit per occurrence of $145,216,526 veitteductible
of $10,000. In addition, the City has umbrelldiidy coverage with limits of $10 million in theggregate and $10
million per occurrence.

D. Contingent Liabilities

The City is a member of American Municipal PowetMR) and has participated in the AMP Generatingi&@tat
(AMPGS) Project. This project intended to devetopulverized coal power plant in Meigs County, Ohithe
City’s share was 50,000 kilowatts of a total 771,28owatts, giving the City a 6.48 percent sharbe AMPGS
Project required participants to sign “take or paghtracts with AMP. As such, the participants abdigated to
pay any costs incurred for the project. In Noven®@09, the participants voted to terminate the AA&PProject
due to projected escalating costs. These costs therefore deemed impaired and participants whligated to
pay costs already incurred. In prior years, themgnt of these costs was not considered probalde@AMP’s
pursuit of legal action to void them.

As a result of a March 31, 2014 legal ruling, th®A Board of Trustees on April 15, 2014 and the AMPG
participants on April 16, 2014 approved the coltattof the impaired costs and provided the pardiotp with an
estimate of their liability. The City's estimatedase at March 31, 2014 of the impaired costs i§&8670. The
City received a credit of $2,484,523 related torthparticipation in the AMP Fremont Energy Cent&FEC)
Project, and another credit of $2,261,243 relabetthée AMPGS costs deemed to have future benefihfoproject
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participants, classified as Plant Held for Futuse YPHFU). The City also made payments of $90716a@ng a
net impaired cost estimate of $3,009,825. Becaayenent is now probable and reasonably estimahdeCity is
reporting a payable to AMP in its business-typavais and in its Electric Enterprise Fund for $bheimpaired
costs. AMP financed these costs on its revolving bf credit. Any additional costs (including diof-credit
interest and legal fees) or amounts received iblai¢he project will impact the City’s liabilityThese amounts will
be recorded as they become estimable.

In late 2016, AMP reached a Settlement in the B#dborporation litigation. On December 8, 2016that AMPGS
Participants meeting, options for the allocationtted Settlement funds were approved. The AMPGSidizants
and the AMP Board of Trustees voted to allocateSbglement among the participants and the AMP @&éieind
based on each participant’s original project shaiéV including the AMP General Fund’s project ghar

Since March 31, 2014, the City has made paymeng&ldf78,167 to AMP toward its net impaired costneste.
Also, since March 31, 2014, the City’s allocatidradditional costs incurred by the project is $B8d%, and interest
expense incurred on AMP’s line-of-credit of $15836esulting in a net impaired cost estimate atebdwer 31,
2018 of $1,686,872. The City does have a PoteRtiHfU Liability of $2,437,398 resulting in a netabpotential
liability of $4,124,270, assuming the assets makipghe PHFU (principally the land comprising theilys County
site) have no value and also assuming the Citygditbalance would earn zero interest. Strandets @swell as
PHFU costs are subject to change, including fubmeowing costs on the AMP line of credit. Acties include
items such negative items as property taxes asasgibsitive items revenue from leases or saldl of a portion of
the Meigs County site property.

The City intends to these costs and repay AMP thenext 10 % years through a power cost adjustrtiemnd this

incurred cost has been capitalized and reportedragulated asset, as allowed by GASB Statemen6®o Of this
liability, the scheduled monthly payments for 20&8jch total $167,322, is considered the curremtipo.

94



City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

NOTE 11 - CAPITAL LEASES

The City's lease agreements qualify as capitaldedsr accounting purposes and, therefore, have temorded at
the present value of the future minimum lease paysnas of the inception date for governmental #is and
business-type activities in the Statement of Netithm. The assets acquired through capital leaseas follows:

Governmental Business-type
Asset Activities Activities
Improvements (Building Lighting / Envelope) $ 115,267 $ 16,902,526
Equipment (Police Tactical Mobile Computers) 126,073 0
Equipment (Leaf Collectors) 0 181,763
Equipment (Street Sweeper) 257,877 0
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (210,416 (7,352,458
Total $ 288,801 $ 9,731,831

The future minimum lease obligations and the nes@nt value of these minimum lease payments ascébber
31, 2018, were as follows:

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities
2019 $ 66,180 $ 2,142,522
2020 51,723 0
Total 117,903 2,142,522
Less: Amount representing interest (3,991) ,389)
Present value of minimum lease payments $ 113,912 $ 2,053,011
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NOTE 12 - SHORT-TERM OBLIGATIONS

A summary of the changes in the City's short-tefsfigations for the year ended December 31, 201& as
follows:

Balance Balance
January 1, December 31,
General Obligation Bond Anticipation Notes 2018 Issued Retired 2018
Governmental Activities:
Capital Projects Fund Obligations:

1.75% Various Purpose Notes, due 8/8/18 $ 7,155,000 $ 0 $ 7,155,000 $ 0
Total Governmental Activities 7,155,000 0 7,155,000 0
Business-type Activities:

Water Fund Obligations:

1.75% Various Purpose Notes, due 8/8/18 150,000 0 150,000 0

2.25% Various Purpose Notes, due 11/29/18 1,800,000 0 1,800,000 0

3.125% Various Purpose Notes, due 11/27/19 0 1,800,000 0 1,800,000
Sewer Fund Obligations:

1.75% Various Purpose Notes, due 8/8/18 780,000 0 780,000 0
Electric Fund Obligations:

1.75% Various Purpose Notes, due 8/8/18 1,855,000 0 1,855,000 0
Total Business-Type Activities 4,585,000 1,800,000 4,585,000 1,800,000
Grand Total $ 11,740,000 $ 1,800,000 $ 11,740,000 $ 1,800,000

On November 27, 2018, the City issued notes imatheunt of $1,800,000 in anticipation of the isswaotbonds,
for the purpose of constructing waterlines in GraHaoad. The notes mature on November 27, 201%and a
stated interest rate of 3.125 percent.
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The original issue date, maturity date, interesg¢,rand original issuance amount for each of thy'bonds
follows:

Original Original

Issue Maturity Interest Issue

Date Date Rate Amount
Business-type Activities:
Enterprise Fund Obligations
Bonds Payable
1998 Sewer Improvemeént 12/01/1998 12/01/2018 3.05%-4.70% 2,415,000
1998 Water Improvemeht 12/01/1998 12/01/2018 3.05%-4.70% 4,925,000
2001 Water Improvemeht 08/01/2001 12/01/2021 3.25%-4.55% 5,175,000
2004 Recreation Improvemént 04/08/2004 12/01/2024 2.00%-5.00% 8,000,000
2009 Various Purpose Refunding (Recreafion) 10/14/2009 12/01/2037 2.00%-5.00% 8,040,000
2009 Various Purpose Refunding (1998) 10/14/2009 12/01/2018 2.00%-5.00% 3,895,000
2011 Various Purpose Refunding (2001 Water) 10/18/2011 12/01/2021 1.50%-3.00% 3,180,000
2012 Recreation Improvement Refunding 09/20/2012 12/01/2024 1.50%-2.50% 5,485,000
2016 Recreation Improvement Refunding 11/03/2016 12/01/2037 1.50%-4.00% 5,920,000
2018 Various Purpose Improvement Sewer System 08/07/2018 08/01/2033 2.92% 505,000
Governmental Activities:
Bonds Payable
Other General Obligation Bonds:
1998 Various Purpose Improvement 12/01/1998 12/01/2018 3.05%-4.70% 1,025,000
2009 Various Purpose Refunding (1998) 10/14/2009 12/01/2018 2.00%-5.00% 545,000
2015 Land Acquisition and Improvement Bonds 08/05/2015 12/01/2042 0.85%-4.85% 6,185,000
2018 Various Purpose Improvement - Street 08/07/2018 08/01/2033 2.92% 6,885,000
2018 Various Purpose Improvement - Parking
Facilities 08/07/2018 08/01/2033 2.92% 3,780,000
Notes:

1 Issue was advanced refunded by the City, (20090darPurpose Refunding) and it is being paid byossciCity Funds are no
longer making payment on this issue. The balafitieeodefeased debt is $0 as of December 31, 2018.

2 Issue was advanced refunded by the City, (2011oudarPurpose Refunding) and it is being paid byosgciCity Funds are no
longer making payment on this issue. The balahtieeodefeased debt is $1,105,000 as of Decemhe2(3B.

3 Issue was advanced refunded by the City, (2012eRéion Improvement Refunding) and it is being paydescrow. City
Funds are no longer making payment on this isine balance of the defeased debt is $3,110,000saember 31, 2018.

4 Issue was advanced refunded by the City, (2016€Ré&on Improvement Refunding) and it is being pajdescrow. City
Funds are no longer making payment on this isire balance of the defeased debt is $6,425,000sc@mber 31, 2018.
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NOTE 13 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

A summary of the changes in the City's long-ternligations for the year ended December 31, 2018, a&gms
follows:

Restate(
Balance Balance Amount Due
January 1, December 31, Within
2018 Issued 2018 Retired 2018 2018 One Year

Business-type Activities:

Enterprise Fund Obligations

Bonds Payable

2009 Various Purpose Refunding (1998 Sewer) $ 161,000 $ 0% 161,000 $ 03 0
2009 Various Purpose Refunding (1998 Water) 330,000 0 330,000 0 0
2009 Various Purpose Refunding (Recreation) 230,000 0 230,000 0 0
2011 Various Purpose Refunding (2001 Water) 1,345,000 0 325,000 1,020,000 330,000
2012 Recreation Improvement Refunding 3,565,000 0 480,000 3,085,000 485,000
2016 Recreation Improvement Refunding 5,920,000 0 15,000 5,905,000 230,000
2018 Various Purpose Improvement Sewer System 0 505,000 0 505,000 25,000
Unamortized Bond Discount (55,257) 0 (10,910) (44,347) 0
Unamortized Bond Premium 1,097,533 16,812 138,343 976,002 0
Total Business-type Activities Bonds Payable 12,593,276 521,812 1,668,433 11,446,655 1,070,000
Other Obligations

Capital Lease Obligations (Note 11) 4,066,260 0 2,013,248 2,053,012 2,053,012
Payable to Joint Venture (Note 16) 17,987 0 17,987 0 0
Payable to AMP (Note 10, D) 1,900,295 51,437 167,322 1,784,410 167,322
Compensated Absences (Note 9) 2,172,598 128,289 25,294 2,275,593 517,984
Net Pension Liability: OPERS (Note 7) 14,439,013 1,277,661 5,763,475 9,953,199 0
Net Other Postemployment Benefits Liability (OPEB)

(Note 8) 6,306,593 531,878 97,715 6,740,756 0
Total Business-type Activities Other Obligations 28,902,746 1,989,265 8,085,041 22,806,970 2,738,318
Total Business-type Activities $ 41,496,022 ¢ 2,511,077 $ 9,753,474 $ 34,253,625 $ 3,808,318
Governmental Activities:

Bonds Payable

Other General Obligation Bonds:

2009 Various Purpose Refunding (‘98 Rec) $ 69,000 $ 0$ 69,000 $ 0% 0
2015 Land Acquisition and Improvement Bonds 5,965,000 0 150,000 5,815,000 155,000
2018 Various Purpose Improvement - Street 0 6,885,000 0 6,885,000 365,000
2018 Various Purpose Improvemeifarking Facilities 0 3,780,000 0 3,780,000 200,000
Unamortized Bond Discount (16,078) 0 (643) (15,435) 0
Unamortized Bond Premium 44,215 0 44,215 0 0
Total Governmental Activities Bonds Payable 6,062,137 10,665,000 262,572 16,464,565 720,000
Other Obligations

Capital Lease Obligations (Note 11) 218,685 0 104,773 113,912 63,326
Compensated absences (Note 9) 6,995,321 709,051 427,953 7,276,419 1,623,937
Claims and Judgments Payable (Note 15) 678,126 5,124,795 5,419,099 383,822 362,455
Net Pension Liability: OPERS (Note 7) 14,783,843 1,308,174 5,901,118 10,190,899 0
Net Pension Liability: OP&F (Note 7) 31,833,828 3,118,898 3,914,033 31,038,693 0
Net Other Postemployment Benefits Liability: OPERS

(Note 8) 6,457,206 544,580 100,049 6,901,737 0
Net Other Postemployment Benefits Liability: OP&F

(Note 8) 23,856,817 4,851,893 54,980 28,653,730 0
Net Other Postemployment Benefits Liability — City

Defined Benefit Single Employer Plan (Note 19) 10,445,503 0 1,893,963 8,551,540 0
Total Governmental Activities Other Obligations 95,269,329 15,657,391 17,815,968 93,110,752 2,049,718
Total Governmental Activities $ 101,331,466 $ 26,322,391 $ 18,078,540$ 109,575,317 $ 2,769,718
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NOTE 13 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

The above schedule of long-term obligations diffieosn liabilities reported on the government-widatement of
net position as a result of the compensated absgramble associated with business-type activitésg included
with the long-term liabilities of the governmentattivities. The Compensated Absences InternaliSefund is
responsible for the payment of both governmental baosiness-type compensated absences liabilit®mce
governmental activities are the primary user ofititernal service fund, GAAP requires that the keegn liabilities
of the internal service fund be reported amonggineernmental activities. A reconciliation of thehedule of long-
term obligations to the statement of net positibDecember 31, 2018 were as follows:

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total
Long-term obligations per schedule on previous page $ 109,575,317 $ 34,253,625 $ 143,828,942
Consolidation of compensated absences claim Irteeice
fund into governmental activities 2,275,593 (2,275,593) -
Long-term obligations on government-wide statemehtnet
position $ 111,850,910 $ 31,978,032 $ 143,828,942

Of the $2,275,593 of business-type compensatednebseto be paid from the Compensated Absencesnatter

Service Fund (which is consolidated with the gowegntal activities on the statement of net positi®@)17,984 is
due within one year.

On August 7, 2018, the City issued various purpoggrovement bonds in the amount of $11,170,000tler

following purposes: Improving Front Street, Sec@tdeet, Oakwood Drive, Stow Avenue and Broad Baaiév
between certain termini, including the improvememnstruction, and installation of sidewalks, bi&ees, curbs,
pavements, signalization, street lighting, turregrand all related improvements and appurtenaimopsoving the

City’s storm and sanitary sewer systems by consStrgand replacing storm and sanitary sewer limesnholes,

service connections and laterals off' B3reet between Ohio Avenue and Phelps Avenuetttegwith all necessary
appurtenances thereto; constructing, reconstruciingroving and rehabilitating the City’s Green ltag Garage,

Blue Parking Garage and Red Parking Garage by dhstruction, improvement and installation of coterand

masonry, the waterproofing of existing structurt® construction of drainage upgrades, the acepnsiand

installation of new elevators and the modernizatafnexisting elevators, and all related improverseanhd

appurtenances. The bonds mature on August 1, 208Bave a stated interest rate of 2.92 percent.

As of December 31, 2018, the City's legal debt mmafilpe ability to issue additional amounts of gahebligation
bonded debt without a vote of the electors) was®88269. Principal and interest requirementetoe the long-
term obligations outstanding at December 31, 2@%8lgding capital leases) are as follows:

Business-type Obligations Governmental Actisit@@bligations

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest

2019 $ 1,070,000 $ 332375 % 720,000 $ 555,168

2020 1,095,000 310,491 750,000 540,450

2021 1,125,000 286,915 765,000 519,142

2022 790,000 260,539 785,000 497,076

2023 810,000 237,063 815,000 473,940
2024-2028 2,110,000 893,587 4,480,000 1,982,287
2029-2033 1,895,000 550,574 5,275,000 1,222,326
2034-2038 1,620,000 165,000 1,455,000 563,178
2039-2042 0 0 1,435,000 177,995

Total $ 10,515,000 $ 3,036,544 $ 16,480,000 $ 6,531,562

All general obligation bonds and notes issued leyGity are backed by its full faith and credit. i mcludes the
general property taxing power permitted within the limitation of the City Charter.
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NOTE 14 - INTERFUND TRANSFERS AND BALANCES
A. Transfers

As of December 31, 2018, interfund transfers waréolows:

Transfers In

Capital Nonmajor Leisure

Projects Governmental Electric Time
Tansfers Out Fund Funds Fund Fund Total
General Fund $ 800,000 $ 2,410,000 $ 1,845,565 $ 280,732 $ 5,336,297
Total $ 800,000 $ 2,410,000 $ 1,845,565 $ 280,732 $ 5,336,297

The General Fund transfers to the Capital Profeatsl, Nonmajor Governmental Funds and the LeisimeFund
were made to provide additional resources. Thastes to the Electric Fund represents electric K&thfor sales
“inside” the City of Cuyahoga Falls, which is imillly recorded as other local tax revenue in thegéa~und and
transferred to the Electric Fund for customer siddility.

As of December 31, 2018, net transfers on the ®&e of Activities is as follows:

Storm Total
Leisure Time Drainage Statement of
Electric kWh Additional Capital Activities
"Inside Sales" Resources Contribution Transfers
Governmental Activities
Transfer Out $ (1,845,565) $ (280,732) % (150,806) $ (2,277,103)
Business-type Activities
Transfer In $ 1,845,565 $ 280,732 $ 150,806 $ 2,277,103

Storm drainage capital contributions from governtakactivities to business-type activities consist
improvements made to the Creekside Trail/Woodwaekk Culvert and Yellow Creek Road Storm Basirhin t
amount of $93,804 and 57,002, respectively, whiehewpaid from the Capital Projects Fund and donttélle
Storm Drainage Utility Enterprise Fund.
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NOTE 14 - INTERFUND TRANSFERS AND BALANCES (CONTINU ED)
B. Balances

Interfund balances represent utilities, workersinpensation contributions, and internal charges obeiiveen
funds at year-end.

Interfund balances, including advances, at DecerabgP018 are as follows:

Due from Due to
Other Funds Other Funds
Government Funds
General Fund $ 165,724 $ 127,635
Special Revenue Funds:
Street Construction, Maintenance and Repair 5,000 9,189
Recreation Levy 140,000 1,845
Community Development Block Grant 0 11
Drug Law Enforcement 0 3,474
145,000 14,519
Capital Projects 0 5,714
Total Governmental Funds: 310,724 147,868
Proprietary Funds
Enterprise Funds:
Sewage and Disposal 46,591 127,276
Water 76 252,054
Electric 705,938 3,829
Sanitation 14,177 101,432
Leisure Time 0 466,234
Storm Drainage Utility 18,348 31
785,130 950,856
Internal Service Funds:
Garage 0 3,278
Self Insurance 0 11
Workers’ Compensation 6,159 0
6,159 3,289
Total Proprietary Funds 791,289 954,145
Total All Funds $ 1,102,013 $ 1,102,013
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NOTE 15 - RISK MANAGEMENT

It is the policy of the City to purchase commerciasurance for the risk of losses in the followiageas:
comprehensive general liability, auto liability,operty and boiler, law enforcement professiondlility, umbrella
excess liability and public officials’ errors andnissions. The City believes in minimizing its ritkrough the
procurement of the aforementioned coverages. Tlpedieies maintain the same level of coverage that
provided in previous years.

Liabilities exceeding the umbrella excess liabilityjjount and deductible amounts are recorded whsrpitobable
that a loss has occurred and the amount of thatcas be reasonably estimated. Management belileaemcurred,
but not reported claims, if any, are immateriakett®®ments for the past three fiscal years haveeroteded the
insurance coverage/policy limits during those years

A. Self -Insurance Internal Service Fund

On April 1, 2007, the City changed healthcare cagerto Medical Mutual of Ohio (MMO). Claims ardlyypaid

by the City for full-time employees and COBRA paiiants through the City’s Self-Insurance InterBakvice
Fund, which provides funding for health-care cogeraMMO reviews all claims in accordance with iemmary
Plan Description and claims are then paid by tH&I8surance Fund. For the fiscal coverage yeaudsy 1, 2016
through December 31, 2018, the City has purchagedific stop-loss coverage of $250,000 per perdggregate
stop-loss coverage was eliminated on June 1, 2010.

The Self-Insurance Fund generates revenues byiolgaag actuarially determined premium to each fbaded on
the number of full-time employees and COBRA papticits enrolled for health-care coverage. Begindemguary
1, 2016, City employees were offered more thante@dth care plan, including a high-deductible Heplan with a
Health Savings Account (HSA). In addition, thissthe first year employee contributions were rezplir

Contributions are a percentage of budgeted healih @osts. The budgeted health care costs includesss in the
self-insurance fund budget with the exception aftdeand vision costs. The contribution percergaaye 0 percent
for the HSA plan, 5 percent for the PPO Base andoéftent for the PPO Premium. Should costs inereas
unexpectedly, the health care committee has tHéyatn address the factors increasing cost to ta@nminimal
increases. Contributions cannot increase more 2Bapercent per year. The Self-Insurance Fund phydaims,
stop-loss coverage and administrative fees forthealre coverage. A liability, in the amount 0782694 has been
recorded to reflect the outstanding claims as afdb@ber 31, 2018. Most health insurance claimpsrsented for
payment to the City within several months aftevmers are rendered.

B. Workers’ Compensation Internal Service Fund

As a result of the Ohio Bureau of Workers’ Compdéinsa(BWC) decision to change from retrospective to
prospective premium charges in 2016, the City dedpput of the Individual Retrospective Rating Pdaud joined
the Ohio Municipal League Group Retrospective-Rpftan effective January 1, 2015.

Under the Individual Retrospective Rating Plan, @ity pays all claim-related expenses on an anhaais, for a
period of ten years from the date of injury. Ag ttenth year, the BWC actuarially determines thgeeted future
cost (reserve) of all active ten-year-old claimd &ills the City. The BWC then assumes all futuadility for those
claims. Due to the switch to Group, the City’s lisp under the Individual rating plan ends 12/3023.

For 2018, the workers' compensation premium paithbyCity was $481,651 and the total retroactieéne$ credit
(2009-2014) was $889 for a total of $480,762. Fait9, the estimated premium is $460,564.

As a participant in the Group Retrospective RaRtan, the City is eligible to receive annual evéibrarebates. In
2018, the City received a $67,494 rebate for thersa evaluation for plan year 2015 and a $90,7Batesfor the
first evaluation for plan year 2016. In 2019, @igy will receive a third evaluation rebate for plgear 2015, and a
second evaluation rebate for plan year 2016 anstadvaluation rebate for plan year 2017. In &ddj the City
received a one-time rebate of $344,656 as paheoBWC's “Billion Dollar” rebate in 2018.
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Participation in the Ohio Municipal League Grouprplallows the risk to be spread over multiple oizmtions.
Active management of each claim, from inceptiospatffers the City the opportunity to reduce thetaaf each
claim, thereby reducing the City’s cost.

The City’s Workers’ Compensation Internal Serviaen& pays for all claims, claim reserves and adrratise
costs of the program. The Workers’ Compensatioeriral Service Fund is allocated investment revebased on
City Ordinance. The claims liability is recordedsbd on an actuarial determination of future clairegiew of five
years of claim liabilities and claim payment tremsuding the settlement to the Bureau after &gl year.

2016 2017 2018
Workers' Workers' Workers'
Self-Insurance Compensation Self-Insurance Compemsatio Self-Insurance Compensation
Unpaid claims-January 1 $ 399,680 $ 385,181 $ 397,713 $ 243,717 $ 610,428 $ 67,698
Incurred claims (including IBNRs) 4,009,561 11,710 5,135,767 (99,321) 5,082,365 42,430
Claim payments made during the year (4,011,528) (1=3, (4,923,052) (76,698) (5,419,099) 0
Unpaid claims-December 31 $ 397,713 % 243,717 $ 610,428 $ 67,698 $ 273,694 $ 110,128

NOTE 16 - INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
A. Ohio Municipal Electric Generation Agency JointVenture 1 (OMEGA JV1)

The City's Electric Enterprise Fund participatedairjoint venture agreement with 20 other municipctric
systems who have formed the Ohio Municipal EledB&neration Agency Joint Venture 1 (OMEGA JV1) tloe
purpose of providing electric power and energyt$opiarticipants on a cooperative basis. The étegénerating
facilities of OMEGA JV1, known as the Eagle Unitgere located in the City. The OMEGA JV1 particitgan
approved the discontinuation and disposition of ge@erating units and related facilities of OMEG¥1Jand
authorized American Municipal Power, Inc. (*“AMP) &ict as agent in the sale of those assets. ABiphlyassets
of OMEGA JV1 were sold and transferred to the @tyCuyahoga Falls, effective November 21, 2017. @GVE
JV1 has been dissolved with remaining funds pait touthe Participants in accordance with their omshi
interests as established in the OMEGA JV1 JointtitenAgreement. Due to the discontinuation of OME®B/1
the equity interest was $0 at December 31, 2018mplete financial statements for OMEGA JV1 can b&amed
from AMP-Ohio or from the City’s Finance Director.

B. Ohio Municipal Electric Generation Agency JointVenture 2 (OMEGA JV2)

The City of Cuyahoga Falls is a Financing Partiotpand an Owner Participant with percentages dilitg and
ownership of 9.52 percent and 7.46 percent respgtand shares participation with thirty-five ottsubdivisions
within the State of Ohio in the Ohio Municipal Eiéc Generation Agency (OMEGA JV2). Owner Particifsaown
undivided interests, as tenants in common, in tMEGA JV2 Project in the amount of their respectRmject
Shares. Purchaser Participants agree to purcheseoutput associated with their respective Profwres,
ownership of which is held in trust for such PusdraParticipants.
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Pursuant to the OMEGA JV2 Agreement (Agreementg, plarticipants jointly undertook as either Finagcin
Participants or Non-Financing Participants and #hee Owner Participants or Purchaser Participatis,
acquisition, construction, and equipping of OMEG¥2] including such portions of OMEGA JV2 as havetbe
acquired, constructed or equipped by AMP and to gayncur the costs of the same in accordance thth
Agreement.

Pursuant to the Agreement each participant hasbéigation to pay its share of debt service on thstributive
Generation Bonds (Bonds) from the revenues ofidéistec system, subject only to the prior paymen®perating &
Maintenance Expenses (O&M) of each participant’'st&y, and shall be on a parity with any outstanding
future senior electric system revenue bonds, notaxther indebtedness payable from any revenudiseoSystem.
Under the terms of the Agreement each Financingdfznt is to fix, charge and collect rates, faes charges at
least sufficient in order to maintain a debt cogeraatio equal to 110 percent of the sum of OMEGAR dlebt
service and any other outstanding senior lien Btesystem revenue obligations. As of December2R11,8, the
City of Cuyahoga Falls has met its debt coveradigatoon.

OMEGA JV2 was created to provide additional sourckseliable, reasonably priced electric power amergy
when prices are high or during times of generabortages or transmission constraints, and to iwgtbe
reliability and economic status of the participamspective municipal electric utility system. & Rroject consists
of 138.65 MW of distributed generation of which 1@IUMW is the participants’ entitlement and 4.569Mané
held in reserve. On dissolution of OMEGA JV2, tie assets will be shared by the participants pareentage of
ownership bases. OMEGA JV2 is managed by AMP, whicts as the joint venture’s agent. During 20ANIP
issued $50,260,000 of 20 year fixed rate bondseiralb of the Financing Participants of OMEGA JVZhe net
proceeds of the bond issue of $45,904,712 weraibated to OMEGA JV2. On January 3, 2011, AMP eded
all of the $31,110,000 OMEGA JV2 Project Distrilwati Generation Bonds then outstanding by borrowing o
AMP's revolving credit facility. As such, the reimag outstanding bond principal of the OMEGA JV2
indebtedness was reduced to zero, with the rengajmiimcipal balance now residing on the AMP créalitlity. As

of December 31, 2018, the outstanding debt was T@e City’s net obligation for this amount at Ded®mn 31,
2018 was $0. The City’s net investment in OMEGA2JIVas $494,977 at December 31, 2018. Completadiah
statements for OMEGA JV2 may be obtained from AMP foom the State Auditor's website at
www.auditor.state.oh.us.

C. Ohio Municipal Electric Generation Agency JointVenture 5 (OMEGA JV5)

The City of Cuyahoga Falls is a Financing Partiotpaith an ownership percentage of 16.67 percaem, shares

participation with forty-one other subdivisions kit the State of Ohio in the Ohio Municipal Electbeneration

Agency Joint Venture 5 (OMEGA JV5). Financing Rapants own undivided interests, as tenants in comm
without right of partition in the OMEGA JV5 Project

Pursuant to the OMEGA Joint Venture JV5 Agreem@grréement), the participants jointly undertook asaRcing
Participants, the acquisition, construction, andigging of OMEGA JV5, including such portions of ®@&A JV5
as have been acquired, constructed or equippediiy. A

OMEGA JV5 was created to construct a 42 MegawattjMun-of-the-river hydroelectric plant (includidMW
of backup generation) and associated transmissioifities (on the Ohio River near the Bellville, ¥{eVirginia
Locks and Dam) and sells electricity from its opierss to OMEGA JV5 Participants.

Also pursuant to the Agreement, each participastaraobligation to pay its share of debt servicehenBeneficial
Interest Certificates (Certificates) from the rewes of its electric system, subject only to theoppayment of
Operating & Maintenance Expenses (O&M) of each ipigdnt’'s System, and shall be on a parity with any
outstanding and future senior electric system regdyonds, notes or other indebtedness payabledrymevenues
of the System.
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On dissolution of OMEGA JV5, the net assets will $lered by the financing participants on a pergentaf
ownership basis. Under the terms of the Agreemanh participant is to fix, charge and collect safees and
charges at least sufficient in order to maintadeht coverage ratio equal to 110 percent of the UOMEGA JV5
debt service and any other outstanding seniordlentric system revenue obligations. As of Decaniie 2018,
Cuyahoga Falls has met its debt coverage obligation

The Agreement provides that the failure of any pdBticipant to make any payment due by the due ttheatieof
constitutes a default. In the event of a def@DKEGA JV5 may take certain actions including theri@ation of a
defaulting JV5 Participant’s entittement to Proj@dwer. Each Participant may purchase a pro raeesof the
defaulting JV5 Participant’s entitlement to ProjBciwer, which together with the share of the ottar-defaulting
JV5 Participants, is equal to the defaulting JV#tiBigant’s ownership share of the Project, in ildts (“Step Up
Power”) provided that the sum of any such increated| not exceed, without consent of the non-défapJVv5
Participant, an accumulated maximum kilowatts egqoal5 percent of such non-defaulting JV5 Particijza
ownership share of the project prior to any sucheaases.

OMEGA JV5 is managed by AMP, which acts as thetjoenture’s agent. During 1993 and 2001 AMP issued
$153,415,000 and $13,899,981 respectively of 30 figad rate Beneficial Interest Certificates (Qfichates) on
behalf of the Financing Participants of OMEGA JVEhe 2001 Certificates accrete to a value of $5B00 on
February 15, 2030. The net proceeds of the bosukswere used to construct the OMEGA JV5 Projéah
February 17, 2004 the 1993 Certificates were reddrialy issuing 2004 Beneficial Interest Refundingtieates in
the amount of $116,910,000, which resulted in amggvto the membership of $34,951,833 from thequksri2005
through 2024. On February 15, 2014, all of the LZBIRCs were redeemed from funds held under thst tru
agreement securing the 2004 BIRCs and the proadfeglpromissory note issued to AMP by OMEGA JV5hisT
was accomplished with a draw on AMP’s revolvingditdacility. The resulting balance was $65,89D 5
February 28, 2014. On January 29, 2016, OMEGA iBgbed the 2016 Beneficial Interest Certificate20(6
Certificates”) in the amount of $49,745,000 for thepose of refunding the promissory note to AMHuih The
outstanding amount on the promissory note had beguced to $49,243,377 at the time of refundingamspared
to its value at December 31, 2015 of $49,803,18i& promissory note represented the February 20dehmetion

of the 2004 Certificates from funds held undertthist agreement securing the 2004 BIRCs.

The City’s net investment and its share of opegatesults of OMEGA JV5 are reported in the Cityisctric fund
(an enterprise fund). The City’s net investmentd&die in OMEGA JV5 was $498,081 at December 318201
Complete financial statements for OMEGA JV5 mayobgined from AMP or from the State Auditor’'s websht
www.auditor.state.oh.us.

D. Ohio Municipal Electric Generation Agency JointVenture 6 (OMEGA JV6)

The City of Cuyahoga Falls is a Financing Partiotpaith an ownership percentage of 25.00 percem, shares
participation with nine other subdivisions withihet State of Ohio in the Ohio Municipal Electric ®eation
Agency Joint Venture 6 (OMEGA JV6). Financing Rapants, after consideration of the potential rigksd
benefits can choose to be Owner Participants azHager Participants. Owner Participants own uddiiinterests,
as tenants in common in the Project in the amofiitt d°roject Share. Purchaser Participants pwehiae Project
Power associated with its Project Share.

Pursuant to the OMEGA Joint Venture JV6 Agreemégréement), the participants agree jointly to placqguire,
construct, operate and maintain the Project, aneblyeagree, to pay jointly for the electric powemergy and other
services associated with the Project.

OMEGA JV6 was created to construct four (4) windbimes near Bowling Green, Ohio. Each turbine &as
nominal capacity of 1.8 MW and sells electricitgrr its operations to OMEGA JV6 Participants.
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NOTE 16 - INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the Agreement each participant hadlgation to pay its share of debt service on tlifustable Rate
Revenue Bonds (Bonds) from the revenues of itgrdegystem, subject only to the prior payment gle@ating &
Maintenance Expenses (O&M) of each participant’'st&y, and shall be on a parity with any outstanding
future senior electric system revenue bonds, notaxther indebtedness payable from any revenudiseoSystem.
On dissolution of OMEGA JV6, any excess funds shallefunded to the Non-Financing Participantsropprtion
to each Participant’'s Project Share and to Finan8larticipant's respective obligations first by diteagainst the
Financing Participant’s respective obligations.yAther excess funds shall be paid to the Partitpia proportion
to their respective Project Shares. Under thegerhthe Agreement each financing participant ixocharge and
collect rates, fees, charges, including other abel funds, at least sufficient in order to maimtaidebt coverage
ratio equal to 110 percent of the sum of OMEGA Xébt service and any other outstanding seniordlentric
system revenue obligations. As of December 3182C1iyahoga Falls has met its debt coverage oldigat

The Agreement provides that the failure of any pdicipant to make any payment due by the due daistitutes
a default. In the event of a default and one iictvithe defaulting Participant failed to cure iefalilt as provided
for in the Agreement, the remaining participantsildeacquire the defaulting Participant’s interasthe project and
assume responsibility for the associated payments joro rata basis up to a maximum amount equ2btpercent
of such non-defaulting Participant’s Project shia&ep Up Power”).

OMEGA JV6 is managed by American Municipal Powec.] which acts as the joint venture’s agent. Gy 30,

2004 AMP issued $9,861,000 adjustable rate boratsntlature on August 15, 2019. The interest rattherbonds
will be set every six months until maturity. Nadd amortization schedule exists. The net proceédse bond
issues were used to construct the OMEGA JV6 Projéct August 15, 2015 the remaining balance wad paithe
OMEGA JV6 Bonds.

The City’s net investment and its share of opegatesults of OMEGA JV6 are reported in the Cityisotric fund
(an enterprise fund). The City’s net investmenti&de in OMEGA JV6 was $1,214,657 at December 8182
Complete financial statements for OMEGA JV6 mayb&ined from AMP or from the State Auditor's websat
www.auditor.state.oh.us.

NOTE 17 — OTHER COMMITMENTS

Construction Commitments

As of December 31, 2018, the City had the followsignificant commitments with respect to projeasguiring
capital expenditures:

2018
Remaining Expected
Construction Date of

Capital Project Contract  Completion
Concrete Street Repair $ 304,538 2019
State of the Art Police Training Facility $ 1,989,490 2019
Barney's Busy Corners Traffic Study $ 316,667 2019
Dispatch Console $ 273,85 201¢
Campell St (Highbridge - Grant) Sewer Line $ 405,339 2019
Campell St (Highbridge - Grant) Water Line $ 215,075 2019
2018 F-750 Super Cab Line Tr $ 234,19 201¢
23Kv System Upgrac $ 575,91 201¢
Peaking Generati( $ 1,057,37 201¢
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NOTE 17 — OTHER COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

Encumbrances

The City utilizes encumbrance accounting as paitsdfudgetary controls. Encumbrances outstandingar end

may be reported as part of restricted, committedssigned classifications of fund balance. At yaat, the City’'s
commitments for encumbrances in governmental fuvete as follows:

Fund Amount
General $ 274,301
Capital Projects Fund 3,177,562
Other Governmental 676,465
Total Governmental Funds $ 4,128,328

NOTE 18 — FUND BALANCES

Fund balance is classified as nonspendable, reestricommitted, assigned and / or unassigned bas@arily on
the extent to which the City is bound to observast@ints imposed upon the use of the resourcethen
governmental funds in accordance with GASB StaterNen 54, Fund Balance Reporting and GovernmeniadF
Type Definitions. The constraints placed on furalabhce for the major governmental funds and alleoth
governmental funds are in the following presentatio

Other
General Capital Governmental
Fund Balances Fund Projects Funds Total
Nonspendable
Inventory of supplies $ 129,423 $ - $ 571,580 $ 701,003
Prepaid items 164,030 - 18,063 182,093
Cemetery perpetual care - - 245,319 245,319
Total nonspendable 293,453 - 834,962 1,128,415
Restricted for
Development federal programs 36,458 - 3,050,759 3,087,217
Debt service reserves - - 14,331 14,331
Streets and highways - - 1,587,149 1,587,149
Police pension - - - -
Fire pension - - - -
Parks and recreation improvements - - 1,382,505 1,382,505
Enterprise zone / community reinvestment area - - 65,890 65,890
Other law enforcement - - 603,019 603,019
Capital improvements and related debt - 2,604,599 - 2,604,599
Tax increment finance district area uses - - 458 458
Total restricted 36,458 2,604,599 6,704,111 9,345,168
Committed to
In lieu of public site subdivision regulations - 96,600 - 96,600
Urban renewal area - - 1,728 1,728
Total committed - 96,600 1,728 98,328
Assigned to
Outstanding encumbrances:
Security of persons and property 139,647 - - 139,647
Leisure time activities 10,564 - - 10,564
Community environment 6,550 - - 6,550
General Government 117,540 - - 117,540
Capital Outlay - 3,177,562 - 3,177,562
Fiscal year 2019 appropriations 3,085,464 - - 3,085,464
Total assigned 3,359,765 3,177,562 - 6,537,327
Unassigned 7,148,694 - (52,470) 7,096,224
Total fund balances $ 10,838,370$ 5,878,761 $ 7,488,331 $ 24,205,462
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NOTE 19 — DEFINED BENEFIT SINGLE EMPLOYER OPEB PLAN

Net OPEB Liability

The net OPEB liability reported on the statemeneifposition represents a liability to employeas@PEB. OPEB

is a component of exchange transactions — betwresmployer and its employees — of salaries andfiberfer
employee services. OPEB is provided to an emplogeea deferred-payment basis—as part of the total
compensation package offered by an employer forl@yep services each financial period. The oblagatio
sacrifice resources for OPEB is a present obligdbecause it was created as a result of employexafhianges that
already have occurred.

The net OPEB liability represents the actuarialspré value of projected benefit payments attridetab past
periods of service. The net OPEB liability caltida is dependent on critical long-term variablas;luding
estimated average life expectancies, earnings wsiments, cost of living adjustments and othénghile these
estimates use the best information available, uwite future events require adjusting these estisnannually.

The City has control over the benefit terms thro@gluncil approved ordinances and is financed thiahg City’s
Self-Insurance Fund; however, the City receiveditbeefits of retiree’s services for the requirednber of years
and the retirees have reached the eligible agedhatres the City to provide this OPEB.

GASB 75 assumes the liability is solely the obligatof the employer, because they benefit from eyg

services. OPEB contributions comes solely andctlirérom the City for enrollee’s health care reianfements and
life insurance premiums are paid directly to theuier on behalf of the cover retiree. Any changéedoefits or
funding could significantly affect the net OPEBUDility. Resulting adjustments to the net OPEB ligpiwould be

effective when the changes are legally enforceable.

Plan Description
The City provides post-employment health care #eadnisurance benefits (OPEB) for retired employdesugh a

single-employer defined benefit plan. The benefibgnefit levels, employee contributions and employe
contributions are governed by the City and caneraled by the City through council-approved ordiearThe
activity of the plan is reported in the City’s Séisurance.

Benefits Provided
The City provides post-employment health care afedihsurance benefits (OPEB) to its retirees. tdeo to be
eligible for the benefit, retiree must meet on¢hef following criteria:

General Employees.General employees hired prior to January 1, 20@4ligible for the City’s explicit subsidy at
the earlier of:

1. Age 60 with 20 years of service

2. 30 years of service

General employees hired on/after January 1, 2084atreligible for the City’s explicit subsidy.
Police Officers. Police Officers hired prior to April 1, 2006 areg#ble for the City’s explicit subsidy at the eali
of:
1. Age 48 with 25 years of service; or
2. Age 62 with 15 years of service
Police Officers hired on/after April 1, 2006 are etigible for the City’s explicit subsidy.
Firefighters. Firefighters hired prior to February 1, 2006 eligible for the City’s explicit subsidy at the &ar of:
1. Age 48 with 25 years of service; or
2. Age 62 with 15 years of service

Firefighters hired on/after February 1, 2006 areatigible for the City’s explicit subsidy.
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NOTE 19 — DEFINED BENEFIT SINGLE EMPLOYER OPEB PLAN (CONTINUED)

Electric Union. Electric Union employees hired prior to Januar2@Q9 are eligible for the City’s explicit subsidy
at the earlier of:

1. Age 60 with 20 years of service; or
2. 30 years of service

Electric Union employees hired on/after JanuargQ09 are not eligible for City’s explicit subsidy.

Spouse Benefit

The City’s explicit subsidy will continue to surig spouses of retirees of active employees ebgtbl retire,
provided that the surviving spouse is receivingoagoing pension health care benefit. The explighistdy will
revert to a retiree explicit subsidy.

Retiree Cost Sharing
There is no retiree cost-sharing for the healtle cdilife insurance benefits.

Health Care Benefit

All City employees enrolled in the health planseoffd by the State of Ohio at retirement. The premiates for
these plans are determined based on the statewildexperience and the City’s retirees represestnall portion of
the State plans’ participants.

Life Insurance
Retirees, regardless of hire date, receive thevatlg life insurance benefits that are fully sulizzéd by the City.
All employees meeting the retirement eligibilityose are eligible for this benefit.

Group Life Insurance
Electric $ 4,000
Dispatch/FOP Gold 7,000
FOP Blue 9,000
Firefighters, AFSCME, Non-Union 10,000

Explicit Subsidy. For a select group of employees, the City reimtairse

1. Afixed dollar amount to reimburse retireestfogir contributions paid into the State Health
Plan (Premium Reimbursement Subsidy)

2. Up to fixed dollar amount for co-payments aeduttibles that vary by employee group (Co-pay and
Deductible Subsidy)

General Employees. Retired general employees receive one reimburseraerount that will cover both
reimbursements regardless of coverage level. Tdmefit is payable until the younger of the retiogespouse turns
65. This benefit will continue to a surviving speusf retired or active employee eligible to retirgil the date the
benefit would have ceased.

The annual reimbursement amount effective JanuaB019 is $4,022.74 for retirees who have singléaarily
coverage level. The reimbursement is increasegér€ent per year.
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NOTE 19 — DEFINED BENEFIT SINGLE EMPLOYER OPEB PLAN (CONTINUED)

Police Officers.The 2019 annual subsidy amounts for police offiGae as shown below:

Premium Co-pay and

Reimbursement Deductible

<65 65+ All ages

Retiree $ 2,347.05 $ 2,099.57 $ 400
Spouse $ 3,538.65 $ 3,711.52 N/A*

* The co-payment and deductible subsidy is the stameetirees with single or family coverage.

This benefit is payable until the younger of théree or spouse turns 65. This benefit will conéirto a surviving
spouse of retired or active employee eligible toeauntil the date the benefit would have ceased.

Firefighters. The 2019 annual subsidy amounts for firefighteeses shown below:

Premium Co-pay and
Reimbursemne Deductible
<65 65+ All Ages
Firefighters who retired prior to 2006
Retiree Varies, with healthca
plan selected an unlimited
Spouse OP&F stipen

Firefighters who retired on/after 2006

Retiree $ 2,347.05 $2,347.05 $700
Spouse $ 3,538.65 $3,538.65 N/A*

* The co-payment and deductible subsidy is the semeetirees with single or family coverage.

This benefit is payable until the younger of théree or spouse turns 65. This benefit will conina a surviving
spouse of retired or active employee eligible toeauntil the date the benefit would have ceased.

As of December 31, 2018, the City had 747 partitipaOf that number, 390 were active employees3Tdwere
retirees and dependents that were currently rewgittie post-employment mentioned above. In additioere are
two surviving spouses without life insurance thieg aurrently not enrolled in a state of Ohio mebjdan. It is
assumed that they will not be rejoining the plathia future and were excluded from the valuation.

Funding Policy
The City’s annual contributions to the plan are mas a pay-as-you-go cash basis. The City’'s cdnat

required contributions were $554,591 for 2018. Pplen does not require matching contributions franplyees
during their period of employment.
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NOTE 19 — DEFINED BENEFIT SINGLE EMPLOYER OPEB PLAN (CONTINUED)

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outfiamf Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resouradated
to OPEB

The net OPEB liability and total OPEB liability f@PERS were determined by an actuarial valuatioof danuary
1, 2018, rolled forward to the measurement dat®@fember 31, 2018, by incorporating the expectddevaf
health care cost accruals, the actual health cyment, and interest accruals during the year.dibgs net OPEB
liability was based on the aforementioned actuaradliation. Following is information related toetiNet OPEB
Liability and OPEB expense:

Net OPEB Liability $ 8,551,540
OPEB Expense $ (306,241)

At December 31, 2018, the City reported deferretflamus of resources and deferred inflows of researnelated to
OPEB from the following sources:

Other OPEB

Deferred Outflow of Resources
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources $0
Deferred Inflow of Resouces
Differences between expected and actual experience$ ,004,%92
Changes of assumptions 457,862
Changes in differences between actual

City contributions and expected contributions ,288
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources $ 1,587,722

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows ofuress and deferred inflows of resources relatgdR&B will be
recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Other OPEB

Year Ending December 31:

2019 ($317,545)

2020 (317,545)

2021 (317,545)

2022 (317,545)

2023 (317,542)

Thereafter 0

Total $ (1,587,722)
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NOTE 19 — DEFINED BENEFIT SINGLE EMPLOYER OPEB PLAN (CONTINUED)

Actuarial Assumptions

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involveimsttes of the value of reported amounts and assangpabout
the probability of occurrence of events far inte flature. Examples include assumptions about figanployment,
mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amoueteined regarding the funded status of the phahthe ARC’s
of the employer are subject to continual revisienaatual results are compared with past expectatomn new
estimates are made about the future.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting poses are based on the substantive plan and inthedeypes of
coverage provided at the time of each valuationthedhistorical pattern of sharing of costs betwienOPEB and
plan members. The total OPEB liability was deteredi by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 20di8&d

forward to the measurement date of December 318.20Lhe actuarial valuation used the following aciai

assumptions applied to all prior periods includedhie measurement in accordance with the requirentdrGASB

74:

Discount Rate 4.11 Percent
Annual Wage Inflation 3.25 Percent
Inflation Rate 3.25 Percent
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal
Funding Policy Pay-as-you-go
Annual Health Care Trend Rates 5.00 Percent

Mortality for healthy participants is based on @A RPH-2018 Total Dataset Mortality Table full geational
using Scale MP-2018 (RPH-2018 table is createddbaseRPH-2014 mortality tables with 8 years of MPL2
mortality improvement backed out, projected to 20sBhg MP-2018 improvement. No disabilities areuassd for
the active population.

The health care coverage election rate is congider&00 percent for active employees with curverage and 0
percent for active employees with no coverage.tima@mployees with current coverage the electate is 100
percent and inactive employees with no covera@episrcent.

For current retirees, the actual elections as tedoare used. Husbands are assumed to be two glel@rsthan
wives for male employees and three years oldefiefoale employees.

Discount Rate
The total OPEB liability was calculated using thecdunt rate of 4.11 percent. Since the plan islégnby a “pay-
as-you-go” system, the 20-year AA rated municipaidrate was used as both the discount rate.

Sensitivity of the City's Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount RateNet OPEB liability is sensitive to
changes in the discount rate, and to illustrateptitential impact the following table presents tie¢ OPEB liability
calculated using the discount rate of 3.20 percastwell as what the net OPEB liability would beitifwere
calculated using a discount rate that is one péagenpoint lower (2.20 percent), or one percenfagat higher
(4.20 percent) than the current rate.

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(3.11%) (4.11%) (5.11%)
City's proportionate share
of the net OPEB liability $ 9333111 $ 8551540% 7,872,538
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NOTE 19 — DEFINED BENEFIT SINGLE EMPLOYER OPEB PLAN (CONTINUED)

Sensitivity of the City’s Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Health Care Cost Trend RateChanges in the
health care cost trend rate may also have a signifimpact on the net OPEB liability. The follogitable presents
the net OPEB liability calculated using the assurtredd rates, and the expected net OPEB liabifity were
calculated using a health care cost trend rateigHa® percent lower or 1.0 percent higher thanctirrent rate.

City's proportionate share
of the net OPEB liability

Changes in the Net OPEB Liability

Current Health
Care Cost Trend
Rate Assumption

1% Decrease 1% Increase

$

8,076,501 $ 8,551,540 $ 9,088,940

The following tables represent the changes in teé QPEB Liability during the measurement periodegaen

actuarial valuation date of January 1, 2018:

Reconciliation of Total OPEB Liability

1/1/18 Net OPEB Liability

Service Cost
Interest Cost
contributions

new inflow - experience

$ 10,445,503

Employer Contributions

Total Benefits Paid

Total OPEB Liability

Fiduciary Net Position

211,322
354,573
(704,913)
(1,205,511)
new inflow - assumptions (549,434)
12/31/18 Net OPEB Liability $ 8,551,540
Reconciliation of Fiduciary Net Position
1/1/18 Fiduciary Net Position $ -
704,913
(704,913)
12/31/18 Fiduciary Net Position $ -
Net OPEB Liability
$ 8,551,540
$ 8,551,540

Net OPEB Liability

Due to the plan using the pay-as-you-go methodethl be no Fiduciary Net Position.
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NOTE 20 — JOINTLY GOVERNED ORGANIZATIONS

Boston Township-City of Cuyahoga Falls Joint Econotic Development District (District)

The City of Cuyahoga Falls entered into a contcagreement with Boston Township on March 1, 2694
facilitate economic development to create or praesgobs and employment opportunities and to imprthe

economic welfare of the people of the State, tharBg the City, the Township and the District. TB#strict is

directed by a six member Board of Directors, in chhiwo members representing the City are appoihiethe

Mayor; two members representing the Township apoimped by the Township trustees; one member repties

active businesses within the District, who shall eeesident of the Township, is appointed by theviighip

Trustees and one member representing the emplajesgive businesses within the District, who shwla City

resident is appointed by the Mayor. The territdbiaundaries of the District is located in the Tahip and known
as being a part of Township lots 7, 8 and 9. Tdre@ment requires the Board of Directors of thdriaisto impose

an income tax equal to 2 percent of gross taxalglenne of persons working in the District, with stéd to increase
or decrease to remain consistent with the Cuyaliads income tax. Income tax revenues in excesthage

provided to the District shall be paid or creditegich quarter by the City’s Tax Administrator withaeed of

further action by the Treasurer of the Board in filllowing manner: forty Percent of that amounth® paid or
credited to the Township and the remaining sixtycBet of that amount to be paid or credited to@ity. The

District distributes the income tax receipts to @ity and Township in the month subsequent to pamillection.

The revenues of that income tax shall be usedhpurpose of the District and the contractingipanursuant to
the District’s contract and may be used for anyppee not prohibited by law. The City is the fisagkent for the
District. Upon termination of the contract, anyoperty, assets and obligations of the District Ishal divided
equally between the City and the Township; provithed the District shall first use any propertyagsets to reduce
or settle any obligations of the District.

Akron Metropolitan Area Transportation Study

The City participates in the Akron Metropolitan Arélransportation Study (AMATS). The basic missidn o
AMATS is to provide quality transportation plannifigr an effective and efficient transportation syst The
Akron metropolitan area includes Summit and Porammties and a portion of Wayne County. AMATSed by
the AMATS Transportation Policy Committee. The Gigya member of the 45 member Policy Committee ithat
responsible for the preparation of regional trangtion policies, plans and programs that meetatteas present
and future needs. In 2018, the City contribute®89,to the Akron Metropolitan Area Transportatidndy, which
represents the City’s formula share.

NOTE 21 — TAX ABATEMENT DISCLOSURES

The establishment of Community Reinvestment Areagsgthe City the ability to attract, retain andpard
businesses located in the City. Residential abatesvaae provided to encourage investment in cegegas of the
City where repair of existing structures or consfian of new structures has been discouraged.

Pursuant to the Ohio Revised Code Chapter 5709Cityeestablished three (3) Community Reinvestmimas.
The areas were created after 1994. The City previmh commercial and residential abatements uodeain
circumstances outlined in the legislation.

The City authorizes business incentives througtsamges of public ordinances, based upon investméteriarand

through a contractual application process. The esbant equals an agreed upon percentage of theicaadlit
property tax resulting from the increase in assksséue as a result of the improvement(s). The GitZuyahoga
Falls offers businesses CRA property tax abatentezaged upon a project investment of at least $280zhd the
creation or retention of jobs. The City also comgaes, under certain circumstances, the varidusosdlistricts

for revenues lost due to tax exemptions as reqiyeal709.82 of the Ohio Revised Code.
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Certain residential projects are offered incentite®ugh the passage of the public ordinancesdlistaove. An
application is submitted to the County. The abatgneguals an agreed upon percentage of the adalitfowoperty
tax resulting from the increase in assessed vatua aesult of the improvement(s). In both residérand
commercial abatements, the amount of the abateimdetiucted from the owners’ property tax bill.

Total amount of taxes abated for projects for weating 12/31/2018:

Commercial = $ 912,802.19
Residential = $ 149,267.13

NOTE 22 — CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND RESTATEMENT OF
NET POSITION

A. Change in Accounting Principles
The City has implemented the following Governme#itatounting Standards Board (GASB) Statements:

GASB Statement No. 7%ccounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions.

The objective of this statement is to improve actimg and financial reporting by state and locateroments for
postemployment benefits other than pensions (qibstemployment benefits or OPEB) and improves méiion
provided by state and local governmental emplowsut financial support for OPEB that is provideddther
entities by establishing new accounting and finaln@porting requirements for OPEB plans. The imm@atation of
this statement had the following effect on net posias reported December 31, 2017 as noted inddeBt

GASB Statement No. 8%)mnibus 2017. This statemenaddresses a variety of topics including issuegadlto
blending component units, goodwill, fair value m&asnent and application, and postemployment benefit
(pensions and other postemployment benefits (OPERJese changes were incorporated in the Cityafigear
2018 financial statements; however, there was feziedn beginning net position/fund balance.

GASB Statement No. 8&ertain Debt Extinuishment Issues. This statement improves consistency in accounting
and financial reporting for in-substance defeasafadebt. This Statement also improves accountid)fanancial
reporting for prepaid insurance on debt that isngxtished and notes to financial statements fot thett is defeased

in substance. These changes were incorporateckiitly’s fiscal year 2018 financial statements; buer, there
was no effect on beginning net position/fund badanc
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NOTE 22 — CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND RESTATEMENT OF
NET POSITION (CONTINUED)

B. Restatement of Net Position

Governmental Business-typr
Activities Activities
Net position December 31, 2C $ 84,164,81 $ 117,24547
Adjustments relating to implementation of GASB N&:
Net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liabiifension Syster (30,314,022 (6,306,593
Deferred outflows-payments made subsequent to mzasat date OPE 148,760 91,64¢
Net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liabil
City Defined Benefit Single Employer P (10,445,502 -
Restated net position December 31, - £ 43554,05. $ 111,030,562
Sewage an Leisure Time Storm Drainage Total
Disposa Water Electric Sanitation Activities Utility Enterprise Funds
Net position December 31, 2C $ 19,251,890 $ 20,368,755 $ 4359972 $ 4,000,97 $ 1923625 $ 12,38050 $ 118,838,10
Adjustments relating to implementation of GASB N&:
Net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liabiifension Syster (505,673 (935,813 (2,107,757 (721,677 (1,756,299 (279,374 (6,306,593
Deferred outflows-payments made subsequent to measat date OPE 7,34¢ 13,59¢ 30,62¢ 10,487 25,52: 4,060 91,64¢
Restated net position December 31, $ 18,753,566, & 10,44654 & 41,52260 $ 3,289,78 $ 1750547 $ 12,105,18 § 112,623,16
Governmental
Activities
Internal

Service Fund:

Net position December 31, 2C $ (7,092,731
Adjustments relating to implementation of GASB N&:
Net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liab#iffension Syster (342,070
Deferred outflows-payments made subsequent to measat date OPE 4,971
Net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liabil
City Defined Benefit Single Employer P (10,445,502
Restated net position December 31, 2017 $ 17,875,333)
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Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of City’s Proportionate Share of Net Pensn Liability/Net Pension Asset
Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)
Last Five Years (1)

Traditional Plan 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
City's Proportion of the Net Pension Liability 084D4% 0.128688% 0.126127% 0.127518% 0.127518%
City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension litgbi $20,144,098 $29,222,856 $21,846,787 $15,380,096 ,0R5710
City's Covered Payroll $16,968,723 $16,456,900 $15,699,108 $15,685,492 $13623
City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Litgbi
as a Percentage of its Covered Payroll 118.71% 19%7.57 139.16% 98.05% 98.17%
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of tal
Pension Liability 84.66% 77.25% 81.08% 86.45% 86.36%
Combined Plan 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
City's Proportion of the Net Pension (Asset) 0.140312% 0.144536% 0.156700% 0.167910% 0.167910%
City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension (B\sse ($191,010) ($80,444) ($76,256) ($64,650) ($17,619)
City's Covered Payroll $574,646 $556,786 $570,242 $618,417 $494,446
City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension (\sse
as a Percentage of its Covered Payroll 33.24% 14.45% 3.37% 10.45% 3.56%
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of tal
Pension Liability (Asset) 137.28% 116.55% 116.90% 114.83% 104.33%

(1) Information prior to 2014 is not available. 8dule is intended to show ten years of informationd additional years'
will be displayed as it becomes available.

Amounts presented as of the City's measurementxdatd is the prior year end.

See accompanying notes to the required supplenyenfarmation.
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Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of City’s Proportionate Share of Net Pensn Liability
Ohio Police and Fire Pension Fund (OP&F)

Last Five Years (1)

Police 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
City's Proportion of the Net Pension Liability 022145% 0.2116715% 0.2069667% 0.2070668% 0.2070668%
City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension litgtbi $13,018,423 $13,407,060 $13,314,310 $10,726,924 ,0RH0803
City's Covered Payroll $5,167,553 $5,085,095 $4,680,253 $4,562,400 $5,701,093
City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Litgtbi
as a Percentage of its Covered Payroll 251.93% 263.65% 284.48% 235.12% 176.89%
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage oT thal
Pension Liability 70.91% 68.36% 66.77% 71.71% 73.00%

Fire 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

City's Proportion of the Net Pension Liability 03831.16% 0.2909230% 0.2889364% 0.2967296% 0.2967296%
City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension litgbi $18,020,270 $18,426,768 $18,587,481 $15,371,831 45114662
City's Covered Payroll $5,818,443 $5,708,877 $5,285,672 $5,343,464 $6,179,778
City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Litgbi
as a Percentage of its Covered Payroll 309.71% 322.77% 351.66% 287.68% 233.85%
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of ttel
Pension Liability 70.91% 68.36% 66.77% 71.71% 73.00%

(1) Information prior to 2014 is not available. 8dhle is intended to show ten years of informataong additional years'

will be displayed as it becomes available.

Amounts presented as of the City's measurementdagh is the prior year end.

See accompanying notes to the required supplenyenfarmation.
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of City Contributions
Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)
Last Six Years (1)

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Contractually Required Contributions

Traditional Plan 2,406,234 2,205,934 1,974,828 1,883,893 1,882,259 1,990,737

Combined Plan 83,047 74,704 66,814 68,429 74,210 64,278
Total Required Contributions $2,489,281 $2,280,638 042642 $1,952,322 $1,956,469 $2,055,015
Contributions in Relation to the Contractually Riegd
Contribution ($2,489,281) ($2,280,638) ($2,041,642) ($1,952,322) 98,469) ($2,055,015)
Contribution Deficiency / (Excess) $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
City's Covered Payrc

Traditional Plan $17,187,386 $16,968,723 $16,456,900 $15,699,108 $13835 $15,313,362

Combined Plan $593,193 $574,646 $556,786 $570,242 $618,417 $494,446
Pension Contributions as a Percentage of CovergabiPa

Traditional Plan 14.00% 13.00% 12.00% 12.00% 12.00% 13.00%

Combined Plan 14.00% 13.00% 12.00% 12.00% 12.00% 13.00%

(1) Information prior to 2013 is not available. 8dule is intended to show ten years of informataomd additional years'
will be displayed as it becomes available.

See accompanying notes to the required supplenyenfarmation
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of City Contributions
Ohio Police and Fire Pension Fund (OP&F)
Last Ten Years

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Contractually Required Contributions
Police $ 1,014,791 % 981,835 $ 966,168 $ 889,248 $ 866,856
Fire 1,402,400 1,367,334 1,341,586 1,242,133 1,255,714
Total Required Contributions 2,417,191 2,349,169 2,307,754 2,131,381 2,122,570
Contributions in Relation to the Contractually Riegd (2,417,191) (2,349,169) (2,307,754) (2,131,381) (2,122,570)
Contributior
Contribution Deficiency / (Excess) $ - 8 - $ -3 -3 -
City’s Covered Payroll
Police $ 5,341,005 $ 5,167,553 $ 5,085,095 $ 4,680,253 $ 4,562,400
Fire $ 5,967,660 $ 5,818,443 $ 5,708,877 $ 5,285,672 $ 5,343,464
Pension Contributions as a Percentage of CovergmbliPa
Police 19.00% 19.00% 19.00% 19.00% 19.00%
Fire 23.50% 23.50% 23.50% 23.50% 23.50%
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Contractually Required Contributions
Police $ 896,782 $ 928,627 $ 908,086 $ 975,614 $ 1,101,570
Fire 1,250,169 1,285,282 1,255,091 1,253,837 1,296,683
Total Required Contributions 2,146,951 2,213,909 2,163,177 2,229,451 2,398,253
Contributions in Relation to the Contractually Regd (2,146,951) (2,213,909) (2,163,177) (2,229,451) (2,398,253)
Contributior
Contribution Deficiency / (Excess) $ - 8 - $ -3 -3 -
City’s Covered Payroll
Police $ 5,701,093 $ 7,283,349 $ 7,122,243  $ 7,651,875 $ 8,639,765
Fire $ 6,179,778 $ 7,450,910 $ 7,275,890 $ 7,268,620 $ 7,517,003
Pension Contributions as a Percentage of CovergmiPa
Police [1] 12.75% 12.75% 12.75% 12.75%
Fire [1] 17.25% 17.25% 17.25% 17.25%
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the &t OPEB Liability
Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)
Last Two Years (1)

201¢ 2017

City's Proportion of the Net OPI

Liability 0.1256309 0.1263709
City's Proportionate Share of the

OPEB Liability $ 13,642,49 $ 12,763,79
City's Covered Payrc $ 17,794,45  $ 17,463,16
City's Proportionate Share of the

OPEB Liability as a Percente

of its Covered Payrc 76.67% 73.09¥%
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as

Percentage of the Total OP

Liability 54.14% 54.04%

(1) Information prior to 2017 is not available. 8dhle is intended to show ten years of informat
and additional years' will be displayed dseitomes availabli

Amounts presented as of the City's measuredatn
which is the prior calendar year e

See accompanying notes to the required supplenyanfarmation
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the &t OPEB Liability

Ohio Police and Fire Pension Fund (OP&F)
Last Two Years (1)

201¢ 2017

City's Proportion of the Net OPI

Liability 0.5057269 0.5025909
City's Proportionate Share of the

OPEB Liability 28,653,73 23,856,81
City's Covered Payrc 10,985,99 10,793,97
City's Proportionate Share of the

OPEB Liability as a Percente

of its Covered Payrc 260.82Y 221.02%
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as

Percentage of the Total OP

Liability 14.13% 15.96¥%

(1) Information prior to 2017 is not available. 8dule is intended to show ten years of informat
and additional years' will be displayed dseitomes availabls

Amounts presented as of the City's measuredan
which is the prior calendar year e

See accompanying notes to the required supplenyenfarmation
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of the City’s Contributions — OPEB
Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)

Last Four Years (1)

201¢ 2017 201¢ 201¢

Contractually Required Contributi $ 9,727 $ 185,47¢ $ 354,57¢ $ 325,36
Contributions in Relation to tt

Contractually Required Contributi (9,727 (185,478 (354,575 (325,362
Contribution Deficiency (Exces $ - $ - $ - $
City Covered Payrc $ 18,022,90 $ 17,794,45 $ 17,463,16. 0 $ 16,563,81
Contributions as a Percentage

Covered Payrc 0.05% 1.04% 2.03% 1.96%

(1) Information prior to 2015 is not available. 8dhle is intended to show ten years of informat
and additional years' will be displayed dseitomes availabl

See accompanying notes to the required supplenyanfarmation
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of the City’s Contributions — OPEB
Ohio Police and Fire Pension Fund (OP&F)
Last Ten Years

201¢ 2017 201¢€ 201¢ 2014
Contractually Required Contributi $ 56,54: $ 54,93( $ 54,07« $ 53,85¢ $ 53,16:
Contributions in Relation to tt
Contractually Required Contributi (56,543 (54,930 (54,074 (53,855 (53,163
Contribution Deficiency (Exces $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
City Covered Payrc $ 11,308,66 $ 10,985,99 $ 10,793,97 $ 9,965,92! $ 9,905,86.
Contributions as a Percentage
Covered Payrc 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50%
201z 201z 2011 201C 200¢
Contractually Required Contributi $ 357,02( $ 682,93: $ 667,33 $ 690,35 $ 746,00!
Contributions in Relation to tt
Contractually Required Contributi (357,020 (682,934 (667,331 (690,355 (746,005
Contribution Deficiency (Exces $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
City Covered Payrc $ 11,880,87 $ 14,734,25 $ 14,398,13 $ 14,920,49 $ 16,156,76
Contributions as a Percentage
Covered Payrc 3.62% 6.75% 6.75% 6.75% 6.75%
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of the City’s Net OPEB Liability
Other Post-Employment Benefits — Single Employer
Last Two Years (1)

201¢ 2017
Total OPEB Liability $ 8,551,541 $ 10,445,50
Net OPEB Liability $ 8,551,541 $ 10,445,50
City's Covered Payrc $ 29,089,24 % 28,529,36
City's Net OPEB Liability as a Percent
of its Covered Payrc 29.40¥% 36.61%

(1) Information prior to 2017 is not available. Schedslmtended to show ten years of informati
and additional years' will be displayed as it becomaitade.

See accompanying notes to the required supplementary infon
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of the City’s Contributions — OPEB
Other Post-Employment Benefit — Single Employer
Last Two Years (1)

201¢ 2017

Contractually Required Contributi $ 554,59: $ 535,41
Contributions in Relation to tf

Contractually Required Contributi (554,591 (535,413
Contribution Deficiency (Exces $ - $ -
City Covered Payrc $ 29,089,24. $ 28,529,36
Contributions as a Percentage

Covered Payrc 1.91% 1.88%

(1) Information prior to 2017 is not available. 8dhle is intended to show ten ye
of information, and additional years' will Besplayed as it becomes availat

See accompanying notes to the required supplenyaenfarmation

127



City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information
December 31, 2018

OHIO PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (OPERS)
Changesin benefit terms. There were no changes in benefit terms from theusutsareported for 2014-2018.

Changes in assumptions. There were no changes in methods and assumpti@singhe calculation of actuarial
determined contributions for 2014-2016 and 2018.284.7, the following changes of assumptions aéfé¢he total
pension liability since the prior measurement d@tgthe expected investment return was reduced &®0 percent
to 7.50 percent, (b) the expected long-term averagge inflation rate was reduced from 3.75 perden8.25
percent, (c) the expected long-term average priffation rate was reduced from 3.00 percent to Dé&ent, (d)
Rates of withdrawal, retirement and disability weigdated to reflect recent experience, (e) moytakites were
updated to the RP-2014 Health Annuitant Mortaligble, adjusted for mortality improvement back te dibservant
period base year of 2006 and then establishedabke year as 2015 (f) mortality rates used in etialgaisability
allowances were updated to the RP-2014 Disableddlityrtables, adjusted for mortality improvemeiaick to the
observation base year of 2006 and a base yearld 0 males and 2010 for females (g) Mortalityesafor a
particular calendar year for both healthy and deshbetiree mortality tables are determined by gipgl the MP-
2015 mortality improvement scale to the above diesdrtables.

Net OPEB Liability
Changesin benefit terms: There were no changes in benefit terms from theusus reported for 2018.

Changesin assumptions: For 2018, the single discount rate changed frit8 gpercent to 3.85 percent.

OHIO POLICE AND FIRE (OP&F) PENSION FUND

Net Pension Liability
Changes in benefit terms: There were no changes in benefit terms from theusms reported for 2014-2018.

Changes in assumptions. There were no changes in methods and assumpi&ets in the calculation of actuarial
determined contributions for 2014-2017. For 201&, following changes of assumptions affected t& fwension
liability since the prior measurement date: (a) itheestment rate of return was reduced from 8.2%5e# to 8.00
percent (b) the projected salary increases wasceedfrom 4.25 percent to 3.75 percent (c) the phimoreases
was reduced from 3.75 percent to 3.25 percenth@)rflation assumptions was reduced from 3.25q@rto 2.75
percent (e) the cost of living adjustments was cedufrom 2.60 percent to 2.20 percent (f) ratesvittidrawal,
disability and service retirement were updatedetitect recent experience (g) mortality rates wepdated to the
RP-2014 Total Employee and Health Annuitant Motyaliable, adjusted for mortality improvement baokthe
observant period base year of 2006 and then esft@blithe base year as 2016 (h) mortality rates insebluating
disability allowances were updated to the RP-201ghiiled Mortality tables, adjusted for mortalitygravement
back to the observation base year of 2006 ande e of 2016

Net OPEB Liability
Changesin benefit terms: There were no changes in benefit terms from theusms reported for 2018.

Changesin assumptions. For 2018, the single discount rate changed froff Bercent to 3.24 percent
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

COMBINING STATEMENTS AND
INDIVIDUAL FUND STATEMENTS
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Major Governmental Funds

General Fund To account for all financial resources except thasgiired to
be accounted for in another fund.

Capital Projects To account for income tax revenue which must be dse€fund
capital projects in accordance with local law.
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in EuBalance -

Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Generdrund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Revenues

Property taxes
Income taxes
Other local taxes
State levied shared taxes
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fees, licenses, and permits
Interest earnings
Fines and forfeitures
Other

Total revenues

Expenditures
Current
Security of persons and property
Police
Personal services
Other operations
Total - Police
Fire
Personal services
Other operations
Total - Fire
Technical Services
Personal services
Other operations
Total - Technical Services
Communications
Personal services
Other operations
Total - Communications
Total - Security of persons and property
Leisure time activities
Parks & Recreation
Personal services
Other operations
Total - Leisure time activities
Community environment
Riverfront Centre District
Personal services
Other operations
Total - Riverfront Centre District
Community / Economic Development
Personal services
Other operations
Total - Community / Economic Development

Neighborhood Excellence, Communications, And Comitgu@utreach

Personal services
Other operations

Total - Neighborhood Excellence, Communicationsgd ommunity Outreach

Total - Community environment

131

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget

Positive

Original Final Actual (Negative)
$ 9,347,782 $ 9,419,107 $ 9,429,164 $ 10,057
15,913,995 14,731,618 15,025,364 293,746
2,449,950 2,615,906 2,607,449 (8,457)
2,527,204 2,595,682 2,596,675 993
203,799 236,701 234,063 (2,638)
3,816,366 3,770,545 3,787,361 16,816
113,960 159,198 165,394 6,196
650,000 800,000 813,725 13,725
224,500 224,500 186,886 (37,614)
234,883 257,710 325,375 67,665
35,482,439 34,810,967 35,171,456 360,489
7,585,542 7,485,542 7,337,054 148,488
1,004,032 1,004,032 968,778 35,254
8,589,574 8,489,574 8,305,832 183,742
7,482,208 7,447,208 7,402,750 44,458
855,868 855,868 764,362 91,506
8,338,076 8,303,076 8,167,112 135,964
511,495 504,495 501,081 3,414
78,038 86,038 80,523 5,515
589,533 590,533 581,604 8,929
1,035,985 1,035,985 902,724 133,261
176,647 176,647 155,895 20,752
1,212,632 1,212,632 1,058,619 154,013
18,729,815 18,595,815 18,113,167 482,648
1,520,606 1,526,606 1,495,211 31,395
733,280 792,321 657,499 134,822
2,253,886 2,318,927 2,152,710 166,217
297,047 118,633 118,632 1
353,109 29,143 28,846 297
650,156 147,776 147,478 298
748,925 748,925 699,699 49,226
134,795 155,295 128,159 27,136
883,720 904,220 827,858 76,362
- 157,054 156,247 807
- 59,115 14,768 44,347
- 216,169 171,015 45,154
1,533,876 1,268,165 1,146,351 121,814




City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in EuBalance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Generdrund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

(Continued)

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
General government

General Administration

Other operations $ 1,026,960 $ 1,011,960 $ 1,010,568 1,392
Total - General Administration 1,026,960 1,011,960 1,010,568 1,392
Council

Personal services 285,423 285,423 285,280 143

Other operations 2,785 2,785 1,044 1,741
Total - Council 288,208 288,208 286,324 1,884
Mayor

Personal services 262,445 262,445 262,330 115

Other operations 8,490 8,490 5,558 2,932
Total - Mayor 270,935 270,935 267,888 3,047
Mayor's Court

Personal services 145,732 150,432 150,107 325

Other operations 37,197 32,497 27,217 5,280
Total - Mayor's Court 182,929 182,929 177,324 5,605
Finance Director

Personal services 801,885 800,885 778,247 22,638

Other operations 111,775 112,775 100,661 12,114
Total - Finance Director 913,660 913,660 878,908 34,752
Law Director

Personal services 810,634 790,634 788,707 1,927

Other operations 176,430 200,430 192,164 8,266
Total - Law Director 987,064 991,064 980,871 10,193
Service Director

Personal services 353,430 347,918 335,719 12,199

Other operations 13,232 23,232 21,792 1,440
Total - Service Director 366,662 371,150 357,511 13,639
Civil Service Commission

Personal services 12,579 12,579 12,253 326

Other operations 39,780 44,780 44,452 328
Total - Civil Service Commission 52,359 57,359 56,705 654
Engineering

Personal services 1,013,137 1,012,737 987,240 25,497

Other operations 66,543 66,908 59,864 7,044
Total - Engineering 1,079,680 1,079,645 1,047,104 32,541
Human Resources / Records

Personal services 240,098 240,098 239,541 557

Other operations 21,526 21,562 16,792 4,770
Total - Human Resources / Records 261,624 261,660 256,333 5,327
Building and Grounds Maintenance

Personal services 749,961 872,698 828,555 44,143

Other operations 523,635 702,944 577,223 125,721
Total - Building and Grounds Maintenance 1,273,596 1,575,642 1,405,778 169,864
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHund Balance -

Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Gemal Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

General government (Continued)
Municipal Income Tax
Personal services
Other operations
Total - Municipal Income Tax
Information Services
Personal services
Other operations
Total - Information Services
Total - General government
Total expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
Over (under) expenditures
Other Financing (Uses)
Transfers out
Total other financing (uses)

Net change in fund balances
Fund balance at beginning of year

Prior year encumbrances appropriated

Fund balance at end of year
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(Continued)

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget

Positive

Original Final Actual (Negative)
320,639 144,589 144,589 -
917,477 808,402 793,497 14,905
1,238,116 952,991 938,086 14,905
733,988 728,988 720,354 8,634
125,227 130,227 123,684 6,543
859,215 859,215 844,038 15,177
8,801,008 8,816,418 8,507,438 308,980
31,318,585 30,999,325 29,919,666 1,079,659
4,163,854 3,811,642 5,251,790 1,440,148
(5,426,428) (5,337,064) (5,336,297) 767
(5,426,428) (5,337,064) (5,336,297) 767
(1,262,574) (1,525,422) (84,507) 1,440,915
9,136,089 9,136,089 9,136,089 -
226,088 226,088 226,088 -
$ 8,099,603 $ 7,836,755 $ 9,277,670 1,440,915




City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHand Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Capal Projects Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Revenues
Income taxes
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Special assessments
Other
Total revenues

Expenditures
Current
Capital outlay
Debt service
Principal
Interest
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures

Other Financing Sources
Bond/note issuance
Transfers in
Total other financing sources
Net change in fund balances
Fund balance at beginning of year

Prior year encumbrances appropriated

Fund balance at end of year

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
$ 6,877,885 $ 6,481,930 $ 6,481,930 -
1,381,189 887,701 815,032 (72,669)
1,415,000 1,365,536 1,320,427 (45,109)
131,524 91,944 69,888 (22,056)
75,000 153,398 153,398 -
9,880,598 8,980,509 8,840,675 (139,834)
19,190,679 19,390,413 17,019,916 2,370,497
7,259,774 7,259,774 7,259,774 -
130,863 130,863 130,861 2
26,581,316 26,781,050 24,410,551 2,370,499
(16,700,718) (17,800,541) (15,569,876) 2,230,665
10,601,190 10,665,000 10,665,000 -
650,000 800,000 800,000 -
11,251,190 11,465,000 11,465,000 -
(5,449,528) (6,335,541) (4,104,876) 2,230,665
501,056 501,056 501,056 -
6,087,616 6,087,616 6,087,616 -
$ 1,139,144 % 253,131 $ 2,483,796 2,230,665
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Special Revenue Funds To account for specific revenues that are legadistricted to
expenditure for particular purposes.

State Highway Improvement Required by the Ohio Revised Code to account fat piortion
of the state gasoline tax and motor vehicle regfistn fees for
maintenance of state highways within the City.

Street Construction, Maintenance Required by the Ohio Revised Code to account fat plortion
and Repair of the state gasoline tax and motor vehicle regfistn fees for
maintenance of streets within the City.

Police Pension To accumulate property taxes and other monieshiopayment
of the current and accrued liability for police abdity and
pension benefits.

Fire Pension To accumulate property taxes and other monieshfopayment
of the current and accrued liability for fire didip and
pension benefits.

Recreation Levy To account for income tax collections received, pedified
ordinance. The revenue must be used for improvesmeade
to parks and recreation facilities.

Permissive Tax Required by the Ohio Revised Code to account foallgehicle
license fees designated for the maintenance ddtstrithin the
City. These funds are controlled by the county amited to
non-residential connector streets.

Community and Economic Development To account for monies received from the sale of-Giwned
properties in an urban renewal area.

Community Development Block Grant To account for monies received from the federalegoment
through the Department of Housing and Urban Devakpt as
a direct entitlement community. The funding reee€ivis to
directly benefit low and moderate income personsttie
community. Projects funded include housing relitaiibn,
economic development activities, infrastructure jguts,
planning and administrative costs that meet thegnamos
national objectives. Projects are approved viarmamual action
plan. Fund also accounts for repayments from previ
activities related to participation in the Summau®ty program
as a sub-recipient.

Enterprise Zone/Community Reinvestment To account for fees collected from enterprises iviaog a tax

Area incentive through an enterprise zone agreemernth®purpose
of administering and monitoring the Enterprise Zone
Agreement.

Drug Law Enforcement To account for fines received by the City that aestricted

under the Ohio Revised Code to subsidize law eafosnt
efforts that pertain to drug offenses.

Law Enforcement Trust To account for proceeds from the sale of contrakihadl are
restricted to subsidizing law enforcement efforts.
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Nonmajor Governmental Funds (Continued)

Enforcement and Education To account for proceeds realized from fines to paly those
costs incurred in enforcing Section 4511.19 of@o Revised
Code or a substantially similar municipal ordinareed in
educating the public of laws governing the operatba motor
vehicle and the dangers of operation of a motoicletwhile
under the influence of alcohol and other informatielating to
the operation of a motor vehicle and the consumptid
alcoholic beverages.

Municipal Motor Vehicle License Tax Required by the Ohio Revised Code to account foalleehicle
license fees designated for the maintenance o#ioestreets
within the City.

Federal Law Enforcement To account for the subsidy received by the Poliepddtment
for its efforts pertaining to (1) complex
investigations/prosecutions by the City's PoliceilLa
Departments; (2) provision of technical trainingeopertise of
a law enforcement nature for Police Department nezmhk(3)
provision of matching funds to obtain federal gsasmind (4) for
such other law enforcement purposes that are deemed
appropriate.

Law Enforcement Assistance To account for the reimbursement of professiorahing costs
for law enforcement officers.

State Road Public Improvement Tax To account for service payments and any associatifithck

Increment Equivalent payments distributed to the City with respect tgiavements
on the property known as Portage Crossing. Modeyp®sited
in the fund shall be used to pay any and all plgni
engineering, acquisition, construction, installafidinancing
costs and any other direct or indirect costs of public
improvement; interest and principal of bonds oresptto
reimburse the City, the State of Ohio or other gownental
entity for any funds used to pay costs of the mubli
improvement; and to compensated the school digtricsuant
to the School Agreement.

Debt Service Fund To account for and report financial resources &natrestricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for princga interest.

Debt Service Fund To account for the accumulation of resources fat payment
of general obligation principal, interest, and teth
expenditures.

Permanent Fund To account for resources that are legally resttittethe extent
that only earnings, and not principal, may be usegurposes
that support the government’s programs.

Cemetery Perpetual Care Permanent Fund To account for monies received for the perpetuak caf
cemetery lots. The amounts received are held germanent
fund, and the interest received on the invested i@soms
available for care of the cemetery lots.
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Governmental Fuafs

December 31, 2018

Assets
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Taxes
Accounts
(net of allowance for uncollectibles)
Loans
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Inventory of supplies
Prepaid items

Total asse

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Fund Balances
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits
Due to other funds
Due to other governments
Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Revenues levied for the next year and unavailavenue

Fund Balances
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows and fund balasc

Cemetery Total
Nonmajor Debt Perpetual Care Nonmajor
Special Revenue Service Permanent Governmental
Funds Fund Fund Funds

$ 1,780,11% 7391 % 126,519 $ 1,914,029

1,695,173 6,940 118,800 1,820,913
887,806 - - 887,806
233,836 - - 233,836
2,720,813 - - 2,720,813
145,000 - - 145,000
1,183,846 - - 1,183,846
571,580 - - 571,580
18,063 - - 18,063

$ 9,236,23! $ 14,33! $ 245,31¢ $ 9,495,88!

$ 14,849 $ - 3 - $ 14,849
66,841 - - 66,841

14,519 - - 14,519

198,899 - - 198,899
295,108 - - 295,108
1,712,447 - - 1,712,447

589,643 - 245,319 834,962
6,689,780 14,331 - 6,704,111
1,728 - - 1,728
(52,470) - - (52,470)
7,228,681 14,331 245,319 7,488,331
245,319 $ 9,495,886

5 0236236
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures andianges in Fund Balances -

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Revenues

Property taxes
Municipal income taxes
Other local taxes
State levied shared taxes
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fees, licenses and permits
Interest earnings
Fines and forfeitures
Other

Total revenues

Expenditures
Current
Security of persons and property
Leisure time activities
Community environment
Street maintenance
General government
Capital outlay
Debt Service
Principal
Interest
Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures

Other Financing Sources
Transfers in

Total other financing sources
Net change in fund balances
Fund balance at beginning of year

Change in reserve for inventory
Change in reserve for prepaid items

Fund balance at end of y:
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Cemetery Total
Nonmajor Debt Perpetual Care Nonmajor
Special Revenu Service Permaneni Governmental
Funds Fund Fund Funds

543,990 $ - % - % 543,990
1,768,000 - - 1,768,000
961,234 - - 961,234
2,350,242 - - 2,350,242
858,301 - - 858,301

- - 2,535 2,535

665,680 - - 665,680
338 133 763 1,234
39,597 - - 39,597
31,636 - - 31,636
7,219,018 133 3,298 7,222,449
2,540,019 - - 2,540,019
1,327,409 - - 1,327,409
794,950 - - 794,950
3,542,925 - - 3,542,925

- - 2,761 2,761

400,000 - - 400,000
219,000 - - 219,000
253,560 - - 253,560
9,077,863 - 2,761 9,080,624
(1,858,845) 133 537 (1,858,175)
2,410,000 - - 2,410,000
2,410,000 - - 2,410,000
551,155 133 537 551,825
6,904,915 14,198 244,782 7,163,895
(222,023) - - (222,023)
(5,366) - - (5,366)

7,228,68: $ 14,33! $ 245,31¢ $ 7,488,33.




City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Special Revent&inds
December 31, 2018

Street
State Construction,
Highway Maintenance Police Fire
Improvement and Repair Pension Pension
Assets
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents $ 2,74% 606,432 $ 17,584 $ 12,949
Investments 2,614 577,506 16,744 12,331
Receivables
Taxes - - 270,006 270,006
Accounts
(net of allowance for uncollectibles) - 225,622 - -
Loans - - - -
Due from other funds - 5,000 - -
Due from other governments 74,223 915,418 21,421 21,421
Inventory of supplies - 571,580 - -
Prepaid items - 18,063 - -
Total assets $ 79,582 $ 2,919,621 $ 325,755 $ 316,707
Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Fund Balances
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ - $ 2,157 $ - $ -
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits - 64,627 - -
Due to other funds - 9,189 - -
Due to other governments - 9,966 55,762 56,316
Total liabilities - 85,939 55,762 56,316
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Revenues levied for the next year and unavailaerue 52,363 764,339 291,427 291,427
Fund Balances
Nonspendable - 589,643 - -
Restricted 27,219 1,479,700 - -
Committed - - - -
Unassigned - - (21,434) (31,036)
Total fund balances 27,219 2,069,343 (21,434) (31,036)
Total liabilities, deferred inflows and fund balasc $ 79,582 $ 2,919,621 $ 325,755 $ 316,707
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Special Reventeinds

December 31, 2018

Assets
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Taxes
Accounts
(net of allowance for uncollectibles)
Loans
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Inventory of supplies
Prepaid items

Total assets

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Fund Balances
Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits
Due to other funds
Due to other governments
Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Revenues levied for the next year and unavailaernue

Fund Balances
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Unreserved - undesignated
Total fund balances

Total liabilities and fund balances

Community
and Community
Recreation Permissive Economic Development
Levy Tax Development Block Grant

$ 643,466 1 3 885 $ 148,715
612,773 1 843 141,622

271 - - -
- - - 2,720,813

140,000 - - -
- 49,225 - 42,174

$ 1,396,510 $ 49,227 % 1,728 $ 3,053,324
$ 12,160 $ - $ - $ -
- - - 2,214

1,845 - - 11

- - - 340

14,005 - - 2,565
1,382,505 49,227 - 3,050,759

- - 1,728 -

1,382,505 49,227 1,728 3,050,759

$ 1,396,510 % 49,227 $ 1,728 $ 3,053,324
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Special Reventinds (Continued)
December 31, 2018

Enterprise
Zone /
Community Law Enforcement
Reinvestment Drug Law Enforcement and
Area Enforcement Trust Education

ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents $ 31,736 51,616 $ 219,030 $ 14,804
Investments 30,217 49,155 208,584 14,098
Receivables
Taxes - - - R
Accounts
(net of allowance for uncollectibles) 7,943 - - -
Loans o - - i
Due from other funds - R -
Due from other governments - 1,202 2,627 241
Inventory of supplies - - R
Prepaid items = o - i

Total assets $ 69,890 $ 101,973 $ 430,241 $ 29,143

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Fund Balances
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ - $ - $ - $ -
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits - - - i
Due to other funds - 3,474 - R
Due to other governments o - - i
Total liabilities - 3,474 - B

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Revenues levied for the next year and unavailaernue 4,000 - - -

Fund Balances
Nonspendable - - - -
Restricted 65,890 98,499 430,241 29,143
Committed - - - -
Unassigned - - - -
Total fund balances 65,890 98,499 430,241 29,143

Total liabilities and fund balances $ 69,890 $ 101,973 $ 430,241 $ 29,143
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Special Revent@inds (Continued)

December 31, 2018

State Road Total
Public Nonmajor
Municipal Federal Improvement Special
Motor Vehicle Law Tax Increment Revenue
License Tax Enforcement Equivalent Funds
ASSETS
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents 6,5166 2,945 $ 234 $ 1,780,119
Investments 6,205 2,765 224 1,695,173
Receivables
Taxes - - 347,794 887,806
Accounts
(net of allowance for uncollectibles) - - - 233,836
Loans - - - 2,720,813
Due from other funds - - - 145,000
Due from other governments 55,894 - - 1,183,846
Inventory of supplies - - - 571,580
Prepaid items - - - 18,063
Total assets 68,615 $ 5,710 $ 348,252 $ 9,236,236
Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Fund Balances
Liabilities
Accounts payable - $ - $ - 14,849
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits - - - 66,841
Due to other funds - - - 14,519
Due to other governments - - 76,515 198,899
Total liabilities - - 76,515 295,108
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Revenues levied for the next year and unavailavernue 37,612 - 271,279 1,712,447
Fund Balances
Nonspendable - - - 589,643
Restricted 31,003 5,710 458 6,689,780
Committed - - - 1,728
Unassigned - - - (52,470)
Total fund balances 31,003 5,710 458 7,228,681
Total liabilities and fund balances 68,615 $ 5,710 $ 348,252 $ 9,236,236
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
|

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures andhianges in Fund
Balances - Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Street
State Construction,
Highway Maintenance Police Fire
Improvement and Repair Pension Pension
Revenues
Property taxe $ - $ - $ 271,99 $ 271,99
Municipal income taxes - - - -
Other local taxes - 265,054 296 296
State levied shared taxes 144,588 1,783,246 36,136 36,136
Intergovernmental - - - -
Fees, licenses, and permits - 658,737 - -
Interest earnings - - - -
Fines and forfeitures - - - -
Other - 23,258 - -
Total revenues 144,588 2,730,295 308,427 308,427
Expenditures
Current
Security of persons and
property - - 1,048,950 1,432,828
Leisure time activities - - - -
Community environment - - - -
Street maintenance 145,000 3,286,925 - -
Capital outlay - - - -
Debt service
Principal - - - -
Interest - - - -
Total expenditures 145,000 3,286,925 1,048,950 1,432,828
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (412) (556,630) (740,523)  (1,124,401)
Other Financing Sources
Transfers in - 600,000 705,000 1,105,000
Total other financing
sources - 600,000 705,000 1,105,000
Net change in fund balances (412) 43,370 (35,523) (19,401)
Fund balance at beginning of year 27,631 2,253,362 14,089 (11,635)
Change in nonspendable inventory - (222,023) - -
Change in nonspendable prepaid items - (5,366) - -
Fund balance at end of year $ 27,219 % 2,069,343 $ (21,434) $ (31,036)
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures andhanges in Fund (Continued)
Balances - Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Community
and Community
Recreation Permissive Economic Development
Levy Tax Development Block Grant

Revenues
Property taxe $ - $ - $ = $ =
Municipal income taxes 1,768,000 - - -
Other local taxes - - - -
State levied shared taxes - 219,298 - -
Intergovernmental 59,114 - - 797,238
Fees, licenses, and permits - -
Interest earnings - - - 257
Fines and forfeitures - - - -
Other 271 - 25 6,702
Total revenues 1,827,385 219,298 25 804,197

Expenditures
Current
Security of persons and
property - - - -
Leisure time activities 1,327,409 - - -
Community environment - - - 500,281
Street maintenance - - - -
Capital outlay - 400,000 - -
Debt service
Principal 69,000 - - -
Interest 2,070 - - -
Total expenditures 1,398,479 400,000 - 500,281

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 428,906 (180,702) 25 303,916

Other Financing Sources
Transfers in - - - -

Total other financing
sources - - - -

Net change in fund balances 428,906 (180,702) 25 303,916
Fund balance at beginning of year 953,599 229,929 1,703 2,746,843

Change in nonspendable inventory o = 5 i
Change in nonspendable prepaid items - - - -

Fund balance at end of year $ 1,382505 $ 49,227 $ 1,728 $ 3,050,759
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures andhanges in Fund (Continued)
Balances - Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Enterprise
Zone /
Community Law Enforcement
Reinvestment Drug Law Enforcement and
Area Enforcement Trust Education

Revenues

Property taxe $ - % - % - $ -

Municipal income taxes - - - R

Other local taxes - - - 1

State levied shared taxes - - - R

Intergovernmental - - 1,949 -

Fees, licenses, and permits 6,943 - -

Interest earnings -

Fines and forfeitures - 22,582 10,058 6,957

Other - 150 - 1,230
Total revenues 6,943 22,732 12,007 8,187

Expenditures
Current
Security of persons and
property = 8,205 30,305 -
Leisure time activities - - - R
Community environment - - - 1
Street maintenance - - - R
Capital outlay - - - 1
Debt service
Principal - - - 1
Interest - - - R
Total expenditures - 8,205 30,305 =

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 6,943 14,527 (18,298) 8,187

Other Financing Sources
Transfers in - - - -

Total other financing
sources - - - -

Net change in fund balances 6,943 14,527 (18,298) 8,187
Fund balance at beginning of year 58,947 83,972 448,539 20,956

Change in nonspendable inventory = = 5 L
Change in nonspendable prepaid items - - - R

Fund balance at end of year $ 65,800 $ 98,499 $ 430,241 $ 29,143
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
|

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures andhanges in Fund (Continued)
Balances - Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

State Roac
Public Total
Municipal Federal Law Improvement Nonmajor
Motor Vehicle Law Enforcement  Tax Increment Special
License Tax Enforcement Assistance Equivalent Revenue
Revenues
Property taxe $ - $ - 8 -3 -8 543,99(
Municipal income taxes - - - - 1,768,000
Other local taxes - - - 695,588 961,234
State levied shared taxes 130,838 - - - 2,350,242
Intergovernmental - - - - 858,301
Fees, licenses, and permits - - - - 665,680
Interest earnings - 81 - - 338
Fines and forfeitures - - - - 39,597
Other - - - - 31,636
Total revenues 130,838 81 - 695,588 7,219,018
Expenditures
Current
Security of persons and
property - 5,940 13,791 - 2,540,019
Leisure time activities - - - - 1,327,409
Community environment - - - 294,669 794,950
Street maintenance 111,000 - - - 3,542,925
Capital outlay - - - - 400,000
Debt service
Principal - - - 150,000 219,000
Interest - - - 251,490 253,560
Total expenditures 111,000 5,940 13,791 696,159 9,077,863
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 19,838 (5,859) (13,791) (571) (1,858,845)
Other Financing Sources
Transfers in - - - - 2,410,000
Total other financing
sources - - - - 2,410,000
Net change in fund balances 19,838 (5,859) (13,791) (571) 551,155
Fund balance at beginning of year 11,165 11,569 53,217 1,029 6,904,915
Change in nonspendable inventory - - - - (222,023)
Change in nonspendable prepaid items - - - - (5,366)
Fund balance at end of year $ 31,003 $ 5710 $ 39,426 $ 458 % 7,228,681
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
|

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHund Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Sta Highway Improvement Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
State levied shared taxes $ 148,369 $ 151,135 $ 150,298 $ (837)
Total revenues 148,369 151,135 150,298 (837)
Expenditures
Current
Street maintenance
Other operations 145,000 145,000 145,000
Total expenditures 145,000 145,000 145,000
Net change in fund balances 3,369 6,135 5,298 (837)
Fund balance at beginning of year 61 61 61 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 3430 $ 6,196 $ 5359 $ (837)
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
|
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHand Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Stret Construction,
Maintenance and Repair Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Other local taxes $ 272,820 $ 264,682 $ 264,682 $ =
State levied shared taxes 1,793,300 1,864,000 1,853,674 (10,326)
Fees, licenses, and permits 641,500 662,481 662,481 -
Other 10,000 21,491 22,463 972
Total revenues 2,717,620 2,812,654 2,803,300 (9,354)
Expenditures
Current
Street maintenance
Personal services 1,957,751 1,957,751 1,901,558 56,193
Other operations 1,684,132 1,684,132 1,489,704 194,428
Total expenditures 3,641,883 3,641,883 3,391,262 250,621
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (924,263) (829,229) (587,962) 241,267
Other Financing Sources
Transfers in 600,000 600,000 600,000 -
Total other financing
sources 600,000 600,000 600,000 -
Net change in fund balances (324,263) (229,229) 12,038 241,267
Fund balance at beginning of year 1,025,701 1,025,701 1,025,701 -
Prior year encumbrances appropriated 55,521 55,521 55,521 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 756,959 $ 851,993 $ 1,093,260 $ 241,267
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHund Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Patie Pension Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Property taxes $ 269,648 $ 271,705 $ 271,995 $ 290
Other local taxes 360 360 296 (64)
State levied shared taxes 35,833 36,106 36,136 30
Total revenues 305,841 308,171 308,427 256
Expenditures
Current
Security of persons and property
Personal services 1,036,935 1,036,935 1,005,340 31,595
Other operations 9,450 9,450 7,454 1,996
Total expenditures 1,046,385 1,046,385 1,012,794 33,591
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (740,544) (738,214) (704,367) 33,847
Other Financing Sources
Transfers in 745,000 705,000 705,000 -
Total other financing
sources 745,000 705,000 705,000 -
Net change in fund balances 4,456 (33,214) 633 33,847
Fund balance at beginning of year 33,695 33,695 33,695 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 38,151 481 % 34,328 $ 33,847
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
|

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHund Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - FirdPension Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Property taxes $ 269,648 $ 271,705 $ 271,995 $ 290
Other local taxes 360 360 296 (64)
State levied shared taxes 35,833 36,106 36,136 30
Total revenues 305,841 308,171 308,427 256
Expenditures
Current
Security of persons and property
Personal services 1,424,949 1,424,949 1,407,880 17,069
Other operations 9,450 9,450 7,454 1,996
Total expenditures 1,434,399 1,434,399 1,415,334 19,065
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (1,128,558) (1,126,228) (1,106,907) 19,321
Other Financing Sources
Transfers in 1,130,000 1,105,000 1,105,000 -
Total other financing
sources 1,130,000 1,105,000 1,105,000 -
Net change in fund balances 1,442 (21,228) (2,907) 19,321
Fund balance at beginning of year 27,187 27,187 27,187 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 28,629 $ 5959 $ 25280 $ 19,321
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHund Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Re@ation Levy Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Income taxes $ 1,876,332 $ 1,768,000 $ 1,768,000 $ =
Intergovernmental 59,000 59,000 59,114 114
Other - - 20,231 20,231
Total revenues 1,935,332 1,827,000 1,847,345 20,345
Expenditures
Current
Leisure time activities
Other operations 1,009,405 1,009,405 887,191 122,214
Capital outlay 876,893 876,893 729,348 147,545
Total - leisure time activities 1,886,298 1,886,298 1,616,539 269,759
Debt service
Principal 69,000 69,000 69,000 -
Interest 2,071 2,071 2,070 1
Total expenditures 1,957,369 1,957,369 1,687,609 269,760
Net change in fund balances (22,037) (130,369) 159,736 290,105
Fund balance at beginning of year 789,647 789,647 789,647 -
Prior year encumbrances appropriated 130,226 130,226 130,226 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 897,836 $ 789,504 $ 1,079,609 $ 290,105
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
|

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHund Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Permgsive Tax Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
State levied shared taxes $ 400,000 $ 400,000 $ 400,000 $
Total revenues 400,000 400,000 400,000
Expenditures
Current
Capital outlay 400,000 400,000 400,000
Total expenditures 400,000 400,000 400,000
Net change in fund balances - - -
Fund balance at beginning of year 2 2 2 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 2 $ 2 $ 2 9 -
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHund Balance -

Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Commnity and Economic
Development Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Other $ - % - $ 25 $ 25
Total Revenues - - 25 25
Expenditures
Current
Community environment
Other operations $ 1,627 $ 1,627 $ - 3 1,627
Total expenditures 1,627 1,627 - 1,627
Net change in fund balances (1,627) (1,627) 25 1,652
Fund balance at beginning of year 1,703 1,703 1,703
Fund balance at end of year $ 76 $ 76 $ 1,728 $ 1,652
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHund Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Commnity Development Block

Grant Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Revenues
Intergovernmental
Interest earnings
Other

Total revenues

Expenditures
Current
Community environment
Personal services
Other operations
Capital outlay
Total expenditures

Net change in fund balances
Fund balance at beginning of year

Prior year encumbrances appropriated

Fund balance at end of year

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
$ 592,998 $ 862,798 $ 859,160 $ (3,638)
- - 257 257
- 85,302 105,460 20,158
592,998 948,100 964,877 16,777
100,415 100,415 85,538 14,877
649,749 1,204,771 1,065,186 139,585
100,000 - - -
850,164 1,305,186 1,150,724 154,462
(257,166) (357,086) (185,847) 171,239
106,400 106,400 106,400 -
257,166 257,166 257,166 -
$ 106,400 $ 6,480 $ 177,719 $ 171,239
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
|
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHund Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Entgorise Zone/Community
Reinvestment Area Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Fees, licenses, and permits $ 9,000 $ 5500 $ 5500 $
Total revenues 9,000 5,500 5,500
Expenditures
Current
Community environment
Other operations 8,100 8,100 - 8,100
Total expenditures 8,100 8,100 - 8,100
Net change in fund balances 900 (2,600) 5,500 8,100
Fund balance at beginning of year 56,447 56,447 56,447
Fund balance at end of year $ 57,347  $ 53,847 $ 61,947 $ 8,100
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHund Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Drug.aw Enforcement Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Revenues
Fines and forfeitures
Other
Total revenues

Expenditures
Current
Security of persons and property
Other operations
Total expenditures

Net change in fund balances

Fund balance at beginning of year

Fund balance at end of year

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget

Positive

Original Final Actual (Negative)
$ 12,000 $ 24216 $ 24,854 638
- 150 150 -
12,000 24,366 25,004 638
16,000 16,000 8,205 7,795
16,000 16,000 8,205 7,795
(4,000) 8,366 16,799 8,433

83,972 83,972 83,972

$ 79,972  $ 92,338 $ 100,771 8,433
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
|

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHand Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - LawEnforcement Trust Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Intergovernmental $ - 3 280 $ 281 $ 1
Fines and forfeitures 2,500 12,722 13,722 1,000
Total revenues 2,500 13,002 14,003 1,001
Expenditures
Current
Security of persons and property
Other operations 45,932 45,875 34,926 10,949
Capital outlay 300,000 300,057 300,057 -
Total expenditures 345,932 345,932 334,983 10,949
Net change in fund balances (343,432) (332,930) (320,980) 11,950
Fund balance at beginning of year 440,442 440,442 440,442 -
Prior year encumbrances appropriated 3,474 3,474 3,474 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 100,484 $ 110,986 $ 122,936 $ 11,950

157



City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
|

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHand Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Enfacement and Education Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Fines and forfeitures $ 4,000 $ 4,000 $ 6,716 $ 2,716
Other 1,500 1,500 1,230 (270)
Total revenues 5,500 5,500 7,946 2,446
Net change in fund balances 5,500 5,500 7,946 2,446
Fund balance at beginning of year 20,956 20,956 20,956
Fund balance at end of year $ 26,456 % 26,456 $ 28,902 $ 2,446
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Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHund Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Murngipal Motor Vehicle License
Tax Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
State levied shared taxes $ 111,000 $ 113,196 $ 112556 $ (640)
Total revenues 111,000 113,196 112,556 (640)
Expenditures
Current
Street maintenance
Other operations 190,723 111,000 188,858 (77,858)
Total expenditures 190,723 111,000 188,858 (77,858)
Net change in fund balances (79,723) 2,196 (76,302) (78,498)
Fund balance at beginning of year 9,300 9,300 9,300
Prior year encumbrances appropriated 79,723 79,723 79,723
Fund balance at end of year $ 9,300 $ 91,219 $ 12,721 $ (78,498)
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Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHund Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Fedal Law Enforcement Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Interest earnings $ 250 $ 250 $ 120 $ (130)
Total revenues 250 250 120 (130)
Expenditures
Current
Security of persons and property
Other operations $ 5,000 $ - $ - $
Capital outlay - 5,940 5,940
Total expenditures 5,000 5,940 5,940
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (4,750) (5,690) (5,820) (130)
Net change in fund balances (4,750) (5,690) (5,820) (130)
Fund balance at beginning of year 11,569 11,569 11,569
Fund balance at end of year $ 6,819 $ 5879 $ 5749 $ (130)
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Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHund Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - LawEnforcement Assistance Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Intergovernmental $ 28,000 $ 28,000 $ 28,008 8
Total revenues 28,000 28,000 28,008 8
Expenditures
Current
Security of persons and property
Other operations $ 14,130 $ 14,130 $ 14,089 $ 41
Total expenditures 14,130 14,130 14,089 41
Net change in fund balances 13,870 13,870 13,919 49
Fund balance at beginning of year 24,559 24,559 24,559
Prior year encumbrances appropriated 650 650 650 -
Fund balance at end of year $ 39,079 $ 39,079 $ 39,128 $ 49
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|
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHund Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Sta Road Public Improvement Tax
Increment Equivalent Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Other local tax $ 623,496 $ 695,587 $ 695,588 $ 1
Total revenues 623,496 695,587 695,588 1
Expenditures
Current
Community environment
Other operations 222,781 294,945 294,669 276
Total - community environment 222,781 294,945 294,669 276
Debt service
Principal 150,000 150,000 150,000
Interest 251,490 251,490 251,490 -
Total expenditures 624,271 696,435 696,159 276
Net change in fund balances (775) (848) (571) 277
Fund balance at beginning of year 1,029 1,029 1,029
Fund balance at end of year $ 254  $ 181 $ 458 $ 277
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Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and ChangesHund Balance -
Budget and Actual (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis) - Deb&ervice Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Interest earnings $ 125 $ 150 $ 225 % 75
Total revenues 125 150 225 75
Net change in fund balances 125 150 225 75
Fund balance at beginning of year 14,204 14,204 14,204
Fund balance at end of year $ 14,329 $ 14,354 $ 14,429 $ 75
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Internal Service Funds

Internal Service Funds To account for the financing of goods or servicesvjgled by
one department of the City to other departmenth®{City on a
cost reimbursement basis.

Garage To account for the cost of maintenance facility &mtomotive
equipment used by various City departments. Thesco$
services provided are billed to the various uspadeents.

Self-Insurance To account for the cost of medical benefits and ifsurance
provided to the City's employees.

Workers’ Compensation To account for the cost of workers’ compensaticaines and
administrative costs incurred by City employees.

Compensated Absences To accumulate sums sufficient to defray anticipatetployee
benefit payments. In addition, Ordinance 70-2Cd&horized
this fund to accumulate amounts through transfrficient to
meet the excess personal services associated witherty-
seventh pay period in 2015.
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Combining Statement of Net Position -
Governmental Activities Internal Service Funds
December 31, 2018

Self Workers'
Garage Insurance Compensation
Assets
Current Assets
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents $ 295 1,701,862 $ 1,086,771
Investments 280 1,620,684 1,020,470
Receivables
Accounts
(net of allowance for uncollectibles) 1,080 110,868 -
Due from other funds - - 6,159
Due from other governments - - 139,273
Inventory of supplies 239,292 - -
Prepaid items 1,248 - -
Total current assets 242,195 3,433,414 2,252,673
Noncurrent Assets
Net pension asset 4,508 611 -
Capital Assets
Land 21,960 - -
Buildings 105,958 - -
Improvements other than buildings 260,029 - -
Equipment 149,029 - -
Less: Accumulated depreciation (452,876) - -
Total noncurrent assets 88,608 611 -
Total assets 330,803 3,434,025 2,252,673
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension 119,308 16,178 -
Other postemployment benefits (OPEB) 23,923 3,244 -
Total deferred outflows of resources 143,231 19,422 -
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable 53,674 - -
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits 19,182 2,197 -
Accrued compensated absences - - -
Due to other funds 3,278 11 -
Due to other governments 2,956 339 11,208
Claims and judgments payable - 273,694 88,761
Total current liabilities 79,090 276,241 99,969
Noncurrent Liabilities
Net pension liability 475,401 64,461 -
Net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liability 321,963 8,595,196 -
Accrued compensated absences - - -
Claims and judgments payable - - 21,367
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 797,364 8,659,657 21,367
Total liabilities 876,454 8,935,898 121,336
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Pension 114,489 15,522
Other postemployment benefits (OPEB) 25,374 1,591,162 -
Total deferred inflows of resources 139,863 1,606,684 -
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 84,100 - -
Unrestricted (626,383) (7,089,135) 2,131,337
Total net positio $ (542,283 (7,089,135  $ 2,131,33
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Combining Statement of Net Position -
Governmental Activities Internal Service Funds
December 31, 2018

(Continued)

Compensated
Absences Total
Assets
Current Assets
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents $ 369,2305 3,158,158
Investments 351,618 2,993,052
Receivables
Accounts
(net of allowance for uncollectibles) - 111,948
Due from other funds - 6,159
Due from other governments - 139,273
Inventory of supplies - 239,292
Prepaid items - 1,248
Total current assets 720,848 6,649,130
Noncurrent Assets
Net pension asset - 5,119
Capital Assets
Land - 21,960
Buildings - 105,958
Improvements other than buildings - 260,029
Equipment - 149,029
Less: Accumulated depreciation - (452,876)
Total noncurrent assets - 89,219
Total assets 720,848 6,738,349
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension - 135,486
Other postemployment benefits (OPEB) - 27,167
Total deferred outflows of resources - 162,653
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable - 53,674
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits - 21,379
Accrued compensated absences 2,141,921 2,141,921
Due to other funds - 3,289
Due to other governments - 14,503
Claims and judgments payable - 362,455
Total current liabilities 2,141,921 2,597,221
Noncurrent Liabilities
Net pension liability - 539,862
Net other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liability - 8,917,159
Accrued compensated absences 7,438,761 7,438,761
Claims and judgments payable - 21,367
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 7,438,761 16,917,149
Total liabilities 9,580,682 19,514,370
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Pension - 130,011
Other postemployment benefits (OPEB) - 1,616,536
Total deferred inflows of resources - 1,746,547
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets - 84,100
Unrestricted (8,859,834) (14,444,015)
Total net positio $ (8,859,834 $ (14,359,91E
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Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Chasgn Net Position
Governmental Activities Internal Service Fund:

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Self- Workers'
Garage Insurance Compensation
Operating revenues
Charges for services $ 2,270,308 $ 6,699,029 $ 289,418
Other 4,673 283,244 494,664
Total operating revenues 2,274,981 6,982,273 784,082
Operating Expenses
Personal services 476,436 60,109 -
Fringe benefits 263,931 3,199,509 535,289
Materials and supplies 1,119,653 131 -
Utilities 10,131 - -
Contractual services 16,815 58,795 20,240
Internal charges 133,456 - -
Other 234,916 25,759 6,207
Depreciation 3,087 - -
Total operating expenses 2,258,425 3,344,303 561,736
Net income (loss) from operations 16,556 3,637,970 222,346
Nonoperating Revenues
Interest revenue - - 15,893
Loss from disposal of capital assets (86) - -
Total nonoperating revenues (86) - 15,893
Changes in net position 16,470 3,637,970 238,239
Total net position - beginning (558,753) (10,727,105) 1,893,098
Total net position - ending $ (542,283) $ (7,089,135) $ 2,131,337
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Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Chasgn Net Position (Continued)
Governmental Activities Internal Service Fund:

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Compensates
Absences Total

Operating revenues
Charges for services $ 500,000 $ 9,758,755
Other - 782,581
Total operating revenues 500,000 10,541,336

Operating Expenses
Personal services 872,685 1,409,230
Fringe benefits 4,576 4,003,305
Materials and supplies - 1,119,784
Utilities - 10,131
Contractual services - 95,850
Internal charges - 133,456
Other - 266,882
Depreciation - 3,087
Total operating expenses 877,261 7,041,725
Net income (loss) from operations (377,261) 3,499,611

Nonoperating Revenues

Interest revenue - 15,893
Loss from disposal of capital assets - (86)
Total nonoperating revenues - 15,807
Changes in net position (377,261) 3,515,418
Total net position - beginning (8,482,573) (17,875,333)
Total net position - ending $ (8,859,834) $  (14,359,915)
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Combining Statement of Cash Flows - Governmental Aivities Internal Service Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Self- Workers'
Garage Insurance Compensatior
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Activities
Cash received from custom $ 2,273,90 $ 6,886,44. $ 829,44
Cash payments to employees for sen (466,519 (59,047 -
Cash payments to employees for ben (190,910 (6,740,267 (481,651
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and se| (1,620,330 (84,685 (26,447
Net cash provided (used in) by operating activ (3,858 2,444 321,34¢
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Interest revent - - 15,89:
Sale of investmen 2,80¢ 2,103,01: 1,120,86:
Purchase of investmel (280 (1,620,684 (1,020,470
Net cash used in investing activit 2,52¢ 482,32¢ 116,29:
Net increase (decrease) in ¢
and cash equivaler (2,330 484,77 437,63¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 1,62¢ 1,217,08! 649,13!
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 295 % 1,701,862 $ 1,086,771
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|
Combining Statement of Cash Flows - Governmental Aivities Internal Service Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (Continued)

Compensater
Absence Totals

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Activities
Cash received from custom $ 500,00( $ 10,489,78
Cash payments to employees for sen (459,922 (985,488
Cash payments to employees for ben (4,576 (7,417,404
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and sel - (1,731,462
Net cash provided (used in) by operating activ 35,50: 355,43!
Cash Flows From Investing Activitie:
Interest revent - 15,89:
Sale of investmen 434,11: 3,660,80!
Purchase of investmel (351,618 (2,993,052
Net cash used in investing activit 82,49: 683,64
Net increase (decrease) in ¢
and cash equivaler 117,99¢ 1,039,07.
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 251,23 2,119,08:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 369,238 3,158,158
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Combining Statement of Cash Flows - Governmental Atvities Internal Service Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to N¢
Cash Provided (Used) By Operating Activities

Operating income (los

Adjustments to reconcile operat
Income (Loss) to Net Ca
provided by operating activitie

Depreciatiol
Decrease (increase) in operating assets and i@
(decrease) in operating liabilitir
Receivable
Due from other fund
Due from other governmet
Inventory of supplie
Prepaid item
Deferred outflows of resources - pens
Deferred outflows of resources - OF
Accounts payab
- net of items affecting capital as:
Accrued salaries, wages and ben
Due to other func
Due to other governmet
Other post-employment benefit obligat
Claims payabl
Deferred inflows of resources - pens
Deferred inflows of resources - OP
Net pension liabilit
Net OPEB liability

Total adjustmen

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi

(Continued)
Self- Workers'
Garage Insurance Compensatior
$ 16,55¢ 3,637,97! $ 222,34t
3,087 - -
1,337 (95,830 -
- - 17
- - 45,34«
(33,515 - -
1,50¢ - -
153,78! 20,85: -
(19,545 (2,651 -
(75,107 - -
9,917 1,06z -
(660 - -
1,52¢ 164 11,20¢
- (2,907,638 -
- (336,734 42,43(
108,00¢ 14,64« -
25,37« 1,591,16: -
(216,868 (29,406 -
20,731 (1,891,151 -
(20,414 (3,635,526 98,99¢
$ (3,858 2,444 $ 321,34!
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|
Combining Statement of Cash Flows - Governmental Aivities Internal Service Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 (Continued)

Compensater
Absence Totals

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to N¢
Cash Provided (Used) By Operating Activities

Operating income (los $ (377,261 $ 3,499,61

Adjustments to reconcile operat
Income (Loss) to Net Cas
provided by operating activitie

Depreciatiol - 3,087
Decrease (increase) in operating assets and ie
(decrease) in operating liabilitic

Receivable - (94,493
Due from other fund - 17
Due from other governmel - 45,34
Inventory of supplie - (33,515
Prepaid iterr - 1,50¢
Deferred outflows of resources - pen: - 174,63°
Deferred outflows of resources - OF - (22,196
Accounts payab
- net of items affecting capital as: - (75,107
Accrued salaries, wages and ben 412,76 423,74.
Due to other func - (660,
Due to other governmel - 12,90:
Other post-employment benefit obligat - (2,907,638
Claims payabl - (294,304
Deferred inflows of resources - pens - 122,65(
Deferred inflows of resources - OP - 1,616,531
Net pension liabilit - (246,274
Net OPEB liability - (1,870,414
Total adjustmen 412,76 (3,144,178
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi $ 35,50 $ 355,43(
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Fiduciary Funds — Agency Funds

Agency Funds

Guarantee Deposits

Unclaimed Monies

Employee Withholding

State Cases-Fines and Forfeitures

Evidence Deposits

Partnership for Parks Donation

Joint Economic Development District

Agency funds are established to account for assetsved and
held by the City acting in the capacity of an agamntustodian.

To account for funds received from a contractoretteper or
individual to ensure compliance with the ordinanckthe City.
Upon satisfactory completion of the project, thepakt is
returned to the individual, developer or contractor

To account for monies held by the City and MunitiGaurt
pending identification of the individual or orgaaiion entitled
to the money.

To account for amounts withheld from the payrolttod City's
employees.

To account for the portion of Municipal Court finemnd
forfeitures forwarded to the City, which must benied to the
County Law Library Association.

To account for large amounts of seized money helcustody
by the City in a non-interest bearing account uritie

appropriate court order is issued pursuant to ®aeised Code
2981.11 —2981.14.

To account for the deposit of donations collectedCity
facilities on behalf of the Cuyahoga Falls Parthigrdor Parks
Organization and remittance to the same.

To account for monies associated with the collectend
contractual distributions of the income taxes o¢ tBoston
Township-City of Cuyahoga Falls Joint Economic Oepenent
District.
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Combining Statement of Assets and Liabilities - Fidciary Funds

December 31, 2018

Agency Funds

State Cases

Joint

Partnership Economic

Guarantee Unclaimed Employee Fines and Evidence For Pask  Development
Deposits Monies Withholding Forfeitures Deposits Donatin District Totals
Assets
Current Assets
Equity in pooled cash
and cash equivalents $ 400,640 $ 55514 $ 381,756 $ 7519 $ -8 - % 22,288 $ 867,717
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted - - - - 500 - - 500
Investments 381,529 52,866 363,546 7,160 - - 21,224 826,325
Income taxes receivable - - - - - - 7,721 7,721
Due from other governments - - 228,316 - - - - 228,316
Total asse’ 782,16¢ 108,38( 973,61¢ 14,67¢ 50C - L 25K 1,930,57!
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Due to other governments 96,600 - 944,791 14,679 500 - 51,233 1,107,803
Deposits held and due to others 685,569 108,380 28,827 - - - - 822,776
Total liabilities 782,164 108,38( 973,61¢ 14,67¢ 50C - 51,23! 1,930,57!
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Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Lialtiles - Fiduciary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Balance Balance
Agency Funds 12/31/17 Additions Deductions 12/31/18
Guarantee Deposits
Assets
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents $ 177,174 160,003 $ (63,463) $ 400,640
Investments 306,141 381,529 306,141 381,529
Due from other governments - - -
Total Assets $ 483,315 $ 541,532 $ 242,678 $ 782,169
Liabilities
Due to other governments $ 43800 $ 52,800 $ -3 96,600
Deposits held and due to others 439,515 503,852 257,798 685,569
Total Liabilities $ 483,315 $ 556,652 $ 257,798 $ 782,169
Unclaimed Monies
Assets
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents $ 38,463% (33,730) $ (50,781) $ 55,514
Investments 66,461 52,866 66,461 52,866
Total Assets $ 104,924  $ 19,136 $ 15,680 $ 108,380
Liabilities
Deposits held and due to others $ 104,924 $ 19,136 _ $ 15,680 $ 108,380
Total Liabilities $ 104,924 $ 19,136 $ 15,680 $ 108,380
Employee Withholding
Assets
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents $ 369,273 15,203,948 $ 15,191,465 $ 381,756
Investments 638,068 363,546 638,068 363,546
Due from other governments 116,867 228,316 116,867 228,316
Total Assets $ 1,124,208 $ 15,795,810 $ 15,946,400 $ 973,618
Liabilities
Due to other governments $ 1,012,442 $ 13,335,085 $ 13,402,736 $ 944,791
Deposits held and due to others 111,766 2,460,725 2,543,664 28,827
Total Liabilities $ 1,124,208 $ 15,795,810 $ 15,946,400 $ 973,618
State Cases Fines and Forfeitures
Assets
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents $ 6,144 159,159 $ 157,784 $ 7,519
Investments 10,615 7,160 10,615 7,160
Total Assets $ 16,759 $ 166,319 $ 168,399 $ 14,679
Liabilities
Due to other governments $ 16,759 $ 169,225 $ 171,305 14,679
Total Liabilities $ 16,759 $ 169,225 $ 171,305 $ 14,679
Evidence Deposits
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted $ 500 $ - $ - $ 500
Total Assets $ 500 $ - % - % 500
Liabilities
Due to other governments $ 500 $ - $ -3 500
Deposits held and due to others - - - -
Total Liabilities $ 500 $ - $ - 3 500
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Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Lialitiles - Fiduciary Funds (Continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Balance Balance
Agency Funds 12/31/17 Additions Deductions 12/31/18
Partnership for Parks Donation
Assets
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents $ -3 275 $ 275 $ -
Investments - - - -
Total Assets $ -3 275 $ 275 $ -
Liabilities
Deposits held and due to others $ = $ 275 $ 275 $ 3
Total Liabilities $ - $ 275 $ 275 $ -
Joint Economic Development District
Assets
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents $ 10,198 150,798 $ 138,708 $ 22,288
Investments 17,620 21,224 17,620 21,224
Income taxes receivable $ 16,314 $ 7,721 $ 16,314 7,721
Total Assets $ 44,132 $ 179,743 % 172,642 $ 51,233
Liabilities
Due to other governments $ 44,132 $ 179,743 $ 172,642 $ 51,233
Total Liabilities $ 44,132 $ 179,743 $ 172,642 $ 51,233
Total Agency Funds
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents $ 601,25% 15,640,453 $ 15,373,988 $ 867,717
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 500 - - 500
Investments 1,038,905 826,325 1,038,905 826,325
Income taxes receivable 16,314 7,721 16,314 7,721
Due from other governments 116,867 228,316 116,867 228,316
Total Asset: $ 1,773,83i $ 16,702,81 $ 16,546,07. $ 1,930,57!
Liabilities
Due to other governments $ 1,117,633 $ 13,736,853 $ 13,746,683 $ 1,107,803
Deposits held and due to others 656,205 2,983,988 2,817,417 822,776
Total Liabilities $ 1,773,83i $ 16,720,84 $ 16,564,10 $ 1,930,57!
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- - - - -
STATISTICAL SECTION

This part of the City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio’s Guehensive Annual Financial Report presents detaile
information as a context for understanding whatittfiermation in the financial statements, note isares and
required supplementary information says about tingsoverall financial health.

Contents Pages

Financial Trends... .179-187
These schedules contaln trend mformatlon to Hmmader understand how the C|tys f|nanC|aI pemfmce and
well-being have changed over time.

Revenue Capacity... e ceevieeee.. 189-194
These schedules contaln |nf0rmat|on to help thdeneassess the C|ty S most srgnlflcant Iocal reeetine property
tax and the municipal income tax.

Debt Capacity... . 195-199
These schedules present mformatron to heIp thdereassess the affordabrlrty of the Crtys currMels of
outstanding debt and the City’s ability to issuditidnal debt in the future.

Economic and Demographic INfOrmation ... e e e e 201-202
These schedules offer economic and demographicdtatis to help the reader understand the environmiimin
which the City’s financial activities take place.

Operating INfOrMatioN. .. ... ..o e et e e et e et e e et e e et e e e et n e e 203-206
These schedules contain service and infrastructata to help the reader understand how the infeoman the
City’s financial report relates to the services @ity provides and the activities it performs.

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the informatiothese schedules is derived from the Comprehersiveial
Financial reports for the relevant year.
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
Net Position By Component
Last Ten Years

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

2018 2017** 2016 2015 2014*
Government activities
Net investment in capital assets $ 98,770561 $  97,475296 $ 93,128,745 $ 92,335,053 $ 91,808,449
Restricted:
Capital projects 6,267,974 4,570,176 4,416,995 3,063,077 -
Debt service (109,676) 14,198 14,048 13,914 11,614
Special revenue 3,050,759 2,746,843 2,458,304 2,306,040 2,561,469
Permanent fund purpose - Cemetery Perpetual Care , 31315 244,782 241,905 239,020 234,555
Unrestricted (65,152,491) (61,497,241) (16,698,179) (14,519,150) (17,737,712)
Total governmental activities net position 43,072,446 43,554,054 83,561,818 83,437,954 76,878,375
Business-type activities
Invested in capital assets,
net of related debt 94,348,339 90,978,939 84,868,646 80,341,436 74,625,126
Unrestricted 20,432,384 20,051,585 26,898,604 25,645,833 26,508,592
Total business-type activities net positic 114,780,72 111,030,52 111,767,25 105,987,26 101,133,71
Primary government
Net investments in capital assets 193,118,900 188,454,235 177,997,391 172,676,489 166,433,575
Restricted 9,454,376 7,575,999 7,131,252 5,622,051 2,807,638
Unrestricted (44,720,107) (41,445,656) 10,200,425 11,126,683 8,770,880
Total primary government net position $ 157,853,169 $ 154,584,578 $ 195,329,068 $ 189,425,223 $ 178,012,093

* Restated from implementation of Governmental dwtting Standards Board Statements No. 68 and 71.
** Restated from implementation of Governmentatéanting Standards Board Statements No. 75.
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
Net Position By Component
Last Ten Years

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Government activities
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted:
Capital projects
Debt service
Special revenue
Permanent fund purpose - Cemetery Perpetual Care
Unrestricted

Total governmental activities net position

Business-type activities
Invested in capital assets,
net of related debt
Unrestricted

Total business-type activities net positic

Primary government
Net investments in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total primary government net position

(Continued)

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
$ 86,719,724 $ 83,694,616 $ 81,516,344 77,734,747 $ 78,407,401
- 11,336,227 9,728,552 8,287,795 6,260,920
7,447 6,179 4,209 1,310 5,846
2,415,072 2,536,928 2,137,829 2,424,557 5,960,254
8431 229,900 227,586 225,240 221,674
14,813,406 14,753,611 12,554,686 13,316,106 6,389,169
104,187,495 112,557,461 106,169,206 101,989,755 97,245,264
70,628,251 65,775,358 63,255,627 59,152,090 57,049,158
31,698,133 31,349,820 26,317,573 27,381,062 23,464,702
102,326,38 97,125,17 89,573,20 86,533,15 80,513,86
157,347,975 149,469,974 144,771,971 136,886,837 135,456,559
2,654,365 14,109,234 12,098,176 10,938,902 12,448,694
46,511,539 46,103,431 38,872,259 40,697,168 29,853,871
$ 206,513,879 $ 209,682,639 $ 195,742,406 188,522,907 $ 177,759,124
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
Changes in Net Position
Last Ten Years

(Accrual Basis Accounting)

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Program revenue
Governmental activities:
Charges for services:
Security of persons and property $ 614,054 $ 519,205 $ 536,856 $ 520,733 $ 866,918
Leisure time activities 236,311 12,324 27,226 33,132 20,790
Community environment 92,344 125,102 152,871 227,326 201,372
Street maintenance 750,500 811,739 770,054 965,856 1,339,543
General government 2,194,419 2,303,281 2,418,428 2,209,681 2,500,922
Total charges for services 3,887,628 3,771,651 3,905,435 3,956,728 4,929,545
Operating grants & contributions:
Security of persons and property 128,359 137,148 131,381 45,917 348,575
Leisure time activities - (7,500) 7,500 23,250 -
Community environment 768,692 557,547 580,500 355,300 535,716
Street maintenance 2,186,107 2,053,235 2,026,745 2,131,622 2,064,694
General government 152,845 121,619 125,533 7,195 -
Total operating grants & contributions 3,236,003 2,862,049 2,871,659 2,563,284 2,948,985
Capital grants & contributions:
Security of persons and property 13,738 240,465 - 100,475 107,891
Leisure time activities 59,114 153,197 116,203 109,859 -
Community environment 29,680 1,548,283 73,843 1,245,257 -
Street maintenance 1,027,891 849,573 1,175,784 4,658,370 1,540,628
General government 45,479 - - 102,823 -
Total capital grants & contributions 1,175,902 2,791,518 1,365,830 6,216,784 1,648,519
Total governmental activities program revenue 8,299,533 9,425,218 8,142,924 12,736,796 9,527,049
Business-type activity:
Charges for service:
Sewage and disposal 8,291,227 8,333,630 7,902,309 7,001,712 6,405,741
Water 5,651,564 5,647,624 5,143,261 5,345,330 5,867,593
Electric 50,500,902 48,079,266 46,579,605 41,872,912 42,147,397
Sanitation 3,721,057 3,715,767 3,667,882 3,634,212 3,793,133
Leisure time activities 6,630,504 7,465,484 7,426,456 6,642,300 5,558,640
Storm Drainage Utility 1,192,300 1,204,178 1,081,159 1,174,989 1,208,453
Total charges for services 75,987,554 74,445,949 71,800,672 65,671,455 64,980,957
Operating Grants & Contributions:
Sewage and disposal - - - - -
Water - = = 10,276 E
Electric 4,263 4,183 11,000 18,538 -
Sanitation 58,298 56,972 45,207 68,946 52,994
Storm Drainage Utility - - - 398,396 -
Total operating grants & contributions 62,561 61,155 56,207 496,156 52,994
Capital grants & contributions:
Sewage and disposal 16,225 273,475 201,244 96,435 176,485
Water 24,735 318,725 333,695 192,015 282,859
Electric - - - - 37,500
Leisure time activities - - - - -
Storm Drainage Utility 94,595 315,940 446,567 419,806 533,588
Total capital grants & contributions 135,555 908,140 981,506 708,256 1,030,432
Total business-type activities 76,185,670 75,415,244 72,838,385 66,875,867 66,064,383
Total primary government program revenue $ 84,485,203 $ 84,840,462 $ 80,981,309 $ 79,612,663 $ 75,591,432
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio (Continued)
Changes in Net Position

Last Ten Years

(Accrual Basis Accounting)

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Program revenue
Governmental activities:
Charges for services:
Security of persons and property $ 464,166 $ 488,609 $ 450,004 $ 841,421 $ 825,083
Leisure time activities 235,225 234,159 258,260 257,082 268,330
Community environment 160,817 549,529 467,296 244,959 286,740
Street maintenance 713,510 918,403 1,028,191 752,876 802,949
General government 4,962,276 4,863,081 5,135,984 4,585,060 3,393,691
Total charges for services 6,535,994 7,053,781 7,339,735 6,681,398 5,576,793
Operating grants & contributions:
Security of persons and property 278,024 38,835 22,000 103,795 21,614
Leisure time activities - - - - -
Community environment 300,219 1,527,648 896,296 1,117,721 1,088,129
Street maintenance 2,038,054 2,015,210 2,039,513 2,076,788 2,036,360
General government - - - - 169,851
Total operating grants & contributions 2,616,297 3,581,693 2,957,809 3,298,304 3,315,954
Capital grants & contributions:
Security of persons and property 110,983 154,752 209,009 202,401 167,086
Leisure time activities - - - - -
Community environment 721,956 276,683 672,090 2,414,054 1,505,326
Street maintenance 3,568,526 2,595,489 2,557,716 1,520,007 267,799
General government - - - - -
Total capital grants & contributions 4,401,465 3,026,924 3,438,815 4,136,462 1,940,211
Total governmental activities program revenue 13,553,756 13,662,398 13,736,359 14,116,164 10,832,958
Business-type activity:
Charges for service:
Sewage and disposal 5,883,183 6,560,233 6,172,519 6,078,591 5,471,829
Water 5,997,979 6,287,031 5,401,541 5,024,010 4,858,853
Electric 40,671,375 40,256,836 39,341,257 41,058,338 36,663,940
Sanitation 3,769,257 3,668,307 3,716,577 3,662,532 3,603,540
Leisure time activities 5,690,602 6,046,646 5,910,168 5,952,524 5,770,797
Storm Drainage Utility 1,221,761 1,184,081 1,145,213 1,164,926 1,121,483
Total charges for services 63,234,157 64,003,134 61,687,275 62,940,921 57,490,442
Operating Grants & Contributions:
Sewage and disposal - - - - 22,994
Water - - 122,379 35,892 -
Electric - - 8,392 28,669 -
Sanitation 45,248 40,199 47,815 48,857 43,633
Storm Drainage Utility - - - - -
Total operating grants & contributions 45,248 40,199 178,586 113,418 66,627
Capital grants & contributions:
Sewage and disposal 60,999 30,008 - - 227,287
Water 709,571 130,039 - - -
Electric - 34,866 - - -
Leisure time activities - - - - 49,767
Storm Drainage Utility 978,980 122,488 - - -
Total capital grants & contributions 1,749,550 317,401 - - 277,054
Total business-type activities 65,028,955 64,360,734 61,865,861 63,054,339 57,834,123
Total primary government program revenue $ 78,582,711 $ 78,023,132 $ 75,602,220 $ 77,170,503 $ 68,667,081
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohic (Continued)
Changes in Net Positio

Last Ten Years

(Accrual Basis Accounting

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Expenses
Governmental activities:
Security of persons and property $ 24,114,641 $ 23,275,147 $ 23,211,263 $ 20,818,302 $ 19,807,646
Leisure time activities 3,078,332 4,339,549 4,073,716 2,407,489 2,244,079
Community environment 2,139,383 2,271,132 2,128,007 2,101,857 1,785,142
Basic utility services - - - - -
Street maintenance 8,549,215 8,762,258 8,646,272 8,117,963 8,034,324
General government 7,422,900 6,958,634 6,159,167 6,536,478 6,139,797
Interest and fiscal charges 415,082 303,622 364,476 116,030 163,316
Total governmental activities expenses 45,719,553 45,910,342 44,582,901 40,098,119 38,174,304
Business-type activity:
Sewage and disposal 8,187,532 7,934,156 7,527,436 6,803,595 6,686,370
Water 4,222,943 4,427,961 4,003,814 3,991,995 4,273,858
Electric 51,099,787 48,275,772 46,856,466 43,879,705 41,358,326
Sanitation 3,604,209 3,886,703 3,463,757 3,298,991 3,443,262
Leisure time activities 6,233,165 6,381,113 6,303,759 5,986,173 5,951,069
Storm Drainage Utility 1,364,938 1,413,989 1,247,600 1,209,296 1,467,434
Total business-type activities expenses 74,712,574 72,319,694 69,402,832 65,169,755 63,180,319
Total primary government program expenses 120,432,127 118,230,036 113,985,733 105,267,874 101,354,623
Net (expense)/revenue
Governmental activity (37,420,020) (37,610,809) (36,439,977) (27,361,323) (28,647,255)
Business-type activity 1,473,096 3,865,976 3,435,553 1,706,112 2,884,064
Total primary government net expens $ (35,946,924 $ (33,744,83:  $ (33,004,424 $ (25,655,211  $ (25,763,191
General revenues and other changes in net position
Governmental activities
Property and other local taxes Levied for:
General purposes $ 11,916,154 $ 11,332,985 $ 11,288,348 $ 10,966,622 $ 9,176,770
Special revenue 1,498,504 1,424,679 1,423,873 787,954 807,157
Income tax levied for:
General purposes 14,163,734 14,735,011 14,452,530 13,730,190 12,961,239
Special revenue 1,808,040 1,880,965 1,844,905 1,769,939 1,654,537
Capital projects 6,628,727 6,896,088 6,763,886 6,489,034 6,065,951
Grants and entitlements not restricted to spegifigrams 2,673,128 2,617,007 2,574,287 2,856,650 1,955,857
Gain or (loss) on sale of capital assets 24,582 - 86,531 103,390 -
Investment earnings 502,646 584,060 473,909 364,562 203,039
Transfers (2,277,103) (2,382,672) (2,344,428) (3,147,439) (2,375,534)
Total governmental activities 36,938,412 37,088,123 36,563,841 33,920,902 30,449,016
Business-type activity
Investment earnings - - - - -
Transfers 2,277,103 2,382,672 2,344,428 3,147,439 2,375,534
Total Business-type activity 2,277,103 2,382,672 2,344,428 3,147,439 2,375,534
Total primary government general revenue and
other changes in net positio 39,215,51 39,470,79 38,908,26' 37,068,34 32,824,55
Change in net position
Governmental Activities (481,608) (522,686) 123,864 6,559,579 1,801,761
Business Type Activities 3,750,199 6,248,648 5,779,981 4,853,551 5,259,598
Total primary government change in net position $ 3,268,591 $ 5,725,962 $ 5,903,845 $ 11,413,130 $ 7,061,359
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohic
Changes in Net Positio

Last Ten Years

(Accrual Basis Accounting

Expenses
Governmental activities:
Security of persons and property
Leisure time activities
Community environment
Basic utility services
Street maintenance
General government
Interest and fiscal charges
Total governmental activities expenses

Business-type activity:
Sewage and disposal
Water
Electric
Sanitation
Leisure time activities
Storm Drainage Utility
Total business-type activities expenses

Total primary government program expenses

Net (expense)/revenue
Governmental activity
Business-type activity

Total primary government net expens

General revenues and other changes in net position
Governmental activities
Property and other local taxes Levied for:
General purposes
Special revenue
Income tax levied for:
General purposes
Special revenue
Capital projects
Grants and entitlements not restricted to spegifigrams
Gain or (loss) on sale of capital assets
Investment earnings
Transfers
Total governmental activities

Business-type activity
Investment earnings
Transfers

Total Business-type activity

Total primary government general revenue and
other changes in net positio

Change in net position
Governmental Activities

Business Type Activities

Total primary government change in net position

(Continued)

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
19,226,088 $ 18,943,973 $ 20,176,824 $ 20,486,414 $ 23,430,589
2,448,177 2,404,181 2,582,822 2,412,432 2,644,714
15,185,794 2,815,456 2,698,449 4,220,657 2,425,183
7,527,258 6,666,398 7,635,326 8,110,272 6,936,730
8,189,412 9,011,136 7,809,403 7,648,904 9,098,070
213,290 290,053 364,645 425,181 751,598
52,790,019 40,131,197 41,267,469 43,303,860 45,286,884
6,024,160 6,034,476 6,480,165 5,497,927 5,190,156
4,050,811 4,078,386 4,215,863 4,266,999 4,552,145
43,174,472 37,381,756 38,945,071 38,965,035 37,217,341
3,277,406 3,411,871 3,635,573 3,081,240 3,258,406
6,268,527 6,903,412 6,551,561 6,328,933 6,604,706
1,052,954 1,125,601 1,124,710 951,755 789,037
63,848,330 58,935,502 60,952,943 59,091,889 57,611,791
116,638,349 99,066,699 102,220,412 102,395,749 102,898,675

(39,236,263)

(26,468,799)

(27,531,110)

(29,187,696)

(34,453,926)

1,180,625 5,425,232 912,918 3,962,450 222,332
(38,055,636 $ (21,043,567 $ (26,618,192 $ (25,225,246 $ (34,231,594
9,176,765 $ 8,908,341 $ 9,965,744 $ 10,429,421 $ 10,414,278
791,351 792,443 831,460 811,514 796,234
12,697,834 12,631,773 11,727,223 12,171,153 11,623,452
1,620,915 1,612,480 1,497,013 1,553,682 1,483,767
5,942,676 5,911,758 5,488,423 5,696,184 5,439,858
4,427,998 4,885,357 4,028,813 4,955,712 4,130,199
92,019 48,447 - 98,731 (79,417)
137,320 193,201 299,015 272,491 488,939
(2,047,509) (2,126,746) (2,127,130) (2,056,701) (2,071,532)
32,839,369 32,857,054 31,710,561 33,932,187 32,225,778
- - 141 7,866
2,047,509 2,126,746 2,127,130 2,056,701 2,071,532
2,047,509 2,126,746 2,127,130 2,056,842 2,079,398
34,886,87 34,983,80 33,837,69 35,989,02 34,305,17.
(6,396,894) 6,388,255 4,179,451 4,744,491 (2,228,148)
3,228,134 7,551,978 3,040,048 6,019,292 2,301,730
(3,168,760) $ 13,940,233 $ 7,219,499 $ 10,763,783 $ 73,582
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
|
City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
Fund Balances, Governmental Funds
Last Ten Years
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

General Fund

Nonspendable $ 293,453 $ 301,579 $ 281,751 $ 262,073 $ 266,459

Restricted 36,458 45,769 55,270 181,734 21,505

Assigned 3,359,765 1,070,830 1,438,859 1,153,447 2,144,241

Unassigned 7,148,694 10,262,546 9,480,089 9,429,461 8,583,242
Total General Fund 10,838,370 11,680,724 11,255,969 11,026,715 11,015,447
All Other Governmental Funds

Nonspendable 834,962 1,061,814 1,094,121 989,641 955,104

Restricted 9,308,710 6,100,378 9,049,950 7,785,858 5,798,849

Committed 98,328 1,703 2,178 1,553 126,528

Assigned 3,177,562 - 932,268 400,114 -

Unassigned (52,470) (3,000,477) - - (4,953,474)
Total All Other Governmental Funds 13,367,092 4,163,418 11,078,517 9,177,166 1,927,007
Total Governmental Funds $ 24,205,462 $ 15,844,142 $ 22,334,486 $ 20,203,881 $ 12,942,454
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio (Continued)
Fund Balances, Governmental Funds

Last Ten Years

(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)

2013 2012 2011 2010

General Fund

Nonspendable $ 237,732 $ 201,219 $ 194,207 $ 222,918

Restricted 110,459 113,975 94,208 -

Assigned 1,559,926 2,127,354 1,074,608 47,921

Unassigned 9,139,036 6,755,367 7,785,411 7,829,712
Total General Fund 11,047,153 9,197,915 9,148,434 8,100,551
All Other Governmental Funds

Nonspendable 789,122 13,549,608 13,568,594 12,721,630

Restricted 4,967,993 5,215,817 4,079,672 4,125,179

Committed 318,248 561,494 592,770 457,652

Assigned - - 795,506 689,041

Unassigned 721,889 (6,183,050) (6,812,087) (7,194,449)
Total All Other Governmental Funds 6,797,252 13,143,869 12,224,455 10,799,053
Total Governmental Funds $ 17,844,405 $ 22,341,784 $ 21,372,889 $ 18,899,604

Note: In 2011, the City implemented GASB Statenimit54. As a result, the 2010 fund balances wesmtassified
to reflect the effects of this pronouncement.

2009
General Fund
Reserved $ 342,641
Unreserved 6,280,496
Total General Fund 6,623,137
All Other Governmental Funds
Reserved 15,367,539
Unreserved, Undesignated, Reported In:
Special Revenue Funds 1,756,810
Capital Projects Funds (8,546,288)
Total All Other Governmental Funds 8,578,061

Total Governmental Funds $ 15,201,198
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Changes in Fund Balances, Governmental Funds
Last Ten Years

(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)

201¢ 2017 201¢ 201t 201<

Revenue:
Property taxe $ 997315 $ 9,401,900 $ 9,28523 $ 9,22151! $  9,278,95(
Municipal income taxe 22,897,08 24,028,70 22,629,67 22,229,72 21,337,59
Other local taxe 3,563,19: 3,319,93I 3,431,14! 2,573,60! 696,31¢
State levied shared ta; 4,956,27! 4,837,15 4,850,18: 4,988,26: 4,417,201
Intergovernment: 1,951,99. 2,257,66! 1,521,78: 3,251,80: 3,624,09!
Charges for servic 2,418,82! 2,192,48: 2,306,02! 2,432,35. 2,038,43i
Fees, licenses, and perr 827,52: 655,69° 814,64 844,11¢ 940,84:
Interest earning 529,49: 598,49: 461,67. 336,44 176,52¢
Fines and forfeiture 225,82: 253,38¢ 304,78: 251,16« 652,00!
Special assessme 69,88¢ 74,24( 99,10¢ 96,11¢ 121,02:
Other 475,25¢ 529,00: 545,91¢ 683,35: 1,334,92
Total revenues $ 47,888,514 $ 48,148,662 $ 46,250,165 $ 46,908,461 $ 44,617,921
Expenditures
Curren

Security of persons and prope $ 20,776,62 $ 19,999,87. $ 19,27840 $ 18,867,266 $ 18,555,13

Leisure time activitie 3,181,84. 3,776,94 3,492,39! 2,470,72! 2,068,83

Community environme 1,948,511 1,797,90! 1,953,75: 2,941,271 1,534,19.

Street maintenan 3,542,92! 3,367,711 3,424,53: 3,798,44: 3,711,22:

General governme 5,901,05! 5,119,13: 5,242,68! 5,062,77: 5,079,26:
Capital outla: 11,771,22 17,043,47. 7,459,82! 8,370,12: 9,322,99!
Debt servic

Principa 323,77: 954,39¢ 893,31! 1,188,63: 7,748,92!

Interes 384,42: 297,31( 397,36t 151,11. 191,60
Total expenditures $ 47,830,382% 52,356,750 $ 42,142282 $ 42,850,341 $ 48,212,180
Excess (deficiency) of revent
over (under) expenditur $ 58,13: $ (4,208,088 $ 4,107,880 $ 4,058,121 $ (3,594,259

Other financing sources (use:

Bond Note procee! 10,665,00 - - 6,185,00! =
Premium on various purpose refunding bc - - - - -
Payment to bond escrow accol - - - - -
Refunding bond issuance ¢ - - -
Capital leas - - 245,87 - -

Transfers i 3,210,001 2,935,001 2,680,001 3,459,71 4,778,52'
Transfers ot (5,336,297 (5,201,593 (5,024,428 (6,590,583 (6,278,503
Total other financing sources (us 8,538,70: (2,266,593 (2,098,551 3,054,12i (1,499,976
Net change in fund balance $ 8,5696,83% (6,474,681)$ 2,009,332 $ 7,112,248 $  (5,094,235)

Debt service as a percentage of nonce
expenditure 1.9% 3.4% 3.5% 4.0% 18.6%
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio (Continued)
Changes in Fund Balances, Governmental Funds

Last Ten Years

(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)

2012 201z 2011 201( 200¢

Revenue
Property taxe $ 942129, $ 9,233,350 $ 10,213,08 $ 10,686,76 $ 10,712,39
Municipal income taxe 20,178,11 19,433,22: 18,672,20 19,370,71 18,231,29
Other local taxe 640,93t 640,96¢ 488,31¢ 480,31" 840,22¢
State levied shared ta: 6,387,86: 7,237,03 6,736,03! 7,125,341 6,235,08.
Intergovernment; 4,444.27. 3,728,44. 3,914,49: 5,035,72 3,002,001
Charges for servic 5,250,241 5,197,18I 5,052,58! 4,945,17: 5,463,15.
Fees, licenses, and perr 727,91¢ 885,61: 828,29: 1,022,271 1,050,54.
Interest earning 133,94: 180,90¢ 310,73t 237,86! 497,50!
Fines and forfeiture 352,46¢ 308,78t 342,54: 325,24 225,37
Special assessme 165,84 184,55¢ 267,84¢ 255,81 345,12:
Other 486,47( 873,76t 1,317,23; 662,76! 577,76t
Total revenues $ 48,189,359 $ 47,903,846 $ 48,143,375 $ 50,147,991 $ 47,180,475
Expenditures
Curren

Security of persons and prope $ 18,83572 $ 18,284,000 $ 18,750,988 $ 19,798,13 $ 22,414,01

Leisure time activitie 2,270,65! 2,217,15: 2,214,32! 2,100,74: 2,324,00!

Community environmel 1,623,73I 2,637,21 2,605,71! 2,422,13: 2,597,30:

Street maintenan 3,457,63! 3,037,77: 3,751,16 3,629,86! 4,007,06!

General governme 7,450,901 7,324,777 6,941,67. 6,797,45: 8,169,11:
Capital outla 21,999,63 8,627,40 7,999,72! 7,808,94. 7,020,46!
Debt servic

Principa 1,114,98I 1,156,47! 1,138,25. 1,289,82I 1,443,691

Interes 261,07: 282,81( 400,07- 471,80° 762,21!
Total expenditures $ 57,014,352% 43,567,624 $ 43,801,922 $ 44,318,908 $ 48,737,892
Excess (deficiency) of revent
over (under) expenditur $ (8,824,993 $ 4,336,222 $ 434145 $ 5829,080 $ (1,557,417
Other financing sources (use:
Bond/Note procee 6,600,001 - - - 3,093,001
Premium on various purpose refunding bc - - - - 166,72.
Payment to bond escrow accol - - - - (3,215,098
Refunding bond issuance ¢ - - - - (44,624
Capital leas - - - - 263,51!
Transfers il 4,580,80: 22,953,66: 22,624,85 23,240,54 22,675,96.
Transfers ot (6,839,411 (26,268,89€ (24,633,58( (25,247,63¢ (24,747,49€
Total other financing sources (us 4,341,39: (3,315,233 (2,008,724 (2,007,089 (1,808,017
Net change in fund balance $ (4,483,601 1,020,989 $ 2,332,729 $ 3,821,994 $ (3,365,434)
Debt service as a percentage of nonce
expenditure 2.7% 4.0% 4.0% 4.3% 5.1%
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
Assessed Valuation and Estimated Actual Values of Takle Property
Last Ten Years

Real Property Tangible Personal Property
Assessed Value Public Utility General Business
Estimated Estimated Estimated
Collection Residential; Commercial Actual Assesse Actual Assesse Actual
Year Agricultural Industrial/PU Value Value Value Value Value
201¢ $ 771,819,81 236,556,73 2,881,075,82 10,022,34 11,389,02
2017 710,687,96 244,652,17 2,729,543,22 9,666,341 10,984,47
201¢ 707,180,15 244,859,31 2,720,112,74 8,986,09( 10,211,46 - -
201% 701,837,42 234,800,49 2,676,108,31 8,783,58 9,981,34 - -
2014 717,638,14 233,258,23 2,716,846,77 8,510,78I 9,671,34 - -
201z 715,103,78 229,827,49 2,699,803,62 7,862,223 8,934,35: - -
201z 715,700,85 228,184,86 2,696,816,31 7,284,711 8,278,08! - -
2011 764,081,83 265,853,24 2,942,671,62 6,922,011 7,865,921 - -
201¢ 761,306,82 252,733,19 2,897,257,17 6,701,35( 7,615,171 979,80( 3,919,201
200¢ 759,030,43 257,923,86 2,905,583,68 6,457,811 7,338,421 1,978,64! 7,914,591
Total
Estimated Tax Rate
Collection Assesse Actual (per $1,000 o
Year Value Value Ratio Assessed Value
201¢ $ 1,018,398,88 $ 2,892,464,85 35.21% 11.0C
2017 965,006,47 2,740,527,70 35.21% 11.0C
201¢€ 961,025,55 2,730,324,20 35.20% 11.0C
201¢ 945,616,82 2,686,089,65 35.20% 11.0C
2014 959,407,15 2,726,518,11 35.19% 11.0C
201% 952,793,50 2,708,737,98 35.17% 11.0C
201z 951,170,42 2,705,094,39 35.16% 11.0C
2011 1,036,857,08 2,950,537,54 35.14% 11.0C
201¢ 1,021,721,16 2,908,791,54 35.13% 11.0C
200¢ 1,025,390,74 2,920,836,70 35.11% 11.0C

Real property is reappraised every six years wihade mandated update of the current market valtre
third year following each reappraisal.

The assessed value of real property (includingipuitility real property) is 35 percent of estimditeue
value. The assessed value of public utility peasproperty ranges from 25 percent of true valugddroad
property to 88 percent for electric transmissiod distribution property. General business tangiglesonal
property was assessed in previous years at 25mdocenachinery and equipment and 23 percent for
inventories. General business tangible persomglgty tax is being phased out beginning in 2006
collection year 2007, 2008 and 2009 both typeseoakgal business tangible property were assesdedsat
percent, 6.25 percent and zero, respectively.

The tangible personal property values associatttasich year are the values that, when multipliethb
applicable rates, generated the property tax rexbiiled in that year. For real property, the amtsu

generated by multiplying the assessed values bggpgcable rates would be reduced by the 10%2%01/
and homestead exemptions before being billed.

Source: Summit County Fiscal Off
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Property Tax Rates - Direct and Overlapping Governnents
(per $1,000 of Assessed Value)

Last Ten Years

Unvoted Millage
Operating

Police Pension

Fire Pension

Total Unvoted Millage

Voted Millage

1989 Parks & Recreation Operating
Residential/Agricultural Real
Commercial/Industrial and Public Utility Real
General Business and Public Utility Personal

Total Voted Millage

Total Voted Millage by Type of Property
Residential/Agricultural Real
Commercial/lndustrial and Public Utility Real
General Business and Public Utility Personal

Total Millage

Overlapping Rates by Taxing District

City School District
Residential/Agricultural Real
Commercial/Industrial and Public Utility Real
General Business and Public Utility Personal

Summit County
Residential/Agricultural Real
Commercial/Industrial and Public Utility Real
General Business and Public Utility Personal

Special Taxing Districts-Cuyahoga Falls Library
Residential/Agricultural Real
Commercial/lndustrial and Public Utility Real
General Business and Public Utility Personal

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
10.4000 10.4000 10.4000 10.4000 10.4000 10.4000 10.4000 .4000 10.4000 10.4000
0.3000 0.3000 0.3000 0.3000 0.3000 0.3000 0.3000 0.3000 000.3  0.3000
0.3000 0.3000 0.3000 0.3000 0.3000 0.3000 0.3000 0.3000  000.3  0.3000
11.0000 11.0000 11.0000 11.0000 11.0000 11.0000 11.0000 .0oaa 11.0000 11.0000
0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000
0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 000.0  0.0000
0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 000.0
0.0000 .00@O 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 00.00
0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 000.0  0.0000
0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 000.0  0.0000
0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 000.0
0.0000 .00@0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 00.00
11.0000 11.0000 11.0000 11.0000 11.0000 11.0000 11.0000 .0oaa 11.0000 11.0000
73.8900 74.6600 69.9500 69.9100 69.9600 69.8900 69.9200 69.8800 69.8800 69.7800
42.9442 43.6703 41.7900 41.7304 41.7600 41.1984 41.1898 41.1139 34.6521 34.5665
51.902 52.6224 47.9600 47.2351 47.2300  46.9312 46.7903 46.8903 41.0287 40.9014
73.8900 74.6600 69.9500 69.9100 69.9600 69.8900 69.9200 69.8800 69.8800 69.7800
14.1600 14.1600 14.1600 14.1600 14.1600 14.1600 14.1600 14.1600 14.1600 14.1600
13.2759 13.2658 14.1000 14.0991 14.1000 14.0816 14.0805 14.0793 14.0201 14.0192
14.636  14.0950 13.8800 13.9081 13.8800 14.1574 14.1534 14.1443 13.6240 13.6449
14.1600 14.1600 14.1600 14.1600 14.1600 14.1600 14.1600 14.1600 14.1600 14.1600
1000 1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.3000 1.3000 1.3000
1.7533 1.7509 1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.2993 1.3000
1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.8935 1.9000 1.2618 1.2608
1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.9000 1.3000 1.3000 1.3000

Source: Summit County Fiscal Office and Ohio Depertt of Taxation

Note:

The City's basic property tax rate may be increastylby a majority vote of the City's residents.

The real property tax rates for the voted leviethefoverlapping taxing districts are reduced so th

inflationary increases in value do not generatatiatdl revenue.

Overlapping rates are those of local and countyguwents that apply to property owners within tlitg.C
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
Principal Taxpayers - Real Estate Tax
2018 and 2009

2018
Percentage of
Real
Name of Taxpayer Assessed Value (1) Assessed Value
Western Reserve Hospital LLC $ 5,624,430 0.55%
Newpart Limited Partnership 5,250,110 0.52%
Riverside Community Urban Redevelopment 4,919,350 0.48%
Yorkshire Woods Apartments LTD 4,620,450 0.45%
DFG Chapel Hill LLC 3,976,010 0.39%
Mark Spagnuolo LLC 3,765,140 0.37%
Akron Jupiter LLC 3,151,230 0.31%
Cuyahoga Falls Property Il LLC 2,929,190 0.29%
Trinity Square Acquisition LLC 2,508,500 0.25%
Sams Real Estate Business Trust 2,631,960 0.26%
Totals $ 39,376,370 3.87%
Total Assessed Valuation $ 1,018,398,880
2009
Percentage of
Real
Name of Taxpayer Assessed Value (1) Assessed Value

Newpart Limited Partnership $ 6,315,360 0.62%
Riverside Community Urban Redevelopment 5,249,650 0.51%
Niederst Portage Towers LLC & Wynn 4,374,490 0.43%
GoJo Industries, Inc. 3,838,270 0.37%
Yorkshire Woods Apartments LTD 3,822,260 0.37%
Plaza Chapel Hill 3,500,320 0.34%
Sams Real Estate Business Trust 2,905,630 0.28%
Dayton Hudson Corporation 2,770,580 0.27%
Cuyahoga Heights LP 2,204,270 0.21%
HD Development of Maryland Inc. 2,098,790 0.20%
Totals $ 37,079,620 3.62%
Total Assessed Valuation $ 1,025,390,747

Source: Summit County Fiscal Offic

(1) The amounts presented represent the assedsed ugon which 2018 and 2009 collections weredase
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Property Tax Levies and Collections

Last Ten Years

Percent of Percent Accumulated Percentage of
Total Current Current Tax Delinquent Total of Total Outst anding Delinquent
Tax Tax Collections Tax Tax Collections Delinquent Taxeso Total
Year Levy Collections To Tax Levy Collections Collectios To Tax Levy Taxes Tax Levy
2018 % 11,202,383 $ 10,985,702 98.1% $ 73,238 11,058,940 98.7% $ 308,859 2.8%
2017 10,647,234 10,377,946 97.5% 236,262 10,614,208 99.7% 362,892 3.4%
2016 10,571,320 10,343,036 97.8% 219,706 10,562,742 99.9% 331,614 3.1%
2015 10,401,824 10,174,711 97.8% 227,113 10,401,824 100.0% 348,924 3.4%
2014 10,553,518 10,256,163 97.2% 297,355 10,553,518 100.0% 425,771 4.0%
2013 10,480,780 10,183,515 97.2% 500,160 10,683,675 101.9% 439,076 4.2%
2012 10,462,926 10,058,116 96.1% 421,477 10,479,593 100.2% 610,223 5.8%
2011 11,405,477 10,856,794 95.2% 400,743 11,257,537 98.7% 908,284 8.0%
2010 11,231,439 10,775,300 95.9% 321,773 11,097,073 98.8% 730,635 6.5%
2009 11,257,584 10,807,318 96.0% 294,572 11,101,890 98.6% 607,847 5.4%
Source:  Summit County Fiscal Officer
Note: The City is aware of the requirement to regetinquent tax collections by levy year rathertlcollection year. However, the County is

unable to provide delinquent collections by levaiyeThis presentation will be updated as new mfiion becomes available.
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
Income Tax Revenue Base and Collections
Last 10 Years

Percentagt Percentage Percentage
of Taxes of Taxes Taxes of Taxes

Tax Tax Total Tax Taxes Fromr From Taxes Fromr From From From
Year Rate Collected (1 Withholding Withholding Net Profits Net Profits Individuals Individuals
201¢ 2.00% 23,243,187 17,788,114 7% 2,763,623 12% 2,691,451 % 12
2017 200% $ 23,940,612 $ 17,640,902 74% $ 3,030,723 13% $ 3,268,987 14%
201¢ 2.00% 22,799,767 16,974,692 74% 2,739,541 12% 3,085,533 14%
201t 2.00% 22,212,557 16,405,895 74% 2,964,688 13% 2,841,974 13%
201¢ 2.00% 20,848,103 15,670,167 75% 2,774,059 13% 2,403,878 12%
201z 2.00% 20,116,462 15,019,091 75% 2,624,468 13% 2,472,903 12%
2012 2.00% 19,252,832 14,682,742 76% 2,172,464 11% 2,397,626 12%
2011 2.00% 18,423,570 13,928,426 76% 2,158,632 12% 2,336,512 13%
201¢ 2.00% 19,244,149 14,877,452 7% 2,025,820 11% 2,340,877 12%
200¢ 2.00% 18,146,139 13,350,667 74% 2,393,797 13% 2,401,675 13%

(1) Income tax collections are based on cash basis amounts.
Source: The City's Income Tax Department
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohic
Ten Largest Municipal Income Tax Withholding Accourts
Tax Years 2018 and 20C

Tax Year 201¢

Income Tax Percent Of

Withholding Income Tax

Collections Withholding

Taxpayers Ranking Collections
Go Jo Industries In 1 5.14%
Associated Materials LL 2 4.74%
Summa Western Reserve Hosj 3 4.21%
City of Cuyahoga Fal 4 3.36%
Cuyahoga Falls Board of Educat 5 3.15%
Americhem, Inc 6 1.76%
Woodridge Local School Distri 7 1.73%
Blossom Entertaine 8 1.41%
Summit County Board of Educati 9 1.33%
SWRH Physicians In 10 1.17%
28.03%

Tax Year 200¢

Income Tax Percent Of

Withholding Income Tax

Collections Withholding

Taxpayers Ranking Collections
Summa Health System Hospil 1 4.16%
City of Cuyahoga Fal 2 3.86%
Go Jo Industries In 3 3.38%
Cuyahoga Falls Board of Educat 4 2.95%
Associated Materials LL 5 2.26%
Americhem, Inc 6 1.23%
Woodridge Local School Distri 7 1.22%
Manufacturers Group Internatiol 8 0.95%
Schwebel Baking C 9 0.92%
Summit County Board of Educati 10 0.87%
— 21.80%

Source: The City's Income Tax Departn

194
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Ratios of Outstanding Debt To

Total Personal Income and Debt Per Capita
Last Ten Years

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Percentage
General Special General Total Total of

Fiscal Obligation Assessment Capital Obligation Capital Primary Personal Personal Population Per
Year Bonds Bonds Leases Bonds Leases Government Income Int® (1) Capita
2018 $ 16,464,565 $ - $ 113,9p$ 11,446,655 % 2,053,011 $ 30,078,143 $ 1,396,644,920 2.15% 49,247 h $ 611
2017 6,062,137 - 218,6 12,593,276 4,066,26! 22,940,358 1,354,690,386 0 49,206 g 466
2016 6,627,326 - 600,146 14,490,226 5,999,19: 27,716,892 1,325,320,182 2.09% 49,146 f 564
2015 7,121,208 = 771,998 15,936,579 7,867,11. 31,696,849 1,321,731,390 2.40% 49,210 e 644
2014 1,894,899 - 960,7% 17,962,670 9,480,74: 30,299,052 1,300,747,334 2.33% 49,267 d 615
2013 9,366,761 - 1,264,2 19,931,127 11,156,009 41,718,226 1,288,676,919 3.24% 49,267 d 847
2012 3,440,742 - 1,566,8. 21,309,265 12,754,07 39,070,912 1,251,027,745 3.12% 49,255 ¢ 793
2011 4,237,456 = 1,662,148 22,652,551 14,213,011 42,765,144 1,227,000,224 3.49% 49,652 b 861
2010 5,013,033 52,000 1,972,79| 24,261,972 15,672,23 46,972,033 1,119,652,600 4.20% 49,652 b 946
2009 5,945,700 104,000 2,704,08] 26,019,454 16,477,591 51,250,839 1,152,079,500 4.45% 51,090 a 1,003

Sources:

(1) U. S. Bureau of Census, Census of Population
(a) July 1, 2008 U.S. Census Bureau Estimate
(b) 2010 U.S. Census Bureau
(c) 2012 U.S. Census Bureau Estimate
(d) 2013 U.S. Census Bureau Estimate
(e) 2014 U.S. Census Bureau Estimate
(f) 2015 U.S. Census Bureau Estimate
(g) 2016 U.S. Census Bureau Estimate
(h) 2017 U.S. Census Bureau Estimate
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
Ratio of General Obligation Bonded Debt to Estimated True
Value of Taxable Property and Bonded Debt Per Capita

Last Ten Fiscal Years
Ratio of Tota

Bonded Debt t Total

Estimate: Gross Bonded Debt Outstanding Estimated Tru Bonde(
Fiscal Actual Value o Governmentz Business-typ Total Primar Value of Taxabl ~ Debt pe
Yeal Population (1 Taxable Property (; Activities Activities Governmer Propert) Capite
201¢ 49,247 h $ 2,892,464,85 $ 16,46456 $ 11,44665 $  27,911,22 0.96% $ 567
2017 49,20¢ g 2,740,527,70 6,062,13 12,593,27 18,655,41 0.68% 37¢
201¢ 49,14¢ f 2,730,324,20 6,627,32! 14,490,22 21,117,55 0.77% 43C
201t 49,21( € 2,686,089,65 7,121,20! 15,936,57 23,057,78 0.86% 46¢
201¢ 49,267 d 2,726,518,11 1,894,89! 17,962,67 19,857,56 0.73% 408
201z 49,267 d 2,708,737,98 9,366,76. 19,931,12 29,297,88 1.08% 59t
2012 49,25 ¢ 2,705,094,39 3,440,74. 21,309,26 24,750,00 0.91% 50z
2011 49,65: b 2,950,537,54 4,237,45! 22,652,55 26,890,00 0.91% 54z
201C 49,65. b 2,908,791,54 5,013,03: 24,261,97 29,275,00 1.01% 59C
200¢ 51,09( a 2,920,836,70 5,945,701 26,019,45 31,965,15 1.09% 62¢€

Sources

(1) U. S. Bureau of Census, Census of Popul
(@) 2008 U.S Census Bureau Estir
(b) 2010 U.S. Census Bureau Estir
(c) 2012 U.S. Census Bureau Estir
(d) 2013 U.S. Census Bureau Estir
(e) 2014 U.S. Census Bureau Estir
(f) 2015 U.S. Census Bureau Estin
(g) 2016 U.S. Census Bureau Estir
(h) 2017 U.S. Census Bureau Estir

(2) Summit County Fiscal Offic

(3) Includes all general obligation bonded debhwiite exception of Special Assessment
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
Legal Debt Margin
Last Ten Fiscal Years

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Overall debt limitation (10.5% of assessed valugtio $ 106,931,882 $ 101,325,679 $ 100,907,683 $ 99,289,766 $ 100,737,751
Net debt within 10.5 % limitations 16,465,669 6,019,802 6,592,952 7,069,086 1,759,101
Overall legal debt margin within 10.5% limitations $ 0,966,213 $ 95,305,877 $ 94,314,731 $ 92,220,680 $ 98,978,650
Total net debt applicable to the limit as a peraget

of debt limit 15.40% 5.94% 6.53% 7.12% 1.75%
Unvoted debt limitation (5.5% of assessed valuation $ 56,011,938 $ 53,075,356 $ 52,856,405 $ 52,008,925 $ 52,767,393
Net debt within 5.5% limitations 16,465,669 6,019,802 6,592,952 7,069,086 1,759,101
Unvoted legal debt margin within 5.5% limitations $ 396,269 $ 47,055,554 $ 46,263,453 $ 44,939,839 $ 51,008,292
Total net debt applicable to the limit as a peraget

of debt limit 29.40% 11.34% 12.47% 13.59% 3.33%

Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2018

Unvoted Margin

Overall Margin

Within 5.5% Within 10.5%

Assessed property value $ 1,018,398,880 $ 1,018,398,880
Overall debt limitation (% of assessed valuation) $ 56,011,938 $ 106,931,882
Gross indebtedness 26,995,000 26,995,000
Less:

(Self-supporting as defined in O.R.C. 133.05)

General sewer and sanitary improvements (505,000) (505,000)

Water utility (1,020,000) (1,020,000)

Recreation facilities (8,990,000) (8,990,000)

Debt Service Fund Balance (14,331) (14,331)
Net debt within limitations $ 16,465,669 $ 16,465,669
Legal debt margin within limitations $ 39,546,269 $ 90,466,213

Source: City's Financial Records
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio (Continued)
Legal Debt Margin
Last Ten Fiscal Years

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Overall debt limitation (10.5% of assessed valugtio $ 100,043,318 $ 99,872,894 $ 108,869,993 $ 107,280,722 $ 107,666,029
Net debt within 10.5 % limitations 2,607,674 3,430,477 4,227,891 5,008,006 5,936,842
Overall legal debt margin within 10.5% limitations $ 7,935,644 $ 96,442,417 $ 104,642,102 $ 102,272,716 $ 101,729,187
Total net debt applicable to the limit as a peraget

of debt limit 2.61% 3.43% 3.88% 4.67% 5.51%
Unvoted debt limitation (5.5% of assessed valuation $ 52,403,643 $ 52,314,373 $ 57,027,139 $ 56,194,664 $ 56,396,491
Net debt within 5.5% limitations 2,607,674 3,430,477 4,227,891 5,008,006 5,936,842
Unvoted legal debt margin within 5.5% limitations $ 495969 $ 48,883,896 $ 52,799,248 $ 51,186,658 $ 50,459,649
Total net debt applicable to the limit as a peraget

of debt limit 4.98% 6.56% 7.41% 8.91% 10.53%
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
Pledged Revenue Coverage
Last Ten Years

SEWAGE AND DISPOSAL FUND

Net Revenue Debt Service Requirements
Operating Operating Available for
Year Revenue Expenses Debt Service Principal Interest al Tot Coverage
2009 $ 5,657,006 $ 5,090,043 $ 466,963 $ 237,888 $ 132,182 $ 370,070 1.26
2010 6,151,949 5,170,687 981,262 251,000 80,826 331,826 2.96
2011 6,231,058 6,215,572 15,486 265,000 66,472 331,472 0.05
2012 6,621,540 5,850,125 771,415 271,000 61,172 332,172 2.32
2013 5,941,960 5,892,984 48,976 277,000 54,622 331,622 0.15
2014 6,460,514 6,481,696 (21,182) 284,000 48,284 332,284 (0.06)
2015 7,064,315 6,684,578 379,737 292,000 40,606 332,606 1.14
2016 7,967,007 7,433,436 533,571 305,000 28,926 335,926 1.59
2017 8,443,990 7,871,744 572,246 317,000 16,998 333,998 1.71
2018 8,403,385 8,273,610 129,775 161,000 4,830 165,830 0.78
WATER FUND
Net Revenue Debt Service Requirements
Operating Operating Available For

Year Revenue Expenses Debt Service Principal Interest al Tot Coverage
2009 $ 4,858,853 $ 4,655,041 $ 203,812 $ 577,633 $ 366,518 $ 944,151 0.22
2010 5,024,010 4,286,337 737,673 603,000 288,110 891,110 0.83
2011 5,401,541 4,144,762 1,256,779 634,000 262,280 896,280 1.40
2012 6,287,031 4,291,942 1,995,089 683,000 168,246 851,246 2.34
2013 5,997,979 4,333,335 1,664,644 707,000 145,856 852,856 1.95
2014 5,867,593 4,371,985 1,495,608 720,000 131,084 851,084 1.76
2015 5,345,330 4,219,067 1,126,263 738,000 115,309 853,309 1.32
2016 5,143,261 4,264,236 879,025 764,000 93,539 857,539 1.03
2017 5,647,624 4,746,199 901,425 785,000 69,683 854,683 1.05
2018 5,651,564 4,828,054 823,510 655,000 45,313 700,313 1.18

Notes: Debt Service requirements are reported aash basis.
Operating revenues and expenses apetegpon a GAAP basis.
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Pledged Revenue Coverage
Last Ten Years

LEISURE TIME FUND

Net Revenue Debt Service Requirements
Operating Operating Available for

Year Revenue Expenses Debt Service Principal Interest al Tot Coverage
2009 $ 5,770,797 $ 6,071,321 $ (300,524) $ 538,016 $ 349,408 $ 887,424 (0.34)
2010 5,952,524 5,679,883 272,641 548,333 335,957 884,290 0.31
2011 5,910,168 5,897,621 12,547 745,423 635,873 1,381,296 0.01
2012 6,046,646 5,921,461 125,185 769,286 613,005 1,382,291 0.09
2013 5,690,602 5,947,555 (256,953) 873,148 457,140 1,330,288 (0.19)
2014 5,558,640 5,622,153 (63,513) 900,238 428,735 1,328,973 (0.05)
2015 6,642,300 959,662 5,682,638 925,873 413,952 1,339,825 4.24
2016 7,426,456 5,993,124 1,433,332 7,100,000 380,621 7,480,621 0.19
2017 7,465,484 6,179,831 1,285,653 690,000 341,541 1,031,541 1.25
2018 6,630,504 6,238,613 391,891 725,000 304,100 1,029,100 0.38

Notes: Debt Service requirements are reportedaash basis.
Operating revenues and expenses apeteepon a GAAP basis.
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
|

Computation of Direct and Overlapping GovernmentalActivities Debt

December 31, 2018

Jurisdiction

Direct - City of Cuyahoga Falls
General Obligation Bonds
Capital Leases

Total Direct Debt

Overlapping

School Districts
Woodridge Local
Hudson City
Revere Local
Stow-Munroe Falls City

County

Summit County
Other Units

Akron-Summit County Library District
Total Overlapping Debt

Total

Source: Summit County Fiscal Office

Governmental
Activities Debt

$

Outstanding

16,464,565
113,912

16,578,477

33,485,000
79,510,000

62,818,742

3,130,520

37,290,000

10,025,000

226,259,262

$ 242,837,73

Percentage

Applicable to

City (1

100.00%
100.00%

59.07%
3.44%
0.86%
0.24%

8.22%

3.59%

(1) Percentages were determined by dividing eacHap@ing subdivision's
assessed valuation within the City by its totakased valuation.

201

$

Applicable
to City

16,464,565
113,912

16,578,477

19,779,590
2,735,144
540,241
7,513

3,065,238

359,898

26,487,624

43,066,10




City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
Demographic and Economic Statistic
Last Ten Years

Average
Sales
Total Median Per City Price of
Personal Family Capita Unemployment Rate (3) Square Residential Median
Fiscal Population Income Income Income Summit State of Miles Property Age
Year (1) (5) (1) (1) County Ohio (4) (2) (1)
2018 49,247 h $ 1,396,644,920% 52,936 $ 28,360 4.7% 4.6% 27.8% 151,692 39.3
2017 49,206 g 1,354,690,386 51,586 27,531 4.8% 4.5% 27.8 142,969 39.7
2016 49,146 f 1,325,320,182 50,832 26,967 5.0% 4.8% 27.8 136,923 39.7
2015 49,210 e 1,321,731,390 49,188 26,859 4.8% 4.6% 27.8 137,751 39.5
2014 49,267 d 1,300,747,334 49,438 26,402 4.9% 4.7% 27.8 138,814 39.4
2013 49,267 d 1,288,676,919 48,606 26,157 6.4% 6.6% 27.8 134,556 38.8
2012 49,255 ¢ 1,251,027,745 46,450 25,399 6.1% 6.6% 27.8 128,421 38.8
2011 49,652 b 1,227,000,224 47,071 24,712 7.4% 7.6% 27.8 124,634 38.8
2010 49,652 b 1,119,652,600 52,372 22,550 7.3% 10.0% 27.8 127,338 37.2
2009 51,090 a 1,152,079,500 52,372 22,550 9.8% 10.2% 27.8 129,051 37.2
Sources:

(1) U. S. Bureau of Census, Census of Population

(a) 2008 U.S Census Bureau Estimate
(b) 2010 U.S Census Bureau

(c) 2012 U.S. Census Bureau Estimate
(d) 2013 U.S. Census Bureau Estimate
(e) 2014 U.S. Census Bureau Estimate
(f) 2015 U.S. Census Bureau Estimate
(g) 2016 U.S. Census Bureau Estimate
(h) 2017 U.S. Census Bureau Estimate

(2) Summit County Fiscal Office

(3) Ohio Bureau of Employment Services; U.S. Depant of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, OhidbbdaMarket Information

(4) City Records

(5) Computation of per capita income multiplieddgmpulation
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
Principal Employers
2017 and Ten Years Ago

City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

2017*
Percentage
of Total City
Employer Nature of Activity Employees Employment
Summa Western Reserve Hospital Hospital 1,099 4.29%
Go Jo Industries Inc. Manufacturer 1,020 3.98%
City of Cuyahoga Falls Government 936 3.66%
Cuyahoga Falls Board of Education Education 782 3.05%
Woodridge Local School District Education 687 2.68%
B T L Payroll Payroll Services 598 2.33%
The Fred Albrecht Company Grocer 553 2.16%
Summit County Board of Education Education 440 1.72%
GMRI Restaurant 359 1.40%
Associated Materials Manufacturer 334 1.30%
Total 6,808 26.57%
Total Employment Within the City 25,60(
2009
Percentage
of Total City
Employer Nature of Activity Employees Employment
Koosharem Corporation Employment Services 1,603 6.29%
Go Jo Industries Inc. Manufacturer 1,205 4.73%
Summa Health System Hospitals Hospital 1,026 4.03%
Cuyahoga Falls Board of Education Education 930 3.65%
City of Cuyahoga Falls Government 914 3.59%
B T L Payroll Payroll Services 532 2.09%
GMRI Restaurant 474 1.86%
Woodridge Local School District Education 449 1.76%
Associated Materials Manufacturer 428 1.68%
The Fred W. Albrecht Company Grocer 361 1.41%
Total 7,922 31.09%
Total Employment Within the City 25,46

Source: City Financial Records and estimate foallBmployment within the City from Ohio Labor Matke

Information (OhioLMIl.com)

* 2018 data was not available at the time this repas issued
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

Capital Asset Statistics By Function/Program
Last Ten Years

201¢ 2017 201¢€ 201t 2014 201z 201z 2011 201( 200¢
Engineering
Vehicles 9 9 9 9 10 9 8 9 10 11
Parking Facilities
City Lots and Deck 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14
Square Fe 312,467 312,46 312,46 312,46 312,467 312,46 312,467 312,46 312,46° 312,46°
Space 1,287 1,312 1,312 1,312 1,312 1,312 1.312 1,312 1,312 1,312
Recreation Lof 27 27 27 26 25 25 25 25 25 25
Square Fe 700,56(  700,56( 700,56( 694,02: 644,23 644,23 644,237 644,23 644,23" 644,23°
Space 2,01C 2,01C 2,01(C 1,99¢ 1,95¢ 1,95 1,95¢ 1,95t 1,95¢ 1,95¢
Building and Grounds
Vehicles 39 39 38 41 42 39 40 41 42 49
Station: 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Grounds Maintenance
Vehicles 16 14 14 13 13 12 13 14 14 14
Police
Vehicles 39 39 38 41 42 39 40 41 42 49
Station: 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Fire
Vehicles 28 28 27 29 27 27 28 29 28 28
Station: 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Recreatior
Number of Park 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24
Vehicles 31 22 25 36 38 38 37 39 41 40
Number of Tennis Cour 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 17 17
Number of Baseball Diamon 35 35 35 35 35 35 35 35 35 35
Recreation Cent 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Golf Course 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Acres of City Park 507 507 507 507 507 507 507 507 507 507
Swimming Pool 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12
Community Developmen
Vehicles 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4
Information Services
Vehicles 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 7 6 6
Highways and Street
Streets (miles 24143 241.43  234.02° 234.02 233.52" 233.03 23258 232260 232190 23219
Streetslight 5,971 6,00€ 6,214 5,96¢ 5,91¢ 5,89¢ 5,631 5,621 5,62¢ 5,61¢
Traffic Signal 79 79 79 79 79 72 72 78 78 81
Vehicles 37 40 36 55 53 52 53 52 52 52
Sewer
Sanitary Sewer Lines (mile 151 152 152 152 152 152 152 152 152 152
Storm Sewer Lines (mile 151 152 152 16C 16C 151 151 16C 151 151
Vehicles 11 13 12 11 13 13 13 13 13 20
Water
Water Mains (miles 20C 20C 20C 20C 20C 20C 20C 20C 20C 20C
Fire Hydrant 2,117 2,11« 2,115 2,11« 2,114 2,11« 2,11« 2,111 2,111 2,32t
Vehicles 15 15 16 19 19 20 20 20 19 21
Electric
Substation 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 12 13 13
Miles of Service Line 34C 33¢ 33¢ 33¢ 33¢ 33€ 33E 318 31C 30¢
Vehicles 27 29 27 33 28 26 27 27 27 27
Sanitation
Vehicles 23 22 24 27 25 22 22 18 26 25
Number of Route 7 7 7 7 9 9 7 6 6 6
Garage
Vehicles 6 4 4 2 4 4 5 9 9 9
Utility Billing
Vehicles 3 3 3 2 1 1 1 1 2 3

Source: City Departmer
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

City of Cuyahoga Falls

Full-Time Equivalent City Government Employees by kinction/Program
Last Ten Years

Function/Program 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

2011 2010 2009
General Government
Council 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
Mayor 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mayor's Court 2 2 2 1 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2 15
Finance 8.5 8.5 8.5 8.5 8.5 8.5 8.5 8.5 8.5 8.5
Law Director 7.5 7 7.5 7.5 7.5 6 7.5 8 8 8.5
Service Director 2 3 3 4 4 4 4.5 4 4.5 4.5
Civil Service 15 15 15 1.5 15 15 15 15 15 15
Engineering 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 11 11 11
HR 3 3 3 8 3 3 3 4 4 4
Print Shop 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Building & Grounds 12.5 10 8.5 8 9 9 8 12 115 12
NECCO 4
Income Tax 2 3.5 4 4.5 3.5 4 4 5 5 5
Information Services 8 8 7 7 7 8 8 8 7 8.5
Security of Persons & Property
Building 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4.5 7
Police 77.5 79.5 79 79.5 74.5 77.5 78 76 84 93
Crossing Guards 0.5 1 15 15 3 2 2 3 4 4.5
Fire 74.5 73.5 75.5 75.5 72.5 75.5 72.5 76.5 83 83
Technical Services 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 5 6
Communications 12.5 13 14.5 135 14.5 13.5 13 15 14 14.5
Community Environment
Community Development 8 115 13.5 13 10.5 12 12 13 13 14
Leisure Time
Parks & Recreation 1325 1235 130.5 132 131.5 127 132 136.5 141 142
Transportation
Streets 29 28 255 26 27 27 27 29 32 32
Storm Water 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 3 3 2
Sewage and Disposal 13 13 13 12.5 12 12 12 12 12 12.5
Water 19.5 19.5 20.5 20 20.5 20 20 22 17 255
Electric 49 45 43 45 44.5 42 42 45 45 48
Sanitation 14.5 175 18.5 19 17 14.5 16.5 14.5 145 18
Garage 8 8 7 7 7 5.5 6.5 8 8 9
Notes:

All part-time employees and City Council Membergeveounted as .5 full-time equivalents for the psgs of this table.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Municipal Courts @ferk of Courts moved to Stow, Ohio. Due to tiisve, a Mayor's

Court was created.

A Communications Division was created in 2009 wHispatching functions were seperated from polidurgctions.

Effective January 1, 2012, The City's Building Depeent merged with Summit County's Building Depast The
City's Building Department employees then becamgl@yees of Summit County.

Source: Sick Leave Accrual Hours Register from ey of each year indicated.
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City of Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio
|

City of Cuyahoga Falls

Operating Indicators by Function/Program

Last Ten Years

Police
Policepersons and Office
Total Call
Criminal Charge
Traffic Citation:

Fire
Firefighters and Office
Total Call
Inspection
Smoke Detectors Install

Highways and Streets
Potholes repaire
Rock Salt Used (Ton
Senior Snow Watch Participa
Leaf Program (Cubic Yard

Recreation
Brookledge-Number of Roun
Waterworks-Daily Admissior
Natatorium-Daily Admissior

Water
Average Daily Pumped (Gallor
Water Main Break
New Water Tag

Sewer
Average Daily Sewage Transportal
(Gallons
Sanitary Sewers Cleaned (Ft
Storm Sewers Cleaned (Fe

Electric
Average Daily Consumption (in KWI
Light Bulbs Issue
Green Energy Participai

Sanitation
Refuse Collected (tons/ye
Recyclables collected (tons/ye
Yardwaste Collected (tons/ye

Building
Residential Building Permits Isst
Commercial Building Permits Issu
Miscellanous Building Permits Isst

201¢ 2017 201€ 201¢ 201< 2013 2012 2011 201(C 200¢
70 71 72 73 70 70 71 71 76 83
37,547 35,53« 36,04« 33,81: 29,22: 28,60¢ 28,29: 29,657 27,83¢ 29,24¢
41z 458 487 434 46€ 57¢ 467 36€ 41¢ 34C
5,09/ 7,914 6,69¢ 6,10¢ 5,84: 9,65t 8,527 8,53¢ 6,52¢ 6,10:
73 71 73 73 70 73 74 77 79 79
8,89: 8,55¢ 8,37¢ 8,371 7,77¢ 7,671 7,83¢€ 7,78¢ 7,78¢ 7,90:
1,718 1,73C 1,71¢ 1,89¢ 1,31C 1,03¢ 1,082 91C 1,06¢ 1,77¢
194 20C 12¢C 13¢ 224 297 297 587 221 11C
13,02¢ 11,467 6,12¢ 16,93( 18,02¢ 5,64¢ 8,331 11,77¢ 7,591 10,40¢
7,851 11,78: 9,02/ 13,68! 13,61¢ 8,79¢ 4,897 8,08t 12,40: 9,12¢
48 53* 38* 32* 29* 0* o* 0* 1,26¢ 1,31%
12,32( 12,08( 14,61¢ 15,04( 14,12( 12,12( 16,16( 10,43¢ 10,43! 14,68(
31,57¢ 32,507 32,07: 32,08: 32,49¢ 35,83¢ 37,65¢ 34,73. 35,78¢ 35,96(
63,93( 63,70« 68,47: 78,77¢ 64,53: 61,60« 88,81« 82,01« 88,58¢ 72,75¢
710,24: 721,91t 723,52: 704,73¢ 644,18 634,45¢ 686,25: 711,10: 713,99 739,12:
5,190,000 4,494,80: 5,343,000 5,300,000 5,120,00 5,482,000 5,682,001 5,965,001 6,469,001 6,910,001
104 72 65 96 11c 84 64 83 97 111
38 174 11C 137 122 68 26 44 31 104
4,300,000 4,633,09. 5,479,000 5,400,000 4,400,000 4,460,000  4,350,00 5,300,001 4,141,64 4,559,19!
17,94( 18,46: 51,602 51,60: 52,74+ 91,83: 100,30( 114,90: 92,70° 74,16
82t 70C 1,50C 1,50C 65( 2,81: 2,65¢ 65€ 1,45( 1,32(
1,206,64' 1,246,120 1,157,91 1,178,000 1,258,89 1,262,681 1,284,04 1,281,88! 1,291,89 1,218,27.
63€ 1,00¢ 1,39/ 2,65¢€ 2,04¢ 1,791 2,164 4,88( 5,52¢ 5,474
154 18C 127 15€ 172 192 207 23¢ 23¢
16,06t 15,81¢ 15,44¢ 15,34¢ 15,56: 15,14+ 15,217 16,09¢ 16,68 16,71(
4,821 5,09¢ 5,03¢ 5,052 4,301 3,952 3,887 3,35¢ 3,237 3,14¢
3,164 2,98/ 3,03¢ 3,55( 3,46¢ 2,04¢ 1,758 2,43¢ 2,15¢ 1,70¢
ox* o** o** o** ox* ox* o** o** 2,80¢ 1,94:
or* o** o** o+ or* or* o** o** 41: 50¢
ox* o** o** o** ox* ox* o** o** 56¢ 1,561

Note: N/A indicates that data is not available.
*  Senior Snow Watch Program ended in 2011 asthreed in January of 2014 with new restrictionseligible resident:
** Building Department outsourced to Summit Coudgnuary 1, 201

Source: City records
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